

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

# The Association Between Dietary Flavonoid Intake and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Systemic Inflammation, and Comorbidity Burden

Tennador Sanderson *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Epidemiology Commons</u>, and the <u>Human and Clinical Nutrition Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Tennador A. Sanderson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Angela Prehn, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Patricia Risica, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. James Rohrer, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2017

#### Abstract

The Association Between Dietary Flavonoid Intake and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary

Disease, Systemic Inflammation, and Comorbidity Burden

by

Tennador A. Sanderson

MBA, Rosemont College, 2009

BS, Thomas Jefferson University (formerly Philadelphia University), 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2017

Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the United States. Dietary habits may have an impact on COPD through antiinflammatory mechanisms. For this cross-sectional secondary data analysis study, the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle was used as a guide to assess the association between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD diagnosis, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden. Data from over 5,100 male and female participants aged 30 and older were obtained from the 2007-2010 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. The prevalence of COPD was 5.2% according to spirometry data. Multiple logistic regression analysis showed that a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake resulted in a 5.9% decrease (95% CI [0.940, 0.943]) in the odds of having COPD after controlling for age, BMI, dietary fiber intake, education level, gender, race/ethnicity, and smoking status. After controlling for the same variables, multiple linear regression analyses showed that a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake among those with COPD resulted in a .00001 (95% CI [.001, .002], p < .001) increase in the percentage of the predicted  $FEV_1$  and a 0.076% decrease in C-reactive protein (95%) CI [-.078, -.074], p < .001). A one-way ANOVA showed that total daily flavonoid intake was significantly (p < .001) different for each comorbidity burden level, and those with 2 or 3 comorbid diseases had significantly (p < .001) lower flavonoid intake than those with 1 or no comorbid diseases. These findings expand the knowledge of this topic and may effect positive social change by informing public health policies and interventions that aim to reduce COPD prevalence, morbidity, and mortality.

The Association Between Dietary Flavonoid Intake and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary

Disease, Systemic Inflammation, and Comorbidity Burden

by

Tennador A. Sanderson

MBA, Rosemont College, 2009

BS, Thomas Jefferson University (formerly Philadelphia University), 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2017

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	7
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Questions and Hypotheses	9
Theoretical Framework	11
Nature of the Study	
Definitions	
Assumptions	16
Scope and Delimitations	17
Limitations	17
Significance of the Study	
Summary	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Introduction	
Literature Search Strategy	24
Theoretical Framework	
Literature Review Related to Key Variables/Concepts	
COPD Burden	

### Table of Contents

Leading Causes	
Effects of Diet on COPD	
Flavonoids	
Measurement Tools	
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	80
Introduction	80
Research Design and Rationale	80
Methodology	
Population	
Sampling Procedures	
Instrumentation	
Dietary Measurement	
Demographics and Diseases	
Medical Examinations	
Operationalization of Study Variables	
Independent Variable	
Dependent Variables	
Covariates	
Statistical Analysis	
Dataset preparation	
Descriptive Analysis	

Bivariate Analysis	105
Analysis of Research Questions and Hypotheses	108
Threats to Validity	113
Ethical Considerations	116
Summary and Conclusions	117
Chapter 4: Results	119
Dataset Preparation	121
Adjustments to Study Data	122
Descriptive Characteristics	124
Bivariate Analyses	131
Assessment of Potential Confounding Variables	
Multivariate Analyses	139
RQ1 Results	
RQ2 Results	
RQ3 Results	
RQ4 Results	
Summary	147
Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations	149
Interpretation of the Findings	149
Flavonoid Intake and COPD	
Flavonoid Intake and COPD Severity	
Flavonoid Intake and Systemic Inflammation	

Flavonoid Intake and Comorbidity Burden	
Theoretical Framework	156
Limitations of the Study	157
Recommendations for Further Research	161
Implications for Social Change	164
Conclusions	166
References	

### List of Tables

Table 1. Dependent Variable Characteristics	96
Table 2. Covariate Characteristics	99
Table 3. Statistical Tests for Dependent and Potentially Confounding Variables	107
Table 4. Statistical Tests for Independent and Potentially Confounding Variables	108
Table 5. Demographic Data for Study Sample	127
Table 6. Total Daily Flavonoid and Dietary Fiber Intake Data	128
Table 7. Comorbidity Burden, CRP, and FEV1% Predicted Data	129
Table 8. Demographic Data Across Comorbidity Burden Levels	130
Table 9. FEV1% Predicted and Potential Confounding Variables	133
Table 10. CRP and Potential Confounding Variables	135
Table 11. Flavonoid Intake and Potentially Confounding Variables	138
Table 12. Collinearity Statistics	140
Table 13. Logistic Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and COPD	141
Table 14. Linear Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and FEV1% Predicted	143
Table 15. Linear Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and CRP	144
Table 16. Total Flavonoid Intake Between Comorbidity Burden Levels	147

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Basic flavonoid structure	47
Figure 2. Cases available for analysis after applying exclusion criteria	122
Figure 3. Flavonoid intake across comorbidity burden levels	146

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my dissertation committee chair, Dr. Angela Prehn, for being an outstanding mentor and guide. Dr. Prehn has demonstrated unparalleled dedication and provided exceptional support as she guided me through the dissertation process. I have benefited greatly from her expertise, insights, and guidance.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee member, Dr. Patricia Risica, for her thoughtful reviews and critique of my research. Dr. Risica's invaluable feedback on my dissertation was instrumental to enhancing the overall quality of my research.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to acknowledge my parents, Ronald M. Sanderson and Icylin E. Sanderson, who worked tirelessly and sacrificed much so that I could have opportunities that they did not. Their exemplary work ethic and selfless dedication is an inspiration that has propelled me towards the achievement of my goals, especially the completion of my doctorate. Thank you mom and dad, for everything.

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a major public health concern, given its severe impact on morbidity and mortality in the United States and around the world. Ranked as the third leading cause of death in the United States, COPD is responsible for millions of hospitalizations each year (American Lung Association [ALA], 2014; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2012a). Worldwide, COPD is likely to rank as the fifth leading cause of disease burden and the third leading cause of mortality by 2020 (Vestbo et al., 2013).

As with many chronic diseases, individual behavior, including dietary habits, can influence COPD. Both healthy and unhealthy dietary habits appear to affect COPD. Healthy diets appear to decrease the risk of COPD, COPD severity, and comorbidity, while unhealthy diets seem to have the opposite effect (Annesi-Maesano & Roche, 2014; Mekary, 2015; Okubo et al., 2014; Root, Houser, Anderson, & Dawson, 2014; Shaheen et al., 2010; Varraso, Fung, Hu, Willett, & Camargo, 2007). Despite an apparent relationship between diet and COPD, it is unclear which specific components of a diet are the causative agents for these effects. Polyphenolic compounds known as flavonoids are a potential candidate responsible for the observed decreased risk of COPD attributed to diets high in fruits and vegetables (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak, Arts, Smit, Heederik, & Kromhout, 2001). However, more research is needed in this area to elucidate this potential relationship between increased dietary intake of flavonoids and decreased COPD risk. Results from such research could be used by public health advocates to develop interventions aimed towards reducing the disease burden of COPD, which would have positive implications for social change.

This chapter includes an overview of the key components in this study. The introduction to the study includes a background review, the research problem, the study purpose, and the research questions. Additional facets of the study development, design, and impact presented in this chapter include the theoretical framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance.

#### Background

COPD disease is characterized as a progressive decrease in key measures of lung function, such as maximum expiratory flow and forced expiratory volume in the first second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), and includes an enhanced inflammatory response (Zhou et al., 2014). A diagnosis of COPD occurs most accurately using spirometry and assessing results related to forced vital capacity (FVC) and FEV<sub>1</sub>. Specifically, COPD involves having a ratio of FEV<sub>1</sub> / FVC < 0.70 (Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease [GOLD], 2015). As COPD progresses, increases in disease severity include incremental increases in airflow limitation. Increases in airflow limitation decrease the FEV<sub>1</sub> that an individual can produce. The four stages of COPD severity reflect the percentage of the predicted normal FEV<sub>1</sub> (FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted). FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted values that are less than or equal to 80% indicate mild COPD or Stage I, values of 50–79% indicate moderate COPD or Stage II, values of 30–49% indicate severe COPD or Stage III, and values less than 30% indicate very severe COPD or Stage IV (GOLD, 2015). A sustained inflammatory response to tissue damage caused by repetitive inhalation of pollutants, such as cigarette smoke, ultimately drives COPD. During this process, cellular lung damage triggers the recruitment of inflammatory cells, which in turn signal the release of cytokines (Rovina, Koutsoukou, & Koulouris, 2013). Eventually, the release of more cytokines causes more tissue damage, which ultimately sustains a cycle of inflammation and cellular damage even after exposure to noxious particles and gases has ended (Lago et al., 2014; Rovina et al., 2013; Simpson et al., 2013; Tuder & Petrache, 2012; Zuo et al., 2014). The clinical manifestations of COPD include chronic bronchitis and emphysema. Chronic bronchitis involves inflammation and remodeling within the large bronchial airways, and emphysema involves the distal airways and the loss of surface area and elasticity due to inflammatory processes, which limit gas exchange (Rovina et al., 2013; Tuder & Petrache, 2012).

Beyond acute local inflammation within the lungs, research has indicated that an association may exist between COPD and systemic inflammation. In fact, an association does exist between COPD and increased serum levels of circulating inflammatory mediators such as C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukins 6 (IL-6) and 8 (IL-8), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and fibrinogen (Agustí et al., 2012). Furthermore, an association exists between these inflammatory mediators and an increased risk of major comorbidities, such as hypertension, cardiovascular disease, ischemic heart disease, myocardial infarction, heart failure, diabetes, lung cancer, and pneumonia (Miller et al., 2013; Thomsen, Dahl, Lange, Vestbo, & Nordestgaard, 2012). An association also exists between an increased accumulation of comorbidities and poor health outcomes, such as

increased mortality among people with COPD (Miller et al., 2013). Therefore, systemic inflammation has serious implications for compounded morbidity and mortality risk among COPD patients.

Tobacco smoke is the predominant cause of COPD, and other causes can include prolonged exposure to air pollutants and alpha-1 antitrypsin (A1AT) deficiency (National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, 2013). A1AT is a circulating antiprotease produced by the liver that acts to protect lung tissue from damage associated with inflammation; a deficiency in the production of A1AT, caused by a rare genetic condition, can induce COPD (Caroll, 2014). The absence of functional A1AT ultimately leaves the lungs vulnerable to an insufficient inhibition of serine protease activity and repetitive uncontrolled proteolytic attack, which leads to alveolar destruction among those less than 40 years old, regardless of environmental exposures, such as tobacco smoke (Olfert, Malek, Eagan, Wagner, & Wagner, 2014).

Researchers have linked body mass index (BMI) to the onset and progression of COPD. For example, an association exists between a low BMI and a greater risk of COPD (Beiko, Paoletti, Strange, & Kumbhare, 2015; Zhou et al., 2013). An association also exists between lower BMI and greater severity of COPD (Mitra et al., 2013; Vanfleteren et al., 2013). Researchers still do not have a strong understanding of the primary underlying mechanism or cause for this association, but the association between BMI and COPD is likely due to losses in muscle mass from restricted physical activity and cachexia resulting from the limitations of a compromised respiratory system (Baarends, Schols, Mostert, & Wouters, 1997; Emtner, Hallin, Arnardottir, & Janson, 2015; Engelen, Schols, Does, & Wouters, 2000; Remels, Gosker, Langen, & Schols, 2013).

Like BMI, an association also exists between diet and COPD; however, the association with diet appears to be more than just a physiological response to the onset and progression of COPD. Ample evidence supports the premise that diet might affect COPD outcomes. For example, results from prospective studies have indicated that an association exists between a healthy diet rich in fruits and vegetables and a reduced risk of COPD (Mekary, 2015; Varraso, Willett, & Camargo, 2010). Researchers have also found an association between healthy diets and a reduced risk of a range of chronic comorbid diseases, including those linked to chronic systemic inflammation (Boeing et al., 2012; Chiuve et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014). Conversely, unhealthy diets rich in processed and cured meats are associated with increased COPD severity, decreased pulmonary lung function, and hospital readmission for COPD (De Batlle, Mendez, et al., 2012; Mekary, 2015; Okubo et al., 2014; Root et al., 2014; Varraso & Camargo, 2014).

Although researchers have linked dietary habits with COPD and its associated severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity, literature regarding the identification of a specific dietary constituent or component responsible for this observed effect is lacking. Some researchers have pointed to potential associations with select compounds, such as fiber and antioxidant micronutrients (Annesi-Maesano & Roche, 2014; Fonseca Wald, Borst, Gosker, & Schols, 2014). In fact, researchers have found that diets high in fiber intake have a protective effect against systemic inflammation (Esmaillzadeh & Azadbakht, 2012; Grooms, Ommerborn, Pham, Djousse, & Clark, 2013). Furthermore,

dietary fiber intake is associated with reduced COPD risk, better lung function, and fewer COPD symptoms (Butler, Koh, Lee, Yu, & London, 2004; Kan, Stevens, Heiss, Rose, & London, 2008; Van den Borst et al., 2012). The associations observed between dietary fiber and COPD are consistent with associations between fruit and vegetable intake and COPD. These similarities could arise because fruits and vegetables are sources of fiber, and there may be some overlapping or shared nutrients among these dietary components (Bentley et al., 2012; Boeing et al., 2012). However, there is no definitive consensus regarding any one nutrient or class of nutrients that fully explains the association between diet and COPD, although the class of dietary compounds known as flavonoids may be partly responsible for the protective effects observed between diet and COPD outcomes. These polyphenolic compounds are cytoprotective and exist in many dietary plants, including fruits and vegetables.

The anti-inflammatory properties of flavonoids are attributed to their ability to attenuate inflammatory response by inhibiting the recruitment of inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , matrix-metalloproteinases 9, IL-8, and others (Kim et al., 2015; Li et al., 2012). Researchers of multiple in vitro studies have pointed to specific mechanisms that may account for this effect (Esposito, Chen, Grace, Komarnytsky, & Lila, 2014; Ferlazzo, Visalli, Smeriglio, Cirmi, & Enrico, 2015; Flores et al., 2012; Ganesan et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012; Lixuan et al., 2010; Weseler et al., 2009). Likewise, animal studies have also shown benefits associated with increased dietary flavonoid intake, including a reduced risk of COPD outcomes (Bao et al., 2013; Ganesan et al., 2010; Guan et al., 2012; Huang, Zhong, & Wu, 2015; Yang, Luo, et al., 2012).

Cross-sectional studies in humans involving Turkish and Dutch participants have also shown that dietary intake of flavonoids are positively associated with lung function and inversely associated with COPD symptoms, including coughing and breathlessness (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001). However, researchers have conducted very few human studies examining the potential relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes. Of the studies conducted in this regard, most have involved the participants from only one country, gender, or age group, while COPD outcome variables from large-scale studies have only included measures of lung function and COPD symptoms (Butland, Fehily, & Elwood, 2000; Butler et al., 2004; Garcia-Larsen, Amigo, Bustos, Bakolis, & Rona, 2015; Landberg et al., 2011; Tabak et al., 2001). Researchers have not yet explored the potential relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity using a large national sample of the U.S. population aged 30 years and older. In this study, I addressed this gap in the literature while also reinforcing findings noted in existing research.

#### **Problem Statement**

Few interventions are available to target the underlying factors contributing to the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of COPD. Anti-inflammatory treatments for COPD are limited, and health care providers treat many patients with inhaled corticosteroids (ICSs) or oral corticosteroids (Barnes, 2013). However, some COPD patients respond poorly to ICSs or oral corticosteroids, even at high doses (Barnes, 2013). Inhaled corticosteroids do not have a significant effect on the prevalence, progression, or mortality of COPD, despite minor reductions in COPD exacerbations (Li et al., 2012;

Yang, Clarke, Sim, & Fong, 2012). Specifically, ICSs do not reduce systematic inflammation, inflammatory cell counts, or inflammatory mediators in COPD patients (Singanayagam, Chalmers, Akram, & Hill, 2011). Therefore, I sought to explore alternative public health interventions to curtail the prevalence, progression, and morbidity of COPD.

Diet affects the risk of COPD and COPD outcomes. Flavonoids may have at least a partial role in this effect due to their anti-inflammatory properties (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Kim et al., 2015; Li et al., 2012; Tabak et al., 2001). Increased dietary intake of flavonoids may play a protective role in the development and progression of COPD and may represent a viable therapeutic option for COPD patients. However, researchers do not fully understand, and must further elucidate, the relationship between flavonoids and COPD in humans. Determining if an association exists between flavonoid intake and COPD diagnosis, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, or comorbidity burden would represent a major step forward in that regard.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the possible relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity among adults aged 30 years and older in the United States. The independent variable was total daily flavonoid intake, and the dependent variables were COPD diagnosis, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP serum level, and comorbidity burden. The CRP level and the number of comorbidities were suitable dependent variables because they are measures of systemic inflammation that served as indicators of COPD morbidity (Agustí et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2013). In particular, comorbidities related to systemic inflammation among those with COPD include cardiovascular disease, hypertension, and type 2 diabetes (Miller et al., 2013). Covariates included age, gender, race or ethnicity, smoking status, education level, annual income group, BMI, and dietary fiber intake, as research has indicated that these are associated with the independent variable and study outcomes, and they might have confounded results (ALA, 2014; Beiko et al., 2015; Eisner et al., 2009; Fonseca Wald et al., 2014; Hooper et al., 2012; Marott & Lange, 2013; Pistelli et al., 2012; Sebastian, Enns, Goldman, Steinfeldt, & Moshfegh, 2016; Zhou et al., 2013). This exploration of flavonoid intake and the development and progression of COPD using a nationally representative sample was necessary to gain a better understanding of the relationship between flavonoid intake and COPD in the United States.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD among adults?

 $H_01$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–2010 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 1: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders. Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD severity among adults?

 $H_02$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_12$ : There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and systemic inflammation among adults with COPD?

 $H_03$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 3: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

Research Question 4 (RQ4): What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adults with COPD?

 $H_04$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.  $H_1$ 4: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle served as the theoretical foundation and framework for this research study. The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle includes three key components that influence the occurrence of disease over time: causative factors, the group or population and their characteristics, and the environment and behavior (Merrill, 2009). The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle serves to encourage researchers to look beyond just causative factors, and to include other elements such as the environmental and behavioral factors that may work synergistically to bring about the occurrence of disease (Merrill, 2009). The environmental and behavioral components of the model in this study consisted of available food choices and dietary behavior. Applying this model to the current study supported the theoretical premise that changes in dietary behavior may affect the occurrence of COPD. The research questions and associated variables of this study aligned with the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle to facilitate my exploration of a potential relationship between flavonoid intake and COPD. For example, causative factors of the model were the variable for smoking status, and the population's characteristics included socioeconomic and demographic variables, such as age, annual income group, education, gender, and race or ethnicity. Additionally, the variables for dietary fiber intake and total daily flavonoid intake indirectly represented the

environmental component of the model, as the environment often influences the availability of certain foods and dietary habits (Blitstein, Snider, & Evans, 2012; Gustafson, Christian, Lewis, Moore, & Jilcott, 2013; Swinburn et al., 2011). The research questions for this study were suitable for determining the relationship between these variables because they related to key components of the model. The study variables and research questions were suitable given the theory that changes in key components of the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle affect disease outcomes. Detailed information regarding this theoretical framework appears in Chapter 2.

#### Nature of the Study

In this study, I used a quantitative methodology and a cross-sectional approach. Quantitative research is suitable for assessing differences in prevalence and frequency of outcomes among groups, which was a key focus in this study as I attempted to address the research questions. Therefore, nationally representative retrospective data from publicly available datasets were suitable for determining if a relationship or an association exists between flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes. This quantitative analysis helped to determine if flavonoids might play a role in the development of COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity.

#### Definitions

*Body mass index (BMI):* Body mass index provides a measure of nutritional status and body fat of an individual (National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute [NHLBI], 2012). Values for BMI can serve as a guide to determine if people are underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese. Calculating BMI involves using an individual's weight in

kilograms and dividing that value by their height in meters squared (NHLBI, 2012). In this study, I included the BMI values obtained for participants in the 2007–2010 NHANES.

*Cardiovascular disease:* Cardiovascular disease is a term used to encapsulate several diseases and problems with the heart, blood vessels, and arteries often related to the process of atherosclerosis, which includes the build-up of plaque within arterial walls (ALA, 2014). Cardiovascular disease typically manifests as an occurrence of a heart attack or stroke (ALA, 2014). Many people with cardiovascular disease have not yet experienced an occurrence of a heart attack or stroke but are at increased risk for such an outcome. In this study, a self-reported physician diagnosis of an occurrence of stroke, heart attack, or congestive heart failure determined the presence of cardiovascular disease.

*Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD):* Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is a progressive disease that consists of airflow obstruction with an FEV<sub>1</sub> / FVC ratio of < 70% that is not fully reversible (Drummond, Buist, Crapo, Wise, & Rennard, 2014; Morrow et al., 2015). In the United States, the term COPD includes chronic bronchitis and emphysema, with most people diagnosed with COPD having both conditions (NHLBI, 2013). The presence of COPD among participants within the current study was determined using spirometry values. Those having a postbronchodilator FEV<sub>1</sub> / FVC ratio of < 70% were confirmed as having COPD.

*Comorbidity:* Comorbidity, also referred to as multimorbidity, refers to a person having more than one disease during a specific period (Valderas, Starfield, Sibbald,

Salisbury, & Roland, 2009). In most cases, comorbid diseases are long-term chronic conditions (Valderas et al., 2009). The comorbid diseases of interest in this study were cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension. Participants' self-reported physician diagnosis determined the presence of each of these comorbid diseases.

*C-reactive protein (CRP):* C-reactive protein is a protein produced in the liver as a response to inflammation within the body (MedlinePlus, 2015). C-reactive protein is a measure of systemic inflammation because circulating levels of this protein increase in the presence of inflammation. Values for CRP came from a laboratory analysis of blood samples from participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES. These CRP values were suitable for assessing systemic inflammation among participants in the study.

*Diabetes:* Diabetes is a condition that entails having too much glucose present in the blood, which can cause nerve damage, blood vessel damage, and complications such as heart disease, stroke, blindness, and kidney disease (National Institutes of Health [NIH], 2014). There are two types of diabetes, often referred to as type 1 and type 2. Type 1 diabetes is as an inability to produce enough insulin to allow glucose to disseminate to cells within the body, while type 2 diabetes refers to insulin resistance by fat, muscle, and liver cells that can no longer use insulin (NIH, 2014). For this study, references to diabetes denote type 2 diabetes. Participant self-reported data determined the presence of diabetes.

*Dietary fiber:* Dietary fiber refers to the undigested components of carbohydrates derived from plant-based foods, such as fruits, vegetables, grains, beans, and nuts (Hoy & Goldman, 2014). Dietary fiber provides bulk in an individual's diet and contributes to the

feeling of satiety, which promotes gastrointestinal function, assists in managing weight, and reduces risk of chronic diseases (Hoy & Goldman, 2014). The measurement of dietary fiber intake for the foods and proportions consumed by participants of the 2007– 2010 NHANES was in grams, as determined by responses to 24-hour dietary recalls. The current study included the values obtained for dietary fiber intake during the 2007–2010 NHANES.

*Flavonoids:* Flavonoids are a diverse and ubiquitous group of polyphenolic metabolites found primarily in plant-based foods (Kozlowska & Szostak-Wegierek, 2014). The major sources of dietary flavonoids are fruit, vegetables, nuts, and beverages such as tea (Corcoran, McKay, & Blumberg, 2012). Furthermore, flavonoids have antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kozlowska & Szostak-Wegierek, 2014). The flavonoid content values for foods reported in the 2007–2010 NHANES 24-hour dietary recalls came from the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA), which maintains a publicly available database of flavonoid content, and these values were suitable for use in the current study. Additional information appears in Chapter 3.

*Hypertension:* Another common term for hypertension is high blood pressure. Hypertension or high blood pressure is a disease characterized as having a systolic blood pressure of at least 140 mm/Hg with a diastolic blood pressure of at least 90 mm/Hg (AHA, 2015). Hypertension increases the risk for adverse cardiac events due to vascular weakness, vascular scarring, and increased possibility of blood clots, plaque build-up, tissue and organ damage, and strain on the circulatory system (AHA, 2015). Self-reporting indicated the presence of hypertension among participants for the current study. Spirometry: Spirometry is a diagnostic test using a device called a spirometer that measures the amount of air an individual can exhale forcibly based on measures of FEV and FVC. The FEV<sub>1</sub> / FVC spirometry value for an individual without obstructive disease is a ratio of  $\geq$  70%, and those with obstructive disease have a ratio of < 70% (GOLD, 2015). FEV<sub>1</sub> values are indicative COPD severity, with severity increasing as FEV<sub>1</sub> decreases. Additional information appears in Chapter 3.

*Total energy intake:* Total energy intake refers to the total amount of calories consumed by an individual in a day (Evans, Jacques, Dallal, Sacheck, & Must, 2015). Responses to two 24-hour dietary recalls served to indicate total energy intake for the foods and proportions consumed by participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES. An average of the values obtained from each 24-hour dietary recall provided an estimate of total energy intake for participants in the current study.

#### Assumptions

In this secondary analysis of data from the NHANES, I assumed that all data came from a sample that was representative of adults in the United States. I also assumed that the collection of all study data, such as self-reports, CRP, spirometry values, and anthropometric values, involved using established guidelines and lacked measurement error. Further, I assumed that the average of two 24-hour dietary recalls, obtained as a part of the NHANES, was representative of a study participant's typical dietary intake. It was not possible to rule out the chance that study participants may have altered their dietary habits in previous years, which may have had an impact on observed effects within the study. However, research has shown the use of multiple 24-hour dietary recalls to be an acceptable method to determine average dietary patterns (Carroll et al., 2012; Freedman et al., 2011; Schatzkin et al., 2003). Further details appear in Chapter 3.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of this study entailed obtaining information related to the association between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD among a representative sample of U.S. adults aged 30 and older. The scope included secondary data from the 2007–2010 NHANES that I used to examine potential associations between flavonoid intake and COPD diagnosis, severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity. Potential confounders included age, annual income group, BMI, dietary fiber intake, education level, gender, race or ethnicity, and smoking status. I excluded individuals from the study who were missing spirometry measures and those who answered affirmatively to having asthma. Other participants were excluded from additional analyses related to COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden if they had missing data, selfreported responses of unknown, or refused to answer a question. A power calculation analysis for the study sample size appears in Chapter 3. A final boundary for the scope of this study was the statistical analyses I performed. Identifying the statistical analyses for this study a priori ensured that I could achieve my aims in this study without deviating from the intended scope.

#### Limitations

This study was subject to several limitations related to secondary data analysis and study design. The first limitation was my use of secondary data from a previously collected survey. Because the use of previously collected data does not allow an

opportunity to check the accuracy of the data, there may have been an increased likelihood of statistical error during secondary data analysis. However, CDC researchers have refined and validated the NHANES data collection methods and techniques over the course of decades (CDC, 2015a). Using data from an identifiable and reputable source such as the CDC minimized the chance for errors in data collection and subsequent statistical errors during analysis. Another key limitation of this study was the lack of long-term dietary information due to limitations of the 24-hour dietary recall instrument and the cross-sectional nature of the study design. It remains unknown whether dietary intake reported in the 24-hour dietary recall is reflective of dietary habits prior to the onset of COPD or if dietary changes took place after diagnosis, potentially even due to the diagnosis. However, the lack of long-term dietary data is an acceptable limitation because researchers have shown that long-term dietary habits are consistent with findings from 24-hour dietary recalls (Bertoia et al., 2015). Another limitation of the study was the lack of data for other measures of systemic inflammation in the NHANES, such as IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$ . However, the use of CRP is an acceptable measure of systemic inflammation among those with COPD (Baldrick et al., 2012). Finally, the cross-sectional design of this study limited my ability to establish causality between the independent variable and the dependent variables. However, this was an acceptable limitation because my aim was to pursue an understanding of potential associations between variables rather than to establish causation.

#### Significance of the Study

Researchers have not conducted studies in the United States using a nationally representative population to assess the potential relationship between total dietary flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity. Results from this study add to the current literature regarding this topic and provide further evidence of an association between diet and COPD. The results of this study have the potential to reinforce broader recommendations for maintaining a healthy diet high in fruits and vegetables, which supports a healthy lifestyle overall.

There are numerous health benefits associated with the consumption of fruits and vegetables through anti-inflammatory and antioxidant interactions. For example, evidence indicates that diets high in fruits and vegetables are associated with a decreased risk of cancer, coronary heart disease, hypertension, stroke, dementia, certain eye diseases, and osteoporosis (Boeing et al., 2012). Americans fail to eat the amounts of fruits and vegetables necessary to maintain good health (Slavin & Lloyd, 2012). Therefore, the results obtained from this study support previous research related to the consumption of greater quantities of fruits and vegetables. Given the lack of anti-inflammatory treatments addressing the underlying systemic inflammatory processes of COPD, the results of this research study have implications for managing flavonoid intake among COPD patients. Results from this study have additional implications for managing patients with other inflammatory-based diseases.

#### Summary

The increasing prevalence of COPD and associated morbidity and mortality represents a significant public health concern. The literature has indicated that diet might affect COPD; however, researchers do not understand the underlying cause of the effect. Micronutrients within certain foods may be responsible for the associations observed between diet and COPD. Given their anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, flavonoids were a viable target for further research to elucidate the relationship between diet and COPD, and my primary aim in this study was to determine the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD.

The variables in this study aligned with the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle, which I used to assess the relationship between causative factors, the group or population and its characteristics, and environmental and behavioral components. For example, the environmental and behavioral components in this study were represented by the independent variable, total daily flavonoid intake. The study design included a cross-sectional approach and a quantitative research methodology to analyze secondary data from the 2007–2010 NHANES. The scope of the study included examining potential associations between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes among a nationally representative sample of adults aged 30 years and older in the United States.

The design of this study included several key assumptions and specific limitations; however, despite the limitations, the study contributes to the literature surrounding this topic. Key assumptions for this study included the expectation that data collected in the NHANES came from a nationally representative population, were collected following accepted guidelines, and were free of measurement error. The limitations of the study did not inhibit my analysis of data or my ability to draw conclusions from the results, as the scope and design of the study minimized the impact of study limitations. The outcome of this study expands the current knowledge and understanding of the role that flavonoids may play in the development and progression of chronic diseases, such as COPD. Furthermore, the study results could influence policy decisions related to public health interventions, which may effect positive social change.

Chapter 2 includes an overview of the literature search strategy and the theoretical framework for this study, and a review of the relevant literature related to flavonoid intake and COPD. Chapter 3 includes an outline of the research methodology, inclusive of the study variables and planned statistical procedures. Chapter 4 contains an in-depth review of the dataset preparation and statistical results from this study. Finally, the dissertation concludes with Chapter 5, which contains a discussion of relevant study findings, recommendations for future research, and implications for social change.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

COPD is a progressive disease consisting of emphysema, which involves damage to alveoli over time, and chronic bronchitis, which involves inflammation of the airways manifested by a long-term cough with mucus (Medline, 2014). COPD is characterized by a persistent and progressive reduction or obstruction in airflow due to prolonged and repetitive exposure to noxious gases or particles (NHLBI, 2013). Ultimately, exposure to these noxious gases or particles results in loss of airway and alveoli elasticity, destruction of the walls between alveoli, and overproduction of mucus within the airways (NHLBI, 2013). COPD is also associated with a heightened chronic inflammatory response in the airways, exacerbation of symptoms, and development of comorbidities contributing to the level of severity within patients (GOLD, 2015). Common symptoms associated with COPD include dyspnea, chronic cough, and mucus production (Wheaton, Cunningham, Ford, & Craft, 2015). These symptoms are consistent with an inflammatory response and are consistent with the understanding that COPD is an inflammatory-based lung disease (Augusti et al., 2012).

Oxidative stress and the persistent inflammation of the airways is one of the primary mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of COPD (Augusti et al., 2012). Anti-inflammatory treatments for COPD are limited, and many patients are often treated with an ICS or oral corticosteroids; however, most COPD patients respond very poorly to these treatments (Barnes, 2013; Yang et al., 2012). Specifically, ICSs do not reduce systematic inflammation, inflammatory cell counts, or inflammatory mediator levels in

COPD patients (Singanayagam, Chalmers, Akram, & Hill, 2011). Therefore, alternative interventions are needed to provide anti-inflammatory relief in the management of COPD. There is a growing body of research indicating that dietary habits may influence the prevalence and severity of COPD through anti-inflammatory mechanisms. For instance, a higher intake of fruit and vegetables is associated with a decrease risk of COPD and improve lung function (Keranis et al., 2010; Boeing et al., 2012). There has been some speculation that flavonoids may be responsible for these beneficial outcomes related to COPD.

Flavonoids are polyphenolic compounds known to have anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant properties, and are abundant in fruits, vegetables, and nuts (Lago et al., 2014). Researchers of in vitro studies have pointed to several mechanisms related to molecular signaling pathways that reduce the accumulation of inflammatory cells and the gene and protein expression of inflammatory mediators (Flores et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012). Researchers conducting animal studies have demonstrated that some flavonoids, such as apple polyphenol and liqueritin apioside derived from licorice, reduced cigarette-induced lung inflammation and reversed oxidative stress in the lungs (Bao et al., 2013; Guan et al., 2012). Researchers of animal studies have also demonstrated the ability of flavonoids to inhibit the activation of inflammation-regulatory transcription factors in the expression of inflammation-mediating genes (Kim et al., 2015). Results from studies with humans are supportive of findings from in vitro and animal studies (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001; Siedlinski, Boer, Smit, Postma, & Boezen, 2012). Specifically, researchers have found that human dietary flavonoid intake has a positive association with lung function in the general population and also is associated with a decreased occurrence of COPD and COPD symptoms (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001; Siedlinski, Boer, Smit, Postma, & Boezen, 2012). However, no studies have been conducted in the United States using a nationally representative population to test this association.

My aim in this research was to explore the potential associations between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD in the U.S. population. Such a large-scale study of flavonoid intake should help to elucidate the role of these compounds in the health of the nation with regard to COPD. Furthermore, this study may also have implications for further understanding the impact that dietary flavonoid intake may have on other inflammatorybased diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension.

In this chapter, I present the literature search strategy, theoretical framework, and literature findings relevant to this study. The literature search strategy section of the chapter provides a description of the research databases, key search terms, and techniques I used to identify relevant literature. The theoretical framework section of the chapter highlights the application of the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle and how it informed my understanding of the potential relationship between variables in this study. The literature review section includes a discussion that highlights the existing gaps in the scientific understanding of the association between flavonoids and COPD.

#### Literature Search Strategy

I obtained the literature I summarize in this chapter from systematic searches for peer reviewed articles in PubMed, Google Scholar, and the CINAHL and MEDLINE
databases, which I accessed via the Walden University Library. Key search terms were selected to target articles relating to the independent and dependent variables. Search terms included *COPD GOLD, COPD cost, COPD NHANES, COPD burden, COPD comorbidity, COPD prevalence, COPD flavonoids, diet COPD, fruits vegetables COPD, polyphenols COPD, flavonoids emphysema, flavonoids bronchitis, flavonoids inflammation COPD, flavonoids antioxidant COPD, flavonoids respiratory disease, flavonoids pulmonary, flavonoids lung, flavonoids lung function, flavonoids NHANES,* and *flavonoids airways.* I conducted multiple searches using various combinations of these search terms. The initial search was restricted to English-language articles published between 2012 and 2016 that reported results from studies exploring COPD and flavonoid intake in the U.S. population. The scope of the initial search was then expanded to include results reported from studies using populations foreign to the United States, because I found that seminal research on this topic was conducted outside of the United States.

After organizing the studies I found in the database searchers, I first examining human experimental and observational studies. Next, I reviewed in vitro studies of potential molecular mechanisms to support a biological basis for a potential association between flavonoid intake and COPD. Finally, I reviewed animal studies in the same regard. Full-text copies of the articles selected for this review were obtained directly from the publishing journal's website or the Walden University Library.

I identified additional articles by reviewing the list of references cited by authors of the articles from the initial searches, and by using Google Scholar's option to review "related articles." Of these additional articles, only those articles that appeared relevant to the topic or seminal to the body of literature were included for review and synthesis. Fulltext copies of these articles were obtained as previously described.

# **Theoretical Framework**

The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle includes three primary components that directly influence the occurrence of disease (Merrill, 2009). These components include causative factors, the group or population and its characteristics, and various facets of the environment, such as behavior, culture, physiological factors, and ecological elements (Merrill, 2009). The model posits that these components interact over time to determine the occurrence of chronic disease. As it relates to this study, causative factors in the occurrence of COPD included cigarette smoke, long-term environmental exposure to lung irritants, and A1AT deficiency. The study participants represented the group or population implicated in the occurrence of COPD, and the environment consisted of dietary behavior in the consumption of foods containing flavonoids, such as fruits and vegetables. The combination of these components over time can be used to describe the impact of flavonoid intake on the prevalence, severity, and morbidity of COPD. Theoretically, if the environmental component of the model was manipulated with regard to the quantity of flavonoid intake, then the occurrence of COPD may be impacted.

Researchers applying the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle, as it relates to diet and COPD, have consistently acknowledged that cigarette smoke is not the only contributor to risk of COPD. For example, in a study of dietary antioxidants and the risk of COPD, researchers examined multiple factors that served as proxies for environmental components of the advanced epidemiologic triangle, such as income level, education, and body mass index (Joshi, Kim, & Lee, 2015). Results of this study indicated that each of these environmental components were significant risk factors for COPD, but the risk of COPD was reduced as antioxidant consumption increased (Joshi et al., 2015). The strength and utility of the theoretical model was evident in how it allowed Joshi et al. (2015) to recognize the importance of examining multiple factors of the environment and how these environmental factors interacted with dietary antioxidants to impact the risk of COPD. Another strength of this model is that it allows researchers the flexibility to see how multiple components of the model interact to impact disease outcome. For example, results from researchers examining the relationship between causative factors, such as smoking, and environmental factors, like diet, have indicated that the combination of smoking and poor diet results in a higher risk of COPD as compared to individual factors alone (Bentley et al., 2012; Hanson, Root, Houser, Anderson, & Dawson, 2014; Rutten, Wouters, & Rennard, 2013). By linking causative factors and environmental factors, researchers could identify specific segments of the population most at risk for COPD, such as those who smoke and consume an unhealthy diet (Bentley et al., 2012; Hanson et al., 2014; Rutten et al., 2013). When examining the component of time in relation smoking duration and diet, researchers have found that those with longer smoking duration and diets low in fruits and vegetables have an increased risk of developing negative COPD outcomes (Bentley et al., 2012; Lange, Sparrow, Vokonas, & Litonjua, 2012). Ultimately, the greatest utility of this model is that it allows for flexibility in the combination and pairing of the model's components to assess the risk of disease outcome. Therefore, I deemed this model appropriate to serve as the theoretical lens through which I designed this study and analyzed its results.

# Literature Review Related to Key Variables/Concepts

COPD is a major cause of illness and death in the United States. COPD is the sixth leading contributor to the total number of years lived with disability by people in the United States (Murray et al., 2013). COPD is also considered the primary contributor to mortality by chronic lower respiratory diseases and is ranked as the third leading cause of mortality in the United States, resulting in 134,676 deaths in 2010 (ALA, 2014; CDC, 2012a). COPD became the third leading cause of death in the United States in 2008, which was more than 10 years sooner than projected by the Global Burden of Disease Study (Miniño, Xu, & Kochanek, 2010; Lopez et al., 2006). Additionally, COPD is the only leading cause of death among the top five causes that showed an increasing rate between 2010 and 2011 (Hoyert & Xu, 2012). The increasing morbidity and mortality of COPD in the United States is reflected as an increasing economic burden. It is estimated that the annual COPD-attributable cost to the United States is \$36 billion, with projections for increases reaching \$49 billion by 2020 (Ford et al., 2015). Given the disease and economic burden of COPD, it is important to fully understand its prevalence.

**Prevalence.** The worldwide prevalence of COPD is not easily determined, given the lack of diagnostic testing and limited access to multiple regions and countries around the world. A leading estimate of COPD prevalence indicates that approximately 210 million people worldwide have COPD (Cruz, 2007). Most COPD-related deaths around the world are concentrated in low- and middle-income countries (World Health Organization [WHO], 2015). More than 3 million people died in 2012 due to COPD, which represents 6% of all deaths occurring around the world that year (WHO, 2015). Worldwide, COPD now affects men and women equally due to increased smoking among women in high-income countries and indoor pollution from the use of biomass fuel in low-income countries (WHO, 2015). Overall, the distribution of COPD in the global population, as it relates to age, gender, and exposure to noxious gases appears to be consistent with findings in the United States (Wheaton et al., 2015).

In 2013, an estimated 15.7 million Americans reported being told by a physician or another healthcare provider that they had COPD (Wheaton et al., 2015). It is estimated that an additional 24 million people are undiagnosed and living with COPD as of 2011 (ALA, 2014). According to self-reported diagnosis, the age-adjusted prevalence distribution is as low as 2.6% among individuals ages 18-36, and increases with each older age group to as high as 12.3% among those age 75 or greater (Wheaton et al., 2015). Prevalence estimates according to clinical diagnosis using spirometry testing were 14% overall for those aged 40-79 years, with higher prevalence rates among older age groups (Tilert, Dillon, Paulose-Ram, Hnizdo, & Doney, 2013). Given the linear distribution of prevalence across age groups, there appears to be a relationship between age and prevalence of COPD. Gender and smoking status also appear to be risk factors for COPD, as 2013 data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System has indicated. For example, women have a higher prevalence of COPD than men at 6.6% among women as compared to 5.4% among men (Wheaton et al., 2015). Additionally, COPD is found to be more common among those who are current smokers at 14.3% than among those who are former smokers or have never smoked at 7% and 2.8%, respectively (Wheaton et al., 2015). It is also important to note that 38% of adults with COPD are current smokers even though continued smoking contributes to increased mortality (Wheaton et al., 2015).

**Economic impact.** Given the significant prevalence of COPD in the United States, the corresponding economic impact is substantial. As with most chronic diseases, the economic burden is not limited to only direct costs, but also includes indirect costs. In 2010, the total estimated economic costs of COPD were \$49.9 billion, with approximately \$30 billion attributed to direct costs and \$20 billion resulting from indirect costs (Boccia, Villari, & Ricciardi, 2015).

Indirect costs include those costs associated with the morbidity and mortality caused by COPD, which includes the disabling effects of COPD, such as low productivity and missed days from work. Approximately 13%-18% of people with COPD have limitations in their ability to work or the type of work they perform (Patel, Nagar, & Dalal, 2014). Overall, the workforce participation range for those with COPD is 56%-69%, as compared to 65%-77% for those without COPD (Patel et al., 2014). For those with COPD who can work, they are limited in the number of working days they can contribute due to the limitations of their illness. For example, the number of restricted activity days for those with COPD ranged from 27 to 63 days annually (Patel et al., 2014). Additionally, the number of sick days per year ranged from 1.3 to 19.4, and the

number of bed confinement days was estimated to range from 13 to 32 days per year (Patel et al., 2014). Overall, COPD represents a significant burden for employers and employees due to lost productivity and loss of income, respectively (Patel et al., 2014). In 1990, COPD was ranked as the twelfth leading cause of disability-adjusted life years (DALY) lost, accounting for 2.1% of all DAYLs worldwide (GOLD, 2015). Given the recent increase in prevalence, COPD is projected to become the seventh most prominent cause of DALYs lost worldwide in 2030 (GOLD, 2015). While indirect costs pose a considerable impact on the U.S. economy, it is the smallest contributor to the overall economic costs for COPD.

Direct costs for COPD include those health care costs related to diagnosis, treatment, prevention, and rehabilitation in the form of physician services, hospitalizations, medications, and home healthcare. Of the overall direct costs for COPD in the United States, \$13.2 billion are associated with hospital care, \$5.5 billion result from physician services, \$5.8 billion are associated with prescription drugs, \$1.3 billion are associated with home healthcare, and \$3.7 billion result from nursing home care (Blanchette, Dalal, & Mapel, 2012). There is a significant correlation between direct costs and severity of COPD, including the number of comorbid diseases associated with COPD (Emre et al., 2014; GOLD, 2015; Lazic et al., 2012; Vestbo et al., 2013). According to GOLD guidelines, COPD is divided into four stages of increasing severity (Vestbo et al., 2013). COPD Stages I, II, III, and IV correspond to a disease severity of mild, moderate, severe, and very severe, respectively (Vestbo et al., 2013). The total direct costs incurred for COPD increases as the stage of severity increases among COPD patients. For example, Stage I patients incur the lowest direct annual cost of \$1681, Stage II patients incur \$5,037 in annual direct costs, and Stage III patients incur \$10,812 in direct annual costs (Guarascio, et al., 2013). The economic burden of COPD will continue to increase as new diagnoses are made and the disease advances among those who already have the disease.

## **Leading Causes**

COPD is primarily caused by exposure to tobacco smoke, which includes primary and second-hand smoke (NHLBI, 2013). Additionally, smoking is the cause of 80% of all deaths from COPD (Warren, Alberg, Kraft, & Cummings, 2014). Approximately 18 of every 100 people in the United States smoke cigarettes, and this proportion represents approximately 42.1 million people in the United States (Jamal et al., 2014). Cigarette smoke causes airway inflammation and oxidative stress (GOLD, 2015). Airway inflammation is a key characteristic of COPD and specifically involves neutrophilic airway inflammation (Simpson et al., 2013). As exposure to cigarette smoke through primary or second-hand smoke accumulates, it contributes to chronic inflammation and oxidative stress within the lungs, which are processes central to the pathogenesis of COPD (GOLD, 2015). The inflammation and oxidative stress initiated by exposure to cigarette smoke in the lungs is characterized as persistent and not fully reversible even after smoking cessation is initiated (Simpson et al., 2013; Zuo et al., 2014). With cigarette smoke established as the primary risk factor for developing COPD, it is important to note that approximately 25% to 33% of COPD patients are non-smokers

(Zeng & Zhong, 2012). Therefore, other causes of COPD must be considered aside from just smoking.

Other causes of COPD include chronic exposure to noxious gases and pollutants, such as occupational dusts and gases and indoor pollution originating from the combustion of biomass fuel for cooking and heating (GOLD, 2015). Occupational exposures linked to the development of COPD include coal mine dust, breathable silica, agricultural dusts, metal fumes, specific flavoring chemicals, and second-hand smoke (Minov et al., 2014; Rose, 2013). Additionally, researchers conducting cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have demonstrated that occupational exposure to gases, dust, and fumes among those who have never smoked is independently and significantly associated with an increased risk of COPD (Hagstad et al., 2015; Torén, & Järvholm, 2014). During occupational exposure to dusts and chemicals, pro-inflammatory mediators, such as macrophages, are activated and subsequently stimulate other pro-inflammatory factors, such as nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, and TNF- $\alpha$  (Gasparotto et al., 2013). With repetitive and prolonged exposure to dust and chemicals, the combination of inflammation and oxidative stress seems to be the contributing factor in the pathogenesis of COPD (Gasparotto et al., 2013). Ultimately, prolonged occupational exposure to noxious gases and dust limit lung function, obstruct airways, and lead to respiratory complications and diseases, including COPD (GOLD, 2015).

Exposure to indoor pollution resulting from the use of biomass fuel was also found to be significantly associated with the development of COPD, particularly among women living in low to middle-income countries (Cheng et al., 2015; Da Silva et al., 2012; Diette et al., 2012; WHO, 2015). Fuels for combustion, such as firewood, charcoal, crop residues, and animal dung constitute biomass fuels (Cheng et al., 2015). The burning of biomass for fuel produces smoke containing fine particulate matter (PM) of less than 2.5  $\mu$ m in aerodynamic diameter (Da Silva et al., 2012). Exposure to biomass smoke (BMS) is significantly associated with an amplified prevalence of respiratory symptoms, reductions in pulmonary function, and onset of COPD (Da Silva et al., 2012). Furthermore, these effects are significantly correlated with the length and intensity of the exposure to BMS (Da Silva et al., 2012). Ultimately, BMS contributes to the pathogenesis of COPD by instigating an increase in acute inflammation and oxidative stress within the lungs while also increasing overall systemic inflammation (Silva, Oyarzun, & Olloquequi, 2015). As such, women exposed to BMS have higher alveolar levels of leukocytes and macrophages along with higher saliva and mucus levels of interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$  than women who do not utilize biomass as fuel (Banerjee, Mondal, Das, & Ray, 2012; Mondal, Bhattacharya, & Ray, 2011).

Another important factor in the development of COPD is a rare genetic deficiency known as A1AT deficiency (NHLBI, 2013). A1AT is the only known genetic disorder that leads to COPD (Bhattacharjee, 2013). A1AT is considered a rare disorder, as it affects 1 in 1,500 to 3,500 people of European descent, and is uncommon among people with Asian ancestry (NIH, 2015). A1AT is a circulating antiprotease produced by the liver and acts to protect lung tissue from damage associated with inflammation (Caroll, 2014). Low levels of A1AT in serum and lungs characterize deficiency in the production of this antiprotease, with a high risk for the development of emphysema approximately between ages 30 and 59 (Bhattacharjee, 2013). A1AT deficiency ultimately causes an elastase imbalance through an inability to fully inhibit neutrophil elastase, which contributes to the development of severe COPD conditions, such as emphysema (Bhattacharjee, 2013). For example, in response to cigarette smoke, neutrophil elastase attack the alveolar wall matrix along with other proteases, which results in the release of elastin fragments and chemo-attractants, causing oxidative stress that intensifies inflammation and lung damage in emphysema (Bhattacharjee, 2013; Hoenderdos & Condliffe, 2013; Zuou et al., 2014). Therefore, as with the other causes of COPD, A1AT also contributes to underlying chronic inflammation and oxidative stress that brings about the onset of COPD.

### **Effects of Diet on COPD**

Researchers have identified diet and nutrition as significant factors in the prevention, development, and progression of a wide array of chronic diseases, including hypertension, congestive heart disease, stroke, and cancer (Boeing et al., 2012; Chiuve et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014). Therefore, although exposure to tobacco smoke, air pollution, and genetic disorders are primary risk factors for COPD, it is important to explore the role that diet plays in the development and progression of this disease. In general, the literature demonstrates that diets high in fruit, vegetables, whole-meal cereals, and fish are associated with a reduced risk of COPD, while diets rich in cured and red meats, refined grains, and desserts are associated with an increased risk of COPD (Mekary, 2015; Okubo et al., 2014; Root et al., 2014; Shaheen et al., 2010; Varraso et al., 2007).

An overall healthy diet has a positive effect on lung function in terms of airflow rate and lung capacity, as measured by  $FEV_1$  and FVC, respectively. For example, findings from a prospective cohort study of 15,567 Americans indicated that a healthy diet, according to the overall healthy eating index 2005 (HEI-2005), was positively associated with FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio at visit 1 ( $\beta = .101$ ) and visit 2 ( $\beta = .140$ ) between quintiles of the HEI-2005 (Root et al., 2014). These findings are meaningful because each quintile decrease in HEI-2005 corresponded to the approximate equivalent of three years of decline in  $FEV_1$ / FVC found with age. The HEI-2005 is an index developed by the USDA to assess compliance with the 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans, which emphasizes an ideal healthy diet and provides standard scoring that measures compliance with each HEI-2005 dietary component (Guenther et al., 2006). The dietary components of the HEI-2005 included total fruit, vegetables, grains, whole fruit, and other items, such as legumes, beans, meats, oils, alcoholic beverages, and saturated fat (Guenther et al., 2006). When examining the component HEI-2005 scores, Root et al. (2014) found that several dietary constituents were positively associated with lung function, such as, animal protein ( $\beta = .132$  and .093) and dietary fiber ( $\beta = .129$ ). Likewise, in a prospective cohort study of 73,228 female nurses and 47,026 male health professionals in the United States, researchers found that a higher Alternate Healthy Eating Index 2010 (AHEI-2010) score was inversely associated with risk of COPD, which provided further evidence of the positive effects of a healthy diet (Mekary, 2015). Higher AHEI-2010 scores are indicative of diets high in grains, polyunsaturated fatty acids, nuts, long chain omega-3 fats, and limited consumption of red meat, and processed meat (Mekary, 2015). A higher AHEI-

2010 score was associated with lower risk of COPD (RR = 0.67, 95% CI [0.53-0.85]) when comparing the top and bottom quintiles (Mekary, 2015). The AHEI-2010 was an update to the HEI-2005 to align with the 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. Updates made in the AHEI-2010 included the replacement of dark green and orange vegetables and legumes with greens and beans (Guenther et al., 2013). Additionally, fatty acids replaced oils and saturated fats while refined grains replaced total grains. Also, seafood and plant proteins were added to reflect subgroup choices for proteins (Guenther et al., 2013). Despite minor changes in the HEI from 2005 to 2010, results from the studies mentioned above indicate that a healthier diet is associated with better COPD outcomes (Roote et al., 2014; Mekary, 2015).

A healthy diet is typically characterized as having a high intake of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains while maintaining a low intake of processed meats (Mekary, 2015). However, it is important to note that the dietary intake of animal protein is associated with some health benefits relevant to COPD. In fact, animal protein was found by Root et al. (2014) to be positively associated with lung function, but the reference to animal protein in the study by Root et al. did not include processed meats and is consistent with findings by Mekary (2015). This distinction between animal protein and processed meats is noteworthy because other researchers demonstrated that diets high in processed meats have negative associations with a lung function (Okubo et al., 2014; Varraso, & Camargo, 2014). For example, a cross-sectional analysis of 1551 males and 1391 females from the United Kingdom demonstrated that diets high in processed meat consumption showed a high correlation with lower FEV<sub>1</sub> in men and women (Okubo et al. (Okubo et al.) al., 2014). However, this finding was more pronounced among men, with the difference in FEV<sub>1</sub> between the first and fifth quintile of consumption at -170 mL (95% CI [-250, -80]; Okubo et al., 2014). Also, increased intake of cured meats among those with COPD impacts the rate of COPD-related hospitalizations (De Batlle, Mendez et al., 2012). For instance, researchers who conducted a prospective cohort study in Spain found that after adjusting for age, FEV<sub>1</sub>, and total caloric intake, a high intake of cured meat was associated with an increased risk (adjusted HR 2.02, 95% CI 1.31–3.12, p = 0.001) of hospital readmission for COPD (De Batlle, Mendez et al., 2012).

Of the many components that make up a healthy diet, fiber intake seems to have generated the most interest among researchers. Fiber is negatively associated with COPD outcome and lung function (Lyden et al., 2015; Varraso et al., 2010). For example, researchers who conducted a prospective case-control study of 111,580 U.S. women and men found that total fiber intake was negatively associated with a risk (RR = 0.67, 95% CI [0.50-0.90], p = 0.03) of new COPD diagnosis for those with the highest intake of fiber versus those with the lowest intake (Varraso et al., 2010). Likewise, researchers who conducted a cross-sectional study using data from 1,929 participants in the 2009-2010 NHANES dataset found that after adjusting for age, BMI, height, and smoking status, subjects in the highest quartile of fiber intake (Lyden et al., 2015). These results show that dietary fiber was associated with lung function in this study, which may have implications for the development and progression of COPD. However, this study was limited by the cross-sectional nature of the design and the reliance on participant

memory for reporting dietary intake and frequency patterns (Lyden et al., 2015). A systematic review conducted to assess the relationship between dietary fiber and COPD was supportive of the findings by Varasso et al. (2010) and Lyden et al. (2015). However, the review incorporated only nine articles, of which four reported on dietary fiber and five reported on fatty acids (Fonseca Wald et al., 2014). Based on these articles, the researchers ultimately concluded that greater intake of dietary fiber was consistently found to be associated with a reduced risk of COPD, healthier lung function, and attenuated respiratory symptoms (Fonseca Wald et al., 2014).

Several studies with contrary results must also be considered. For example, researchers who conducted a prospective Korean study of 325 COPD patients and 6,781 at risk participants found that dietary fiber intake was not significantly associated with COPD risk as a function of overall daily nutrients intake among men and women (Joshi et al., 2015). However, this study was limited by using a simplified clinical definition of COPD instead of a clinical diagnosis, which may have resulted in non-differential misclassification of COPD cases versus non-cases (Joshi et al., 2015). Additionally, dietary intake relied on participant recall of food frequency and portion, which could have resulted in biased responses (Joshi et al., 2015). Researchers conducted a Japanese case-control study of 278 COPD patients and 340 controls to assess the potential relationship between intake of fruit and vegetables and risk of COPD (Hirayama et al., 2009). Despite finding high levels of insoluble fiber and total dietary fiber intake and risk of COPD (Hirayama et al., 2009). However, this study

also relied on participant recall of past dietary patterns and proportions, which could be subject to recall bias. Additionally, the researchers admitted that their study was also subject to selection bias, as participation in the study was voluntary (Hirayama et al., 2009).

Given the findings regarding fiber intake and COPD, it is of interest to explore specific sources of fiber that have a significant association with COPD. Fruits and vegetables are the main sources of soluble and insoluble fiber and are found to have a strong association with a reduced risk of COPD (Bentley et al., 2012; Boeing et al., 2012). For example, while the study by Hirayama et al. (2009) did not identify a significant association between total dietary fiber intake and reduced risk of COPD, a trend was identified linking higher total daily vegetable intake with COPD risk ( $p_{trend} =$ (0.037). The prevalence of dyspnea, a common symptom of COPD, was also found to be lower among individuals with higher vegetable consumption (OR = 0.49, 95% CI [0.27-0.88]; Hirayama, 2009). A prospective randomized controlled study of 120 participants with COPD was conducted to determine if a diet high in fruits and vegetables impacted lung function decline over 3 years (Keranis et al., 2010). Significantly lower FEV<sub>1</sub> (p =0.03) was found among participants assigned to the high fruit and vegetable diet intervention as compared to participants assigned to the control group (Keranis et al., 2010). Moreover, participants in the intervention group exhibited a significant lower average annual risk of COPD exacerbation as compared to participants in the control group (Keranis e al., 2010). When examining specific components of a healthy diet, it becomes apparent that certain components may be more strongly related to COPD risk

than others. Researchers studying the association between fruits and vegetables and COPD have focused on specific micronutrients found in fruits and vegetables (Baldrick et al., 2012; Hanson et al., 2013; Joshi et al., 2015; Rezaeetalab & Dalili, 2014). The micronutrients found in fruits and vegetables like antioxidants, such as vitamins A, C, D, E, and others, are speculated to be responsible for the positive associations observed between pulmonary function and COPD exacerbation (Keranis et al., 2010; Hirayama et al., 2009). Furthermore, researchers have demonstrated that vitamin A, C, D, and E are all independently associated with COPD (Annesi-Maesano & Roche, 2014; Hanson et al., 2013).

Researchers assessing biomarkers in humans have indicated that a relationship may exist between antioxidants and COPD outcome and severity (Lin, Wu, Chen, Hseih, & Yeh, 2010; Pirabbasi et al., 2012). For instance, researchers who conducted a casecontrol study of 34 COPD patients and 43 controls in Taiwan demonstrated that plasma levels of vitamin antioxidants and total carotenoids were lower among those with COPD as compared to those without (Lin et al., 2010). Similar findings were observed in a cross-sectional study that explored the association between antioxidants, oxidative stress status, and lung function in 149 male COPD subjects in Malaysia (Pirabbasi et al., 2012). Serum vitamin C was below 0.4mg/dl in 86% of participants. Total antioxidant capacity was significantly (p = <0.05) lower among those with very severe COPD as compared to those with less severe stages of the disease (Pirabbasi et al., 2012). Additionally, low levels of vitamin A (p=0.012) and vitamin C (p = 0.007) were observed among those who were undernourished (Pirabbasi et al., 2012). Also, FVC percent predicted and consumption of  $\beta$ -carotene were significant predictors (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.104, *p* = 0.002) of total antioxidant capacity (Pirabbasi et al., 2012).

Antioxidants may be protective against declines in lung function and risk of COPD, given their ability to attenuate oxidative stress caused by chronic inflammation within the lungs (Domej, Oettl, & Renner, 2014; Fischer, Voynow, & Ghio, 2015; Hanson et al., 2013; Rezaeetalab & Dalili, 2014). For example, post hoc analysis of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study involving 38,597 female participants throughout a 10-year follow-up period revealed a 10% reduced risk of COPD (HR = 0.90, 95% CI [0.81-0.99], p = 0.029) among those randomized to the vitamin E intervention as compared to placebo (Agler, Kurth, Gaziano, Buring, & Cassano, 2011). Likewise, researchers who conducted a prospective Korean study of 325 COPD patients and 6,781 at risk subjects found a negative association between risk of COPD and dietary intake of antioxidant vitamins when comparing the first quintile of intake to the fifth quintile (Joshi et al., 2015). The vitamins found to have significant negative association with COPD included vitamins C and E, especially among males (Joshi et al., 2015). Findings from this study also showed a significant positive association between intake of vitamin C and  $FEV_1$  (p = 0.04) and FVC (p = 0.03; Joshi et al., 2015). Furthermore, a positive association was also observed between vitamin E intake and FEV<sub>1</sub> (p = 0.03) and FVC (p= 0.04; Joshi et al., 2015).

Comparable findings regarding the protective association of micronutrients have also been observed among smokers. For example, researchers who conducted a prospective cohort study of 1,443 adults in the United States found that higher intake of

vitamin C and fruit and vegetables among smokers resulted in an 8 mL (p < 0.0001) and 24 mL (p = 0.003) slower degree of annual deterioration in FEV<sub>1</sub>, respectively (Bentley et al., 2012). Researchers who conducted a prospective cohort study found that vitamin D may also reduce the rate of decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> (Lange et al., 2012). Longitudinal analysis from this study revealed that rates of decline in  $FEV_1$  were significantly higher (p =0.023) among those with vitamin D deficiency when compared to those who had sufficient levels of vitamin D (Lange et al., 2012). Furthermore, a cross-sectional analysis of 626 male veterans from Massachusetts showed that lung function, measured by FEV1, FVC, and FEV1/FVC, was significantly ( $p \le 0.0002$ ) lower among those who were vitamin D deficient (Lange et al., 2012). Analogous results were reported by researchers who conducted a cross-sectional population-based study of 1002 women in the United States to determine if an association exists between serum carotenoids and reduced lung function in older women (Semba et al., 2012). Findings showed that higher serum  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -carotene concentrations were positively associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> (p < 0.05) and FVC (p < 0.05) 0.05), respectively (Semba et al., 2012). Additionally, total serum carotenoids were also significantly associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> (p = 0.08) and FVC (p = 0.06; Semba et al., 2012).

Many of the antioxidant-associated health benefits reported in the literature are attributed to the ability of these micronutrients to attenuate oxidative stress within the lungs (Domej et al., 2013; Hanson et al., 2013; Rezaeetalab & Dalili, 2014). Oxidative stress has a direct relationship with COPD through various mechanisms; however, the foremost mechanism is the amplified expression of pro-inflammatory genes that perpetuate long-lasting inflammation (Domej et al., 2013). Because chronic inflammation is the central component in the pathogenesis of COPD, it is of interest to also explore the impact of diet on inflammation.

**Diet and inflammation.** Diet has been implicated as a modulator of systemic inflammation. For example, dietary fiber may explain some of the variations in the distribution of systemic inflammation among those identifying as Hispanic, African American, and non-Hispanic White (Young & Hopkins, 2014; Young & Hopkins, 2013a). This explanation is relevant to COPD because prospective research has demonstrated that between 50% and 70% of people who develop COPD and lung cancer have elevated systemic inflammation (Young & Hopkins, 2013b). Because Hispanic people have the highest intake of fiber while exhibiting the lowest rates of COPD, the association of fiber intake and systemic inflammation may hold some significance in assessing COPD risk (Young & Hopkins, 2013a).

Researchers conducting cross-sectional studies have provided supporting information that demonstrates a significant association between higher levels of fiber intake and lower systemic inflammation (Esmaillzadeh & Azadbakht, 2012; Grooms et al., 2013). For example, researchers examining data from the 1999-2010 NHANES found that high fiber intake among the highest quintile, as compared with the lowest, was associated with lower systemic inflammation, obesity, and metabolic syndrome (Grooms et al., 2013). These associations remained significant after adjusting for confounding variables (Grooms et al., 2013). The strongest significant association (risk ratio = 0.66, 95% CI [0.61-0.72] was found between high fiber consumption and lower systemic inflammation (Grooms et al., 2013). Likewise, in an Iranian cross-sectional study of 486

women, researchers found that high intake of fiber consisting of lentils, peas, chickpeas, various beans, and chickling vetch was inversely associated with serum concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers (Esmaillzadeh & Azadbakht, 2012). The researchers measured the consumption of the aforementioned foods, as these represent the main sources of fiber in the Iranian population (Esmaillzadeh & Azadbakht, 2012). Results from adjusted analyses indicated that the percentage difference found between the lowest and highest tertile was -39.2% (p < 0.001) for CRP, -15.9% (p = 0.04) for TNF- $\alpha$ , and -39.5% (p < 0.01) for IL-6 (Esmaillzadeh & Azadbakht, 2012).

Researchers have reported contradictory results when assessing the association between increasing fruit and vegetable intake and measures of oxidative stress and COPD-related inflammation (Baldrick et al., 2012). In a randomized controlled trial involving 454 UK participants, Baldrick et al. (2012) found no significant changes in systemic inflammation, measured by CRP, or systemic oxidative stress, measured by 8isoprostane, among those who received a 12-week intervention requiring intake of five or more servings of fruits and vegetables each day (Baldrick et al., 2012). However, this study was limited by a short intervention period, which prohibits generalizing results beyond short-term fruits and vegetables intake. Furthermore, the short intervention period may be responsible for yielding results that conflict with the findings of Keranis et al. (2010), as they utilized a 3-year intervention in their study.

Fiber and antioxidants are the dietary constituents most widely implicated in the literature as having an associated with COPD (Fonseca Wald et al., 2014). The focus on these dietary components might be partially explained by the interrelatedness of fruit and

vegetables as good sources of fiber and antioxidant micronutrients (Annesi-Maesano & Roche, 2014). Overall, the beneficial effects of the foods found in a healthy diet may be attributable to more specific micronutrients, such as antioxidants in the form of vitamin A, C, D, and E (Hanson et al., 2013; Rezaeetalab & Dalili, 2014). In addition to these micronutrients, flavonoids have been proposed as one of the most potent compounds that may be responsible for the beneficial associations between diet and COPD (Lago et al., 2012).

### Flavonoids

Flavonoids are polyphenolic compounds that are ubiquitous in plant-based foods and are primarily abundant in fruits, vegetables, and teas (Birt & Jeffery, 2013). There are more than 5,000 unique flavonoid compounds, and they have been categorized into six major subclasses: Flavones, flavonols, flavan-3-ols (flavanols), flavanones, anthocyanidins, and isoflavones (Corcoran et al., 2012). All flavonoids share the same fifteen carbon skeleton  $C_6-C_3-C_6$  chemical structure, with different substitutions that make up the various subclasses (Rodgriguea-Mateos et al., 2012). Figure 1 shows the basic three-ring chemical structure consisting of two benzene rings (A and B) that are linked by a third ring (C), which is a heterocyclic pyran ring (Kumar & Pandey, 2013a). The subgroups of flavonoids vary according to the level of oxidation and pattern of C ring substitutions, while specific compounds within a subgroup differ in the pattern of the A and B ring substitutions (Middelton Jr., 1998). The activities of various flavonoids are structure dependent with regard to their specific subgroup, the degree of hydroxylation, conjugations, and degree of polymerization (Kumar & Pandey, 2013a). Some flavonoids, such as flavones and flavonols, occur naturally as aglycones; however, the majority of flavonoids are found stored within plants as glycosides (Corcoran et al., 2012).

Flavonoids that occur as glycosides are characterized as being bound to one or more sugar molecules of the plants in which they are stored, and they are more stable than the flavonoids occurring as non-sugar aglycones (Corcoran et al., 2012). However, aglycones can be easily absorbed by the small intestine while flavonoid glycosides often require hydrolysis to convert into flavonoid aglycones before being absorbed in the small intestine (Corcoran et al., 2012; Kumar & Pandey, 2013a; Németh et al., 2003). After absorption takes place, the flavonoids are then conjugated in the liver or metabolized into smaller phenolic compounds. Given the liver conjugation reactions, no free flavonoid aglycones are found in plasma or urine, with the exception of catechins (Hollman, 2004).



*Figure 1*. Basic flavonoid structure. Adapted from "Chemistry and biological activities of flavonoids: An overview," by S. Kumar and A. Pandey, 2013, *The Scientific World Journal, 2013* (pp. 2). Copyright 2013 by Shashank Kumar and Abhay K. Pandey. Reproduced with permission.

The bioavailability of flavonoids has been noted as poor, with only less than 10% of the consumed flavonoids found to reach peak concentrations in circulation at nanomolar or low micromolar range within a few hours (Corcoran et al., 2012). The flavonoid subgroups that appear to have the most bioavailability are isoflavones, while

flavan-3-ols and anthocyanidins are the most poorly absorbed (Barnes et al., 2011; Kumar & Pandey, 2013a; Manach, Williamson, Morand, Scalbert, & Remesy, 2005). However, it is important to note that the bioavailability of flavonoids is not fully understood and further studies are needed to understand the factors that influence the process in vivo. Bioavailability can be influenced by various factors, including the presence of fiber, macronutrients, micronutrients, gastrointestinal transit time, gut microbiota, sugar moiety of flavonoid glycosides, dimerization, and food matrix (Corcora et al., 2012; Kumar & Pandey, 2013a). For example, if enzymes found in the small intestine do not hydrolyze flavonoids bound to dietary fiber, then their bioavailability may be extended and later degraded by colonic microbiota (Perez-Jimenez et al., 2009). Additionally, the homogenization and processing of some foods have been found to enhance bioavailability of flavonoids. For example, the flavonone naringenin is better absorbed from tomato-based products instead of fresh fruit (Porrini & Riso, 2008). Furthermore, the flavonoid content from green tea is absorbed rapidly after ingestion, as indicated by a significant rise in the level of plasma antioxidant status (Benzie, Szeto, Strain, & Tomlinson, 1999). Also, plasma concentrations of catechins have been found to reach levels of 637.1  $\mu$ g/L (p < 0.001) following a meal with wine, fruit, and vegetables (Ruidavets et al., 2000). Such findings provide an indication that dietary intake of flavonoids can lead to increased serum levels of these compounds to a point at where they can execute a wide range of pharmacological effects. For instance, flavonoids have been documented to mediate antioxidant effects, chelate metals, and induce protective enzyme systems (Kumar & Pandey, 2013a). Additionally, flavonoids have been reported

to exhibit anti-proliferative, anti-tumor, anti-inflammatory, and pro-apoptic properties (Buer, Imin, & Djordjevic, 2010).

Dietary intake of flavonoids. Understanding the dietary flavonoid intake of individuals in different settings is also key to further understanding the health effects of flavonoids. Several studies were conducted to estimate dietary flavonoid intake for various populations. For example, the mean flavonoid intake in South Korea was estimated to be  $107 \pm 1.47$  mg/d among 11, 474 healthy adults aged 19 years older, with women having a significantly higher intake than men (Kim, Park, Chang, & Kwon, 2015). In another study, researchers estimated the Brazilian population to have a mean flavonoid intake of 138.92 mg/day (Correa, Tureck, Locateli, Peralta, & Koehnlein, 2015). In an Australian study of 79 participants aged 60 to greater than 80 years old, researchers found the mean dietary intake of flavonoids to be 638 mg/day (Kent, Charlton, Russell, Mitchell, & Flood, 2015). Finally, researchers conducted a study of flavonoid intake among approximately 30,000 Europeans from 14 countries aged 18 to 64 years and estimated their mean flavonoid intake to be  $428 \pm 49$  mg/day (Vogiatzoglou et al., 2015). Although, it is important to note there is considerable variation in mean flavonoid intake among individual European countries assessed in this study. For instance, the UK, Ireland, and Germany are among the lowest consumers of flavonoids among European countries (Vogiatzoglou et al., 2015). In fact, the average flavonoid intake in the UK and Ireland was assessed in a separate study by researchers who estimated flavonoid intake to be 182 mg/day and 177 mg/day, respectively (Beking & Vieira, 2011). Similarly, the mean flavonoid intake in Germany was found to be 181

mg/day, but this finding was greatly skewed, as the researchers noted the median was found to be 60-fold less at 3 mg/day (Vogiatzoglou et al., 2015). Ultimately, Vogiatzoglou et al. (2015) noted that their data was skewed because approximately half the population in Germany was found to consume negligible amounts of flavonoids.

Beyond providing insight into the mean intake of dietary flavonoids among various populations within different countries, the results from the aforementioned studies also provide insight into demographic associations and leading sources of dietary flavonoids. For example, researchers found that gender is associated with flavonoid intake in some countries (Correa et al., 2015; Kim, Park, et al., 2015). Researchers reported that women consume greater quantities of flavonoids than men in South Korea, while men were found to have greater flavonoid intake than women in Brazil (Correa et al., 2015; Kim, Park, et al., 2015). Therefore, gender may be a significant factor to be considered when estimating flavonoid intake within any population. Also, dietary flavonoids appear to come from very different food sources in each of these countries. While South Koreans, Brazilians, Europeans, and Australians all obtain flavonoids from fruits and vegetables, the leading flavonoid food sources, such as kimchi, legumes, apples, oranges, and bananas, appear to vary based on availability within each country (Correa et al., 2015; Kent et al., 2015; Kim, Park, et al., 2015; Vogiatzoglou et al., 2015; Zamora-Ros et al., 2010; Zujko, Witkowska, Waśkiewicz, & Mirończuk-Chodakowska, 2015). Among the Australian and European studies, tea was found to be the leading source of flavonoid intake in these countries (Kent et al., 2015; Vogiatzoglou et al., 2015; Zujko et al., 2015). Specifically, black tea accounted for 89% of flavonoid intake among

Australians (Kent et al., 2015). While South Koreans and Brazilians also consumed tea, but they did so to a lesser extent than Australians and Europeans. South Koreans and Brazilians obtain most of their flavonoid intake from other sources, such fruits and vegetables (Correa et al., 2015; Kim, Park, et al., 2015). Therefore, a lower intake of tea may partially explain the low flavonoid intake levels among South Koreans and Brazilians.

Researchers have conducted several studies to assess flavonoid intake within the U.S. population with varying results for different time periods. For instance, results from an early study utilizing 24-hour dietary recall from the NHANES 1999-2002 and the 2003 USDA Database for the Flavonoid Content of Select Food (DFCSF) indicated that the average flavonoid intake was 189.7 mg/day, with flavanols accounting for 83.5% of all flavonoids consumed (Chun, Chung, & Song, 2007). Results from a later study conducted to estimate the intake of flavonoids utilizing 24-hour dietary recall from NHANES 1988-1994 and the 2011 USDA DFCSF showed that average flavonoid intake among Americans was  $344.83 \pm 9.13$  mg/day (Bai, Wang, & Ren, 2014). However, researchers who conducted a more recent study using the 2014 USDA DFCSF and data from NHANES 1999-2002 and 2007-2010 estimated that the average daily flavonoid intake of the U.S. population was 201.9 mg/day and 200.1 mg/day, respectively (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Despite changes in the estimated flavonoid intake within the U.S. from the aforementioned studies, the leading food sources contributing to flavonoid intake remained consistent across studies. In the US, tea was identified as the leading

contributor followed by wine, citrus juice, citrus fruits, and vegetables (Bai et al., 2014; Chun et al., 2007; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015).

The proportional distribution of flavonoid intake across key demographic factors remained relatively constant across the 1988-1994, 1999-2002, and 2007-2010 NHANES populations. However, given the relevance of the findings from the 2007-2010 NHANES population to the current study, it is important to highlight the average daily flavonoid intake across gender, age, and race (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). As such, men were found to have a slightly higher mean daily flavonoid intake (206.7 mg/day) than women (194.1 mg/day) in the 2007-2010 NHANES (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Additionally, mean daily flavonoid intake was highest among those aged 51-70 followed in descending order by those aged 31-50 years, 70 years and older, and 19-30 years (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Also, there are sharp contrasts in the estimated intake of daily flavonoid intake by race among participants in 2007-2010 NHANES (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Specifically, the mean daily energy-adjusted flavonoid intake for Whites, Blacks, Mexican-Americans, and Other are 218.6 mg/day, 157.6 mg/day, 123.5 mg/day, and 185.2 mg/day, respectively (Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Taken together, these findings indicate that age, gender, and race are be important demographic factors to consider when assessing mean daily flavonoid intake among participants in the 2007-2010 NHANES.

Health benefits. Flavonoids are believed to promote good health through their high antioxidant capacity, as demonstrated in vitro and in vivo (Kumar, Mishra, & Pandey, 2013; Kumar & Pandey, 2013b). Flavonoids have been found to provide a wide variety of protective health effects across a broad range of chronic disease states related to cardiovascular systems, neurology, urology, gastroenterology, metabolic disorders, and immunology among others (Andriantsitohaina et al., 2012; Can & Ozkay, 2012; Cote, Caillet, Doyon, Sylvain, & Lacroix, 2010; Hariprasath, Raman, & Nanjian, 2012; Nicolle, Souard, Faure, & Boumendjel, 2011; Peluso, Miglio, Morabito, Ioannone, & Serafini, 2015). These protective benefits are believed to result from antioxidant activity and the build-up of protective enzymes brought about through the mechanism of enzyme induction that follows flavonoid consumption (Hoensch &Oertel, 2015; Kumar & Pandey, 2013a).

Reducing oxidative stress is a significant underlying mechanism contributing to protective effects of flavonoids against cardiovascular disease, which may also have implications for COPD (Kim et al., 2011; Kumar, Kant, Maurya, & Rizvi, 2012). Specifically, Kim et al. (2011) found that several flavonoids, such as epicatechin, avicularin, and quercitrin, derived from *Lindera erythrocarpa* protect cardiac muscle cells against cell death related to oxidative stress. Furthermore, in a study of hypertensive patients, researchers demonstrated that (-) epicatechin was found to have a significant (p< 0.001) protective effect against oxidative stress, which was induced by tert-butyl hydroperoxide on isolated erythrocytes (Kumar et al., 2012). The overall effect observed in this study was noted to be dose-dependent by the researchers (Kumar et al., 2012). Antioxidant properties of flavonoids also protect against the damaging effects of hyperglycemia while improving glucose metabolism (Nicolle et al., 2011; Qi, Liu, Su, & Yu, 2011; Tang et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2011). For example, researchers conducting animal studies have demonstrated that flavonoid extracts from leaves of *Boldoa*  *purpurascens* and *Phoenix dactylifera* have produced anti-hyperglycemic activity in rats with alloxan-induced diabetes (Gonzalez Mosquera et al., 2013; Michael, Salib, & Eskander, 2013). Flavonoids also exhibit biochemical actions indicating antiinflammatory effects and the ability to influence the immune system (Peluso et al., 2015). The anti-inflammatory actions of flavonoids are suggested to result from several mechanisms of action, such as the inhibition of eicosanoid generating enzymes, the reduced production of pro-inflammatory molecules, and the modulation of proinflammatory gene expression, which attenuates the inflammatory response (Garcia-Lafuente, Guillamon, Villares, Rostagno, & Martinez, 2009). Flavanol-rich lychee fruit extract (FRLFE) supplementation, as part of a clinical trial, was found to be potentially protective against inflammation and tissue damage during extreme physical training (Nishizawa et al., 2011). The changes in serum IL-6 levels between pre-training and midtraining among young healthy male athletes were found to be significantly lower in the FRLFE group compared to placebo (Nishizawa et al., 2011). Furthermore, results indicated that changes in transforming growth factor- $\beta$  levels prior to training and after training were significantly greater among those in the FRLFE group compared to placebo (Nishizawa et al., 2011). In an animal study conducted to investigate the effect of icariin on the expression of Toll-like receptor 9, researchers found that icariin-induced the expression of Toll-like receptor 9 and its mRNA in murine macrophages (Li et al., 2011). Toll-like receptor 9 plays a pivotal role in the regulation of the innate immune response (Li et al., 2011). Additional findings from this study also showed that several systemic

immune response molecules, such as myeloid differentiation factor 88, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, were significantly modulated as a response to icariin stimulation (Li et al., 2011).

These findings have implications for patients with COPD because major comorbid diseases associated with COPD are thought to result from increased systemic inflammation (Agusti & Faner, 2012; Divo et al., 2012; Smith & Wrobel, 2014). For example, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, and type-2 diabetes are the most common comorbidities associated with systemic inflammation among those with COPD (Miller et al., 2013). Flavonoids appear to reduce the risk of these and many other chronic diseases by attenuating various underlying inflammatory mechanisms and processes. For example, in an animal study using rats that were susceptible to stroke and spontaneous hypertension, researchers demonstrated that flavonoids could suppress age-related increases in blood pressure, decrease thrombotic tendency, and increase the production of NO metabolites in urine (Ikemura, Sasaki, Giddings, & Yamamoto, 2012). Also, flavonoids have been found to inhibit neuroinflammatory processes that contribute to the development of degenerative neurological disorders, such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease (Spencer, Vafeiadou, Williams, & Vauzour, 2012). For instance, methylalpinumisoflavone isolated from *Cudrania tricuspidata* was found to suppresses LPS-induced microglial activation and production of pro-inflammatory mediators by attenuating nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) signaling and by phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (Lim, Hwang, Hwang, & Park, 2012). These findings are clinically significant because chronic brain

inflammation is ascribed to prolonged activation of microglial cells, which induce degenerative neurological events (Lim et al., 2012).

The anti-inflammatory health benefits of flavonoids also extend to the genitourinary and gastrointestinal tracts. Researchers have reported that flavonoids have a positive effect on patients with prostatitis, urinary tract infections, and other similar events possibly through a reduction in inflammation (Cote et al., 2010; Katz, 2002; Theoharides, 2007). For example, a review of the flavonoids present in cranberries and cranberry juice has found anthocyanins, flavonols, the flavanols, proanthocyanidins, and phenolic acid derivatives work in a synergistic way to reduce inflammation and prevent bacterial infection within the urinary tract (Cote et al., 2010). The gastrointestinal benefits of flavonoids have been found to include the inhibition of gastric ulcers, intestinal inflammation, and inflammatory activity in human adenocarcinoma gastric cells (Hariprasath et al., 2012; Park, Ji, & Sung, 2012; Bulgari et al., 2012). In fact, researchers who conducted an animal study in mice found that dietary Kaempferol restricts inflammation of colitis in mice (Park et al., 2012). This finding is clinically significant because the reduction of inflammation is a key component in ulcerative colitis therapy (Park et al., 2012). Additionally, flavonoids demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects in human adenocarcinoma gastric cells during an in vitro study to determine if the antiinflammatory effects of chamomile infusion at the gastric level could be attributed to the inhibition of metalloproteinase-9 and elastase (Bulgari et al., 2012). Ultimately, results from this study indicated that the flavonoid-7-glycosides might account for the observed anti-inflammatory action of the chamomile infusion (Bulgari et al., 2012). Given these

and other findings related to the aforementioned comorbid diseases, increased flavonoid intake might potentially reduce the comorbidity burden associated with COPD.

Flavonoids and COPD. Taken together, the health benefits of flavonoids appear to cover a broad gamut of disease states. Ultimately, it seems that many of these benefits are driven by the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of flavonoids, as inflammation appears to be at the center of many chronic diseases, such as arteriosclerosis, obesity, diabetes, cancer, and others as described above (Garcia-Lafuente et al., 2009). COPD is also considered to be an inflammatory-based disease. In fact, chronic inflammatory and immune responses are established in the literature as leading contributors in the development and progression of COPD (Rovina et al., 2013). For example, COPD may be associated with systemic inflammation, given observed increases in levels of systemic inflammatory mediators among those with COPD (Augusti et al., 2012). These biomarkers include white blood cells, CRP, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , and fibrinogen (Augusti et al., 2012). In the short-term, these inflammatory mediators facilitate the resolution of cell injury; however, if the cellular injury is repetitive or sustained, more inflammatory mediators are recruited, which cause added tissue damage and perpetuates the inflammation (Lago et al., 2014). Given the pathology of COPD, the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory structure activity of flavonoids has been purported to influence the development and progression of the disease (Lago et al., 2014).

*In vitro research.* Many researchers conducting in vitro studies have explored the relationship between specific flavonoids and inflammatory cellular and molecular actions related to COPD. Researchers conducting in vitro research have documented the ability

of specific flavonoids or groups of flavonoids to inhibit or regulate the release of proinflammatory enzymes, proteins, and genes in the cells of rodents and humans (Esposito et al., 2014; Ferlazzo, et al., 2015; Flores et al., 2012; Ganesan et al., 2010; Lixuan et al., 2010; Weseler et al., 2009). For instance, researchers who conducted a study with four flavone C-glycosides from the neotropical blueberry, anthopterus wardii, found a dosedependent relationship with anti-inflammatory activity against IL-8 and with inhibiting matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 expression in the small airway epithelial cells of humans (Flores et al., 2012). This finding is noteworthy because IL-8, like other cytokines, is a circulating inflammatory mediator associated with COPD-related inflammation and MMP-1, which are key contributors in the pathology of COPD (Flores et al., 2012). The inhibition of MMP-1 in human small airway epithelial cells is particularly significant because excess MMPs produced by inflamed epithelial cells in the lungs ultimately degrade the alveolar walls and lead to the development of emphysema (Lago et al., 2014). In an earlier study testing the impact of the flavonoid quercetin on cell cultures of murine alveolar macrophages, researchers found that quercetin also decreased the expression and activity of MMP-9 and MMP-12 by increasing expressions of the type III protein deacetylase Sirt-1 (Ganesan et al., 2010). Sirt-1 is a negative regulator of MMP transcription (Ganesan et al., 2010). This finding demonstrates that different subgroups of flavonoids exhibit similar cytoprotective and anti-inflammatory properties in vitro.

In addition to inhibiting the expression of IL-8 and MMPs, research has also found that flavonoids can attenuate the expression of a much broader range of cytokines

associated with COPD progression and inflammation. For example, baicalin, a flavone obtained from the root of *Scutellaria baicalensis Georgi*, has exhibited the cytoprotective properties of flavonoids through documented in vitro inhibition of a range of cytokines (Li et al., 2012; Lixuan et al., 2010). In a study investigating the relationship between baicalin and COPD inflammation and mechanisms of anti-inflammatory effect, researchers noted that baicalin inhibited the pro-inflammatory expression of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-8, MMP-9, and NF- $\kappa$ B (Lixuan et al., 2010). In a later study investigating the effect of baicalin on respiratory inflammation of human lung adenocarcinoma epithelial cells, researchers also found that baicalin attenuates cigarette smoke-induced inflammation by reducing inflammatory cells and diminishing production of TNF-α, IL-8, and MMP-9 (Li et al., 2012). Furthermore, in an in vitro study of wild low bush blueberries, researchers found that polyphenol-rich, anthocyanin-rich, and proanthocyanidins-rich fractions of this blueberry's crude extract were effective in suppressing interleukin 1 Beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ), cyclooxygenase-2, and nitric oxide synthase in murine RAW 264.7 macrophage cells (Esposito et al., 2014). These findings demonstrate the capability of flavonoids to regulate the expression of pro-inflammatory genes and enzymes. These findings are significant because macrophages typically activate pro-inflammatory genes, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , cyclooxygenase-2, and nitric oxide synthase, to up-regulate cytokine production in response to damage or infection (Esposito et al., 2014). Furthermore, researchers conducting a separate study showed that the flavonoids fisetin and tricetin, inhibitors of the nuclear enzyme poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1, could diminish lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced increases in concentrations of TNFa and IL-6 in vitro using blood samples

from 10 male patients with COPD (Weseler et al., 2009). The authors attributed the attenuation of cytokine release to the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 inhibiting properties of fisetin and tricetin, which further demonstrates the range of pathways through which flavonoids can potentially disrupt the perpetual cycle of inflammation associated with the onset and progression of COPD.

Flavonoids appear to further impact the pathophysiology of COPD through other mechanisms, such as the reduction of oxidative stress through free radical scavenging activity (Ferlazzo et al., Zhong et al., 2014). Specifically, researchers have demonstrated that the free radical scavenging activity of flavonoids can minimize the intracellular oxidative damage caused by reactive oxygen species, which are associated with inflammatory diseases, such as COPD (Ferlazzo et al., Zhong et al., 2014). For example, researchers who conducted an in vitro study to examine the effect of flavonoids from bergamot and orange juices on hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress in human lung epithelial cells found that these flavonoids demonstrated antioxidant activities that may help reduce the damage caused by oxidative stress in the pathology of COPD (Ferlazzo et al., 2015). Specific results indicated that both juice extracts reduced the production of reactive oxygen species and membrane lipid peroxidation, which improved mitochondrial functionality and prevented DNA-oxidative damage in the A549 cells (Ferlazzo et al., 2015).

*Animal research.* Animal studies have been conducted to reproduce the in vitro research described previously. Several in vivo animal studies have been conducted involving the administration of quercetin to mice and rats with acute lung inflammation

60
and acute lung injury (ALI) similar to that of COPD. Quercetin was found to suppress inflammation, oxidative stress, and mucus production and demonstrates overall therapeutic potential in the prevention of the disease (Ganesan et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2015; Yang, Luo et al., 2012). Quercetin also suppressed inflammation, mucus cell hyperplasia, oxidative stress, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) phosphorylation, and NF-kB signal pathway activation in a study to examine the protective effect of quercetin against cigarette smoke-induced mucin expression and inflammation in rats (Yang, Luo et al., 2012). These findings demonstrate that quercetin can attenuate mucus production and airway inflammation, which is consistent with the findings of other in vivo animal studies involving flavonoids (Lee et al., 2015; Xie, Dong, Wu, Yan, & Xie, 2009). For example, an earlier study was conducted to investigate the effects of licorice flavonoids (LF) derived from the roots of *Glycyrrhiza uralensis* on lung inflammation in mice (Xie, Dong, Wu, Yan, & Xie, 2009). LF at doses of 3 mg/kg, 10 mg/kg, and 30 mg/kg significantly decreased the production of inflammatory response cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF), such as neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes (Xie et al., 2009). Additionally, LF was found to reduce neutrophilmediated oxidative injury by significantly increasing superoxide dismutase activity, which is the body's primary antioxidant defense, while also significantly decreasing lung myeloperoxidase activity (Xie et al., 2009). Likewise, similar results were obtained from a study that explored the effect that casticin, a flavonoid extracted from Vitex Fructus, on cigarette smoke-induced acute lung inflammation in mice (Lee et al., 2015). Findings indicated that casticin significantly inhibits the amount of total cells, neutrophils,

macrophages, and lymphocytes while reducing the amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in BALF (Lee et al., 2015). Researchers conducting in vivo animal studies have shown that Quercetin can ameliorate LPS-induced ALI through suppression of inflammation and oxidative stress (Huang et al., 2015). For instance, in a study conducted to assess the effects of quercetin on LPS-induced ALI in rats, researchers found that quercetin significantly (p < 0.05) counteracted the four to five-fold rise in BALF levels of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6 found in controls (Huang et al., 2015). Additionally, quercetin also significantly (p < 0.05) suppressed oxidative stress by increasing activities of superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase in the lungs of LPS-treated rats (Huang et al., 2015). Given these results, the researchers have asserted that quercetin might have therapeutic potential in the prevention of ALI, which has implications for COPD.

Additional animal studies provide evidence that other flavonoids, in addition to quercetin, are also able to protect against LPS-induced ALI in vivo (Chen et al., 2013; Guan et al., 2012). For instance, researchers who conducted a study to investigate the therapeutic effects and mechanisms of *Mosla scabra* flavonoids (MF) on LPS-induced ALI in mice found that MF was protective against oxidative stress by lowering myeloperoxidase activity and total protein concentrations in the BALF (Chen et al., 2013). Furthermore, was found to MF exhibit a protective effect against inflammation by reducing serum levels of NO, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 in ALI model using mice (Chen et al., 2013). Comparable findings were identified in separate study exploring the beneficial effects of liqueritin apioside (LA), a main flavonoid component from *Glycyrrhiza* 

*uralensis*, against lung epithelial cell injury in mice caused by cigarette smoke. Results from this study demonstrated that LA at doses of 3 mg/kg, 10 mg/kg, and 30 mg/kg inhibited pulmonary neutrophil and macrophage inflammation in a dose-dependent manner (Guan et al., 2012). Additionally, LA was found to reduce the pulmonary release of TGF-  $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , attenuate myeloperoxidase activity, and enhance superoxide dismutase activity (Guan et al., 2012). These results indicate that LA, like MF and quercetin, may protect against ALI related to COPD.

In addition to effectively attenuating ALI and airway inflammation in vivo, researchers have also demonstrated that flavonoids have the potential to disrupt the progression of emphysema and chronic bronchitis in animal studies. For instance, in a study assessing the ability of quercetin to prevent the progression of emphysema in elastase/LPS-treated mice, researchers reported that guercetin effectively decreased lung inflammation, goblet cell metaplasia, mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, the expression of MMP9 and MMP12, and levels of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (Ganesan et al., 2010). The decrease in thiobarbituric acid reactive substances is significant because it is a measure of lipid peroxidation caused by oxidative stress (Ganesan et al., 2010). In this study, researchers reported that quercetin prevented the progression of emphysema in elastase/LPS-treated mice. A reduction in the progression of emphysema in mice during this study was marked by reduced oxidative stress and inflammation within the lungs. Additional markers of the attenuated progression of emphysema within mice during the study also included a reduction in the expression of MMP9 and MMP12. Similar findings were observed in studies assessing flavonoids

derived from *Baccharis retusa*, such as 5,6,7-Trihydroxy-4'-Methoxy-Flavanone (5,6,7-FLA) and sakuranetin, in mice with emphysema (Pinheiro et al., 2012; Taguchi et al., 2015). Findings from one study indicate that this flavanone significantly ( $p \le 0.001$ ) attenuated the total cells, macrophages, and lymphocytes in BALF while also significantly ( $p \le 0.001$ ) reducing collagen and elastic fibers contents in mice with emphysema as compared to controls not treated with 5,6,7-FLA (Pinheiro et al., 2012). Findings from a separate but similar study involving mice with emphysema indicated that sakuranetin also reduced the alveolar enlargement, collagen and elastic fiber deposition, and number of MMP9 and MMP12 cells (Taguchi et al., 2015). Additionally, findings from this study also indicated that administration of sakuranetin decreased inflammation and levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and macrophage colony-stimulating factor in the BALF (Taguchi et al., 2015). These findings related to inflammation are consistent with findings from similar studies that have investigated other flavonoids, such as Baicalin and flavonoids derived from *Broussonetia papyrifera* (Ko, Oh, Jin, Son, & Kim, 2013; Lixuan et al., 2010). Baicalin was found to inhibit the pro-inflammatory effects of cigarette smoke exposure-induced COPD in rats by attenuating the release of IL-8, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  (Lixuan et al., 2010). Additionally, a novel phytoformula containing Broussonetia papyrifera and Lonicera japonica was found to inhibit production of TNF- $\alpha$ , interferon gamma, and IL-1 $\beta$  in mice with LPS-induced inflammation (Ko et al., 2013). Furthermore, among mice with LPS-induced chronic bronchitis, *Broussonetia* papyrifera and Lonicera japonica significantly inhibited cell recruitment in BALF and reduced lung injury based on histological observation (Ko et al., 2013). Taken together,

the results from the studies described above demonstrate the ability of flavonoids to counteract lung remodeling, oxidative stress, and inflammation in vivo. These in vivo results also support the premise that flavonoids have a potential to interrupt the development and progression of COPD.

*Human research.* While interest in the therapeutic benefits of flavonoids is growing, human studies examining the potential association between dietary flavonoid intake and the development of COPD are lacking. However, the researchers that have conducted studies in humans suggest a potential relationship exists between flavonoid intake and COPD. A Turkish case-control study involving 40 male smokers diagnosed with COPD (Group-I) and 36 healthy male smokers without COPD (Group-II) was conducted to investigate whether nutritional risk factors were inversely associated with the development of COPD in male smokers (Celik & Topcu, 2006). The researchers noted that significant differences were observed between Group-I and Ggroup-II for the intake of black tea and fruits and vegetables (Celik & Topcu, 2006). Additionally, significant differences were also observed between Group-I and Group-II for breakfast habits and eating salty dietary constituents (Celik & Topcu, 2006). Also, the area under the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curve for black tea (0.898, 95% CI [0.819-0.977]) and fruits and vegetables (0.833, 95% CI [0.727–0.938]) offered a significant degree of precision in distinguishing between the COPD group and the control group (p < p0:001; Celik & Topcu, 2006). While flavonoid content in black tea and vegetables-fruits consumption was not directly measured, these foods were noted as having high concentrations of flavonoids (Celik & Topcu, 2006). The researchers suggested that the

high concentration of flavonoids may have been responsible for protecting male smokers in their study from developing COPD (Celik & Topcu, 2006).

Researchers have also conducted several studies to assess the association of specific flavonoid intake and lung function, systemic inflammation, and symptoms related to COPD. Researchers who conducted the earliest cross-sectional studies found significant associations between flavonoids and COPD symptoms and lung function (Butland et al., 2000; Tabak et al., 2001). In a Dutch study of 13,651 adults aged 20 to 59 years old, researchers found that increased consumption of catechins, flavonols, and flavones was associated with improved lung function, as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>, and COPD symptoms, such as cough, phlegm production, and breathlessness (Tabak et al., 2001). A food frequency questionnaire was used to measure dietary intake of catechins, flavonols, and flavones among study participants. The estimated intake of these flavonoids was found to be 58 mg/day (SD = 46), with tea and apples identified as the main flavonoid food sources (Tabak et al., 2001). High dietary intake of these flavonoids was found to be beneficial against COPD symptoms and lung function measures. For example, dietary intake of catechins, flavonols, and flavones was found to have a protective significant associated with FEV<sub>1</sub>, chronic cough, and dyspnea (Tabak et al., 2001). Additionally, intake of catechins was independently associated with  $FEV_1$  ( $\beta_{05-01} = 130$  ml, 95% CI [101-159]) and all COPD symptoms (OR  $_{O5-O1} = 0.74$ , 95% CI [0.58-0.94]) after researchers adjusted for potential confounding variables and the intake of flavonols and flavones. Flavonol and flavone intake was only independently associated with cough (Tabak et al., 2001). Similar results were later found by researchers who conducted a

cohort study of 63,257 Chinese men and women aged 45 to 74 years old to assess dietary factors impacting chronic respiratory symptoms, such as cough and phlegm (Butler et al., 2004). Results showed that consumption of soy isoflavones significantly reduced new onset of cough and phlegm (OR = 0.67,  $p_{trend} = 0.001$ , 95% CI [0.53 - 0.86]; Butler et al., 2004). A cross-sectional study using a prospective cohort of 2,512 Welshmen aged 45 to 59 years old also yielded similar results related to lung function and the consumption of apples (Butland et al., 2000). Higher apple intake, consisting of five or more apples per week, was positively and significantly associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> (Butland et al., 2000). Furthermore, the association between high apple intake and FEV<sub>1</sub> was independent of other variables, such as consumption of vitamin E and vitamin C (Butland et al., 2000). The authors attributed this effect to the high quercetin content of apples, although quercetin content was not directly measured in this study (Butland et al., 2000).

An association may also exist between flavonoid intake and measures of systemic inflammation. Researchers conducted a cross-sectional study of 2,115 women aged 43 to 70 years to examine the relationship between intake of the six primary flavonoid subgroups and biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction (Landberg et al., 2011). Flavonoid intake was measured using a food frequency questionnaire, and inflammatory biomarkers were assessed using blood sample measurements of several biomarkers for inflammation, including CRP, IL-6, and IL-18 (Landberg et al., 2011). Multivariate-adjusted results indicated that mean plasma IL-8 levels were lower among participants grouped in the highest intake quintile for flavones, flavanones, and total flavonoids compared to participants grouped in the lowest intake quintiles (Landberg et al.) al., 2011). The difference in mean plasma IL-8 concentrations between the highest and lowest intake quintiles for each of the aforementioned flavonoid categories were "9% (Q1: 264 ng/L, Q5: 241 ng/L,  $p_{trend} = 0.019$ ), 11% (Q1: 273 ng/L, Q5: 244 ng/L,  $p_{trend} = 0.011$ ), and 8% (Q1: 276 ng/L, Q5: 55 ng/L,  $p_{trend} = 0.034$ ), respectively," according to Landberg et al. (2011, p. 618). Overall, the results of this study demonstrated that various subgroups of flavonoids are associated with smaller amounts of systemic inflammatory biomarkers, which may have an effect on the chronic inflammation present in COPD.

A relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and lung function has also been suggested, which may implications for COPD because declining lung function is a key characteristic of the disease. For instance, researchers conducted a cross-sectional study to assess the relationship between ventilator function and antioxidant components of 1,232 Chileans aged 22-28 years found positive associations between lung function and flavonoid intake (Garcia-Larsen et al., 2015). Results indicated that total intake of catechins was positively correlated with FVC (regression coefficient of the highest versus lowest quintile of intake [RC  $_{05-01}$ ] = 0.07, 95% CI [0.01-0.15],  $p_{trend}$  = 0.006; Garcia-Larsen et al., 2015). Additionally, total fruit intake was significantly associated with FVC  $(\text{RC}_{O5-O1} = 0.08, 95\% \text{ CI} [0.003-0.15], p_{trend} = 0.02; \text{ Garcia-Larsen et al., 2015}).$ Furthermore, intake of omega 3 fatty acids was also found to be associated with higher FEV<sub>1</sub> (RC<sub>Q5-Q1</sub> = 0.08; 95% CI [0.01-0.15];  $p_{trend}$  = 0.02) and with FVC (RC<sub>Q5-Q1</sub> = 0.08, 95% CI [0.001-0.16],  $p_{trend} = 0.04$ ; Garcia-Larsen et al., 2015). The authors concluded that dietary constituents, such as fresh fruits, flavonoids, and omega 3 fatty acids might support and help to maintain overall lung function. Researchers reported similar results

when examining the association of curry intake and pulmonary function among 2,478 Chinese adult smokers and non-smokers aged 55 and older (Ng, Niti, Yap, & Tan, 2012). Positive associations were present between curcumins, the flavonoids present in curry, and lung function (Ng et al., 2012). Consuming curry at least once per month was significantly associated with better FEV<sub>1</sub> ( $b = 0.045 \pm 60.018$ , p = 0.011) and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC  $(b = 1.146 \pm 0.52, p = 0.029)$  in multivariate analysis (Ng et al., 2012). Additionally, increasing levels of curry intake were found to be associated with higher mean adjusted  $FEV_1$  (*p*<sub>linear trend</sub> = 0.001) and  $FEV_1/FVC$  (*p*<sub>linear trend</sub> = 0.048; Ng et al., 2012). Also, significant effect modifications were identified for interaction between curry and smoking for FEV<sub>1</sub> (p = 0.028) and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC (p = 0.05; Ng. et al., 2012). Significant differences between FEV1 were also observed between curry consumption and nonconsumption among both current and former smokers (Ng. et al., 2012). In fact, consuming curry was associated with a 9.2% and 10.3% higher adjusted mean  $FEV_1$ among current smokers and past smokers, respectively (Ng. et al., 2012). Similar findings were reported by researchers who conducted a longitudinal study examining the association of flavonoid intake and age-related lung function decline among 839 participants from the Veterans Affairs Normative Aging Study (Mehta et al., 2016). In particular, Mehta et al. (2016) reported a slower decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> by 22.5 mL/year (95% CI: 10.8, 34.2) for those who consumed two servings or more of anthocyanin-rich blueberries each week as compared to those who consumed less. Similarly, a slower decline in FVC by 37.9 mL/year was observed among those who consumed two servings or more of anthocyanin-rich blueberries weekly as compared to those who consumed less

(Mehta et al., 2016). Ultimately, the findings from Garcia et al. (2015), Ng. et al. (2012), and Mehta et al. are supportive of the findings noted in the earlier study by Tabak et al. (2001) regarding the association between flavonoid intake and lung function.

Overall, findings from the in vitro, animal, and human studies reviewed above appear to provide support for the premise that a potential relationship may exist between dietary flavonoid intake and the development and progression of COPD. In particular, findings from human studies have demonstrated significant associations between dietary flavonoid intake and lung function, systemic inflammation, and COPD. Additionally, results from the in vitro and animal studies seem to provide support for the biological basis that a relationship may be present between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes.

#### **Measurement Tools**

An accurate accounting of the types and quantity of food consumed is necessary to determine the relationship between diet and flavonoids. Additionally, and equally as important, a reliable source of data is necessary to estimate the total flavonoid content of the individual foods within a given diet. The combination of these two sources of data enables the assessment of flavonoid intake. However, the measurement tools for these data can vary, and some tools have limitations that must be considered.

**Dietary intake.** Several measurement tools are available to measure dietary intake. Some of the more standard tools include 24-hour food recalls, food frequency questionnaires (FFQ), food screeners, and food record diaries covering multiple days. Each tool has specific strengths and limitations that are ideal under certain conditions and when using specific study designs. For example, the 24-hour food recall allows for collection of detailed and quantified intake data, utilization among low-literacy populations, increased precision through multiple administrations, and utilization in large-scale cross-sectional studies (Castell, Serra-Majem, & Ribas-Barbara, 2015; Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014). However, the limitations of this tool include the need for well-trained interviewers, multiple administrations to capture typical intake of foods, reliance on participant recall, and increased risk of random error (Castell et al., 2015; Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014). Also, if the 24-hour food recall is not administered at various times throughout the year, it may not account for foods that are eaten infrequently (Castell et al., 2015).

Alternatively, the FFQ has strengths that include low administration costs, the ability to estimate individual intake in one administration, and the ability to capture dietary information for longer periods (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; National Cancer Institute [NCI], n.d.). Because the FFQ captures dietary intake for longer periods, such as up to 1 month or 1 year, the FFQ may account for episodic or seasonal variations in dietary intake (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014). The FFQ is often used in retrospective case-control studies because it is a cost-effective method, typically involving one-time self-administration, for capturing past dietary intake data (Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d). However, the FFQ is limited to a finite pre-specified food items list, which may not accurately represent all foods that an individual may have consumed, and this limitation can be a source of systemic measurement error (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d). Furthermore, the results captured by the FFQ are

prone to recall bias (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d). Other limitations of FFQs include lack of dietary details and limited quantification of portion sizes in some cases (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d.). Given these limitations, the use of an FFQ to describe the dietary intake of a population in crosssectional studies is not recommended (NCI, n.d).

Food screeners are more limited in scope than FFQs because screeners are developed to collect data on very specific dietary components or behaviors. As a result, food screeners have more weaknesses than the FFQ. Given the limited pre-specified food items list of food screeners, they are not ideal for estimating typical dietary intake (Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d.). However, food screeners can be used in crosssectional studies and retrospective case-control studies when the dietary scope, study resources, and study duration are limited (Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d.). In contrast, the strengths of the food diary record seem to surpass those of the 24-hour recall and FFQ. The strengths of the food record diary include the ability to encompass a longer intake time frame than the 24-hour recall, obtain quantified and detailed intake data, and provide a real-time accounting of intake (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014). However, the food record diary is limited by high respondent and responder burden, reliance on participant literacy, decreased compliance over time, altered eating habits due to reactivity, and potential selection bias due to exclusion of participants with low literacy (Illner et al., 2012; Kirkpatrick et al., 2014; NCI, n.d.).

Of these various dietary measurement tools, the 24-hour food recall appears to be the most widely utilized in studies purposed with capturing quantified and detailed data on flavonoid intake, particularly for the U.S. population (Bai et al., 2014; Chun et al., 2007; Chun, Lee, Wang, Vance, & Song, 2012; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). The choice to utilize a 24-hour food recall as the primary instrument in these studies appears to be based on the accuracy of this instrument in providing precise portion quantities, which is essential to determining the flavonoid content of reported food items (Bai et al., 2014; Chun et al., 2007; Chun, Lee, Wang, Vance, & Song, 2012; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). One study used an FFQ instead of the 24-hour food recall to successfully estimate flavonoid intake at midlife in relation to healthy aging (Samieri, Sun, Townsend, Rimm, & Grodstein, 2014). However, the FFQ utilized in this study contained a component for standard portion size, which allowed researchers to estimate the quantity of flavonoid content for foods listed on the FFQ (Samieri et al., 2014).

It is recognized that a single 24-hour dietary recall may not adequately capture typical micronutrient intake. Micronutrient intake can fluctuate due to certain factors, like the day of the week and cultural beliefs, which can impact the intake of certain foods (Chun & Davis, 2012; Chun et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2009). Utilizing multiple 24-hour recalls when reporting nutrient intake can improve the measurement tool's ability to reflect typical nutrient intake in relation to health outcomes (Beydoun et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2009). Among studies utilizing the 24-hour food recall to assess the flavonoid intake of Americans, researchers have obtained mean values from two non-consecutive 24-hour food recalls obtained from the NHANES (Bai et al., 2014; Chun et al., 2007; Chun, Lee, Wang, Vance, & Song, 2012; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Researchers averaged results from the two 24-hour food recalls within the NHANES datasets to account for typical

intake patterns to improve the limitation of using a single 24 hour food recall administration (Bai et al., 2014; Chun et al., 2007; Chun, Lee, Wang, Vance, & Song, 2012; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015). Overall, it appears that accurately estimating typical flavonoid intake necessitates utilizing more than one 24-hour dietary recall, and the dietary components of the 2007-2010 NHANES includes two 24-hour dietary recalls. However, it is acknowledged that two 24-hour dietary recalls cannot fully account for within-individual variations in typical dietary intake, which is a known limitation given the cross-sectional design of this current study.

NHANES. Several large-scale population-based health surveys that address nutrition and health outcomes are publicly available. For example, questions related to the diagnosis of COPD are found within National Health Interview Survey, the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, and the NHANES. However, the dietary collection tools along with other health outcome and diagnostic components make the NHANES datasets ideal for conducting comprehensive secondary analyses. For example, the NHANES is particularly relevant, as it collects information related to COPD diagnosis, spirometric diagnostic testing, comorbid chronic diseases, and biological laboratory testing (CDC, 2015a). In fact, studies have utilized spirometry values and selfreport of physician diagnosis obtained from the medical conditions and examination components of the NHANES to successfully estimate COPD prevalence for the United States (Doney, Hnizdo, & Halldin, 2014; Telert et al., 2013). Furthermore, researchers have also utilized medical conditions component of the NHANES to identify and determine if relationships exist between COPD and other comorbid diseases (Putcha, Puhan, Hansel, Drummond, & Boyd, 2013; Schnell et al., 2012).

The NHANES has long attempted to provide nationally representative data since it began in the early 1960s as a series of surveys focused on various population groups and health topics (CDC, 2015a). As of 1999, the survey has changed to become a continuous program conducted every 2 years to allow for increased flexibility with survey changes and adaptations to meet emerging needs (CDC, 2015a). While earlier versions of NHANES were limited in the ability to provide accurate estimates of certain measures, such as dietary intake, more recent changes in the NHANES measurement protocols have improved upon attempts at obtaining more accurate measures. For example, the improvements to measurement protocols for dietary intake include the using two days of recall, obtaining recall on weekends in addition to weekdays, utilizing the multi-pass approach, providing enhanced training to survey administrators, and improving quality controls (Archer, Hand, & Blair, 2013; McDowell, Briefel, Buzzard, Gardner, & Warren, 1989). Additionally, each version of the NHANES now involves approximately 5,000 participants from various counties across the United States, of which 15 counties remain the same each year (CDC, 2015a). The validity and reliability of the data collected in the NHANES are enhanced due to various internal quality checks and supplemental guidelines on how to interpret and analyze the collected survey data (CDC, 2015a). The process of participant selection, administration of surveys and questionnaires, diagnostic testing, and use guidelines are well documented and continuously reviewed by government and private experts (CDC, 2015a).

Flavonoid databases. There are very few resources available to aid in the determination of flavonoid content in a wide variety of foods for all six flavonoid subclasses. The USDA provides the most complete sources for flavonoid content in a broad spectrum of foods. For example, the USDA Database for Flavonoid Content of Select Foods (DFCSF), Release 3.2, contains flavonoid content for 506 food items (USDA, 2015). However, the USDA DFCSF only provides flavonoid content for five subclasses of flavonoids, which include flavonols, flavones, flavanones, flavan-3-ols, and anthocyanidins. The USDA maintains a separate database for the sixth flavonoid subclass known as isoflavones. The USDA Database for Isoflavone Content of Select Foods (DICSF), Release 2.1, contains the data on the isoflavone content of 560 food items (USDA, 2015). The expansion of the DFCSF and DICSF formed the basis for the Expanded Flavonoid Database for the Assessment of Dietary Intakes (FDB-EXP), Release 1.1, which has flavonoid content data for 2,926 food items. The flavonoid content profiles for the food items in the FDB-EXP were generated by applying the analytical values for the flavonoids identified for the 506 food items in the DFCSF and the flavonoids identified for the 560 food items in the DICSF (USDA, 2015). Together these databases provide the basis for the most comprehensive information on flavonoid content of foods currently available (USDA, 2015). Only data generated by acceptable analytical procedures resulting in good separation of flavonoid compounds are included in the USDA flavonoid databases to ensure quality reporting for specific flavonoid compounds (USDA, 2015). As such, the USDA flavonoid databases have been widely used in several large-scale studies within the United States and other countries, such as

Australia, Germany, the UK, and Ireland to quantify the flavonoid content of specific foods (Bai et al., 2014; Beking & Vieira, 2011; Chun et al., 2007; Chun et al., 2012; Filiberto et al., 2013; Kent et al., 2015; Kim, Vance, & Chun, 2015; McCullough et al., 2012; Samieri et al., 2014; Vogiatzoglou et al., 2013).

As the most comprehensive source for flavonoid content of select foods, the USDA flavonoid databases have enabled researchers to make more accurate estimates of flavonoid intake (Chun et al., 2012). For example, studies utilizing other sources to quantify flavonoid content of select foods prior the release of the DFCSF have reported lower estimates of flavonoid intake due lack of complete data for all flavonoid subclasses (Chun et al., 2012). For example, estimates of flavonoid intake using food tables from the Department of Nutrition at Harvard School of Public Health for postmenopausal women and middle-aged and older women were 24.6 mg/day and 21.2 mg/day, respectively (Lin et al., 2007; Sesso, Gaziano, Liu, & Buring, 2003). The food tables provided only flavonol and flavone content for several foods based on data initially produced in the Netherlands, but updated to include American foods (Sesso et al., 2003). Ultimately, the estimates of flavonoid intake by the aforementioned studies were likely underreported because only two subclasses of flavonoids, flavonols and flavones, were included due to the limitations of the flavonoid measurement tools that were used. These estimates were approximately ten times less than a more accurate estimate of 268 mg/day for men and women of similar age calculated using the DFCSF and DICSF, which included a broader and more comprehensive range of flavonoid subclasses (McCullough et al., 2012). Therefore, it is apparent that utilizing a current and comprehensive source for flavonoid

content in foods is essential to calculating accurate estimates of flavonoid intake, and the DFCSF and DICSF are appropriate sources in this regard.

## **Summary and Conclusions**

COPD represents a significant disease burden and a major public health concern within the United States and around the world. In addition to the individual toll that COPD can take on those with the disease, this condition also has economic disadvantages manifested as losses in productivity and increases in medical expenditures. A wide range of research indicates that overall diet and the intake of specific foods can affect the onset and progression of COPD. However, it is still uncertain what specific dietary components and mechanisms of action are responsible for these effects. Research has suggested that there may be a relationship between high flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes. Furthermore, many of the foods found to have significant associations with COPD are noted to contain a high quantity of flavonoids, which adds further support to the suggested relationship between flavonoids and COPD. In general, no studies have been conducted that directly examined the potential relationship between dietary intake of flavonoids and COPD diagnosis, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden within the U.S. population.

The NHANES and USDA flavonoid databases presented a novel opportunity to address this gap in the literature. The data from the NHANES allows for an accurate assessment of diet, COPD diagnosis and severity, systemic inflammation, and associated comorbidities within the general population. The combination of the NHANES data with that of the USDA flavonoid databases enabled the quantification of flavonoid intake as it relates to specific COPD outcomes. Therefore, my aim with this study was to examine the potential relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD. The design and methodological approach that I used in this study are described in the following chapter.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

## Introduction

This chapter includes a review of the study design and rationale I used to explore the potential effects of dietary flavonoid intake on the diagnosis, severity, and comorbidity of COPD among a sample of the U.S. population aged 30 years and older. I also present the methodology for this study, including a description of the population and sampling procedures used in the 2007-2010 NHANES. Furthermore, the methods for dietary and COPD data collection are reviewed, and the operationalization of variables are discussed in this chapter. Similarly, I describe the methodology for determining flavonoid content of selected foods using the USDA flavonoid databases, and provide a comprehensive explanation of the data analyses and statistical procedures employed to test the study hypotheses. Finally, I discuss the ethical considerations in this research study.

### **Research Design and Rationale**

This was a quantitative, cross-sectional study using data from the 2007-2008 and 2009-2010 iterations of NHANES in conjunction with expanded flavonoid data from the USDA's DFCSF, Release 3.2 (September 2015, Slightly revised November 2015) and DICSF, Release 2.1 to test the association between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD. I selected these NHANES datasets because they provide comprehensive data using a large-scale sample of participants who are representative of the population of the United States. Also, these specific iterations of the NHANES are the most current surveys that include laboratory testing and reporting of CRP, which was a key variable in the assessment of

systemic inflammation for this study. The USDA's flavonoid databases were the most robust databases available for the flavonoid content of foods. The use of these flavonoid databases and the NHANES dataset together allowed for the appropriate assessment of the research questions for this study.

Cohort, case-control, and cross-sectional non-interventional study designs are all appropriate for use when the units of observation are individuals, and the research questions are designed to identify associations with health outcomes rather than establish causation (Szklo & Nieto, 2014). I selected a cross-sectional design for this study because this design is well aligned with the quantitative nature of the research questions. Cohort and case-control studies require multiple measurements for study outcomes over a long period of time and significant resources, which are prohibitive constraints for a large population-based study (Szklo & Nieto, 2014). In contrast, cross-sectional study designs only require data to be captured at one point in time and also provide the opportunity to assess exposure and outcome associations (Szklo & Nieto, 2014). However, it is not possible to identify temporal relationships and trends or establish causation when using a cross-sectional study design. Despite these limitations, a cross-sectional design was the most appropriate for this study based on feasibility, logistics, and efficiency, as compared to other viable non-experimental designs.

## Methodology

#### Population

The subjects included in this study were participants in the 2007-2010 NHANES, and their data were obtained from the publicly available 2007-2010 NHANES datasets

(CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). The 2007-2010 year range encapsulates two distinct NHANES datasets, those from 2007-2008 and 2009-2010. The sample size for the 2007-2008 NHANES was 10,149, and the sample size for the 2009-2010 NHANES was 10,537. Taken together, the total sample size for the 2007-2010 NHANES was 20,686. The NHANES aims to include a sample population that is representative of the noninstitutionalized U.S. population. Therefore, the NHANES includes participants ranging in age from less than 1 year old to 80 years or older from various races and ethnicities (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). In this cross-sectional analysis, the sample population excluded participants aged 29 years and younger, as COPD is a progressive disease with symptoms manifesting later in life. While the majority of COPD cases are diagnosed at 40 years and older, the inclusion of participants 30-39 years old in the current study was relevant because COPD is found among younger patients within this age range (Wheaton et al., 2015).

# **Sampling Procedures**

The 2007-2010 NHANES used a complex probability sampling design consisting of multiple stages to select study participants who are reflective of the noninstitutionalized, civilian population of the United States (CDC, 2013b). The NHANES sampling procedures consisted of a four-stage process starting with the selection of primary sampling units (PSUs), which included individual counties or clusters of adjoining counties. The PSUs were segmented into smaller area groupings of households from which a sample was randomly drawn (CDC, 2013). One or more individuals from these households were selected at random to participate. During this process certain demographic groups, such as those identifying as Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, lowincome White, and people aged 80 years and older were oversampled to provide dependable and precise estimates of health status indicators that assist with public health measures of relevance for these subgroups (CDC, 2013b). Therefore, each participant was assigned a sample weight to produce unbiased national estimates. This complex sampling strategy was well validated, justified, and documented for all iterations of the NHANES, including the 2007-2010 iterations (CDC, 2013b).

I included as many participants from the 2007-2010 NHANES datasets as possible to ensure an appropriate sample size. Participants were included in this study if they performed spirometry testing to determine the presence of COPD, had responded negatively to having a diagnosis of asthma, and had complete dietary data to assess flavonoid intake. Participants without acceptable measures for FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC and CRP measurements were excluded from the severity analyses and systemic inflammation analyses, respectively. Those patients without an affirmative or negative response when providing a self-report of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension were excluded from the comorbidity analysis. In Chapter 4 I provide further details regarding the composition of the final study sample, given the application of exclusion criteria.

**Data collection.** The data from the 2007-2010 NHANES, as in other iterations of this national survey, were collected from participants through interviews, diagnostic testing, and medical health examinations. Interviews were conducted in participants' homes by trained interviewers who administered all questionnaires for the household interview component, which included screener, family, and sample person interview

questionnaires (CDC, 2015a). The screener questionnaire was used to determine household eligibility and the relationships between all household residents. The family questionnaire was used to obtain family and household-level demographic information. The sample person questionnaire was used to obtain self-reported individual-level information on various health outcomes and behaviors, such as oral health, physical activity, and medical conditions (CDC, 2015a). Following completion of the household interview, study participants were asked to visit a mobile examination center (MEC). During the visit to the MEC, interviewers administered a 24-hour dietary recall questionnaire. Interviewers also administered additional questionnaires to collect data on more sensitive topics, such as reproductive health, drug use, and depression (CDC, 2015a). Data collected throughout the interview process was obtained using a mostly electronic system that incorporated technology, such as touch-screen computers, a computer-assisted personal interview (CAPI) system, a computer-assisted self-interview system, and electronic questionnaires. All diagnostic testing and medical health examinations took up to 4 hours for each participant and were conducted in the MECs, which allowed for a standardized environment for all participants (CDC, 2015a). The MEC staff consisted of trained and certified physicians, dietary interviewers, medical technologists, phlebotomists, two interviewers, and computer managers (CDC, 2015a). The MECs had automated collection procedures with diagnostic components being recorded directly into the study database.

All NHANES staff were trained in obtaining informed consent for all aspects of the survey and associated examinations, and in maintaining the privacy and confidentiality of participants (CDC, 2015a). The 2007-2010 NHANES data files were made available for free public access on the CDC website. Because the data collected during the NHANES were intended for public use and participants provided consent for future use of their data, additional permission to use the data was not necessary. Therefore, I downloaded the data files for this study from CDC website for analysis following receipt of Walden University's IRB approval.

**Constructing weights.** To ensure that the sum of the weights matched the survey population, I had to weight the combined sampling data from the 2007-2008 and 2009-2010 NHANES datasets. The weights that I used in this cross-sectional analysis included the 2-year examination weight with the variable name WTMEC2YR, and the 4-year examination weight with the variable name WTMEC4YR. The WTMEC2YR variable was included in the 2007-2010 NHANES datasets, and was used to construct the 4-year weight using the following formula: If SDDSRVYR in (5,6), then WTMEC4YR = 1/2 \* WTMEC2YR (CDC, 2013a). The term SDDSRVYR represents the survey cycle variable, with the value of 5 representing 2007-2008 and the value of 6 representing 2009-2010 (CDC, 2013a).

**Power analysis.** The sample size for this study was calculated using G\*Power 3.1 (Faul, Erdfelder, & Buchner, 2007). To address the research questions in this study, multivariate analyses using multiple linear and logistic regression were required. These statistical procedures would require sufficient sample sizes to achieve 80% statistical probability of rejecting a false null hypothesis. In the absence of other studies with analyses directly matching this study, I made an approximation of the anticipated effect

size for changes in CRP and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted based on effect sizes found in the literature. The effect size for CRP in this study was based on the change in CRP predicted by total fruit intake ( $\beta = -0.100$ ) in a study exploring the association between dietary constituents and serum CRP (Corley, Kyle, Starr, McNeill, & Deary, 2015)). Therefore, the sample size calculation using G\*Power 3.1 included an effect size of 0.100 mg/dL change in CRP, alpha of .05, power of 80%, and nine predictors. The resulting sample size estimate for multiple linear regression analysis involving CRP was 166 participants. I estimated the effect size for  $FEV_1$ % predicted based on the effect sizes found in a study by Schünemann et al. (2002) assessing the association between FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and lutein/zeaxanthin ( $\beta = 0.997$ ), vitamin C ( $\beta = 1.04$ ), and vitamin E ( $\beta = 1.601$ ). Therefore, the sample size calculation using G\*Power 3.1 was based on an estimated effect size of 1% change in the FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, an alpha of .05, power of 80%, and nine predictors. The resulting sample size estimate for multiple linear regression analysis involving  $FEV_1\%$  predicted was 26 participants. Taken together, the total sample size needed to accommodate multiple linear regression for CRP and FEV1% predicted was estimated to be 166.

Using G\*Power 3.1, the calculation for logistic regression, based on a two-tailed test with an alpha of .05, power of 80%, and an odds ratio of 0.7-1.3, yielded a sample size ranging between 395 and 721. I selected this 30% range to account for both positive and negative effects of increased flavonoid intake between participants with COPD and those without. Additionally, 30% appears to be a moderate indicator of likely effect, as similar odds ratios of were observed in studies of flavonoid intake and outcomes, such as

COPD-related symptoms and various cancers (Fink et al., 2007; Tabak et al., 2001; Woo & Kim, 2013). Therefore, to accommodate multiple logistic regression analysis, the overall sample size required for this study was 721.

# Instrumentation

The overall data collection instruments researchers used to obtain data for this study included survey questionnaires and diagnostic equipment. I obtained data from the 2007-2010 NHANES datasets that were related to the variables of interest my study including medical, dietary, demographic, and health outcome assessments. Trained health technicians obtained this information from participants during interviews, examinations, and laboratory sample collections.

# **Dietary Measurement**

During the 2007-2010 NHANES, CDC interviewers obtained a 24-hour food recall from participants at two different time points. The food recalls were used by CDC interviewers to collect data on the individual foods and portion sizes consumed by each participant within the previous 24-hour period. To more accurately reflect daily flavonoid intake for this study, I averaged the dietary data derived from the two non-consecutive 24-hour food recalls obtained during the 2007-2010 NHANES. The first 24-hour food recall was obtained from participants through an in-person interview conducted while visiting a MEC. The second 24-hour food recall was obtained three to 10 days later by phone interview. All 24-hour dietary recalls were administered by trained dietary interviewers who were guided by an automated dietary interview program designed to aid in executing the multiple-pass method. The multiple-pass method is designed to enhance the accuracy of short-term dietary habits elicited from participants (Raper, Perloff, Ingwersen, Steinfeldt, & Anand, 2004; Steinfeldt, Anand, & Murayi, 2013). The USDA's computer-based automated multi-pass method (AMPM) program was used to prompt the interviewers to ask participants standardized questions about the foods and beverages that each participant consumed in the past 24-hours (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). The validity of the USDA's AMPM has been confirmed by researchers in several studies to improve estimates of total energy and nutrient intake (Blanton, Moshfegh, Baer, & Kretsch, 2006; Moshfegh et al., 2008; Rhodes et al., 2013).

This USDA's AMPM involves five steps that ensure participants are provided with structured and unstructured opportunities to report the foods they consume. During administration of the 24-hour recall, the first step of the AMPM required each participant to provide a quick list of foods and beverages consumed within the past 24 hours. During the second step, the interviewer probed each participant for foods they may have forgotten to report during the first step. The interviewer probed for forgotten foods by bringing common food categories to each participant's attention, such as non-alcoholic beverages, savory snacks, fruits, vegetables, and cheeses (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). The third step required the interviewer to ask each participant to identify the time and occasion that each food was consumed. Next, the interviewer placed all participantreported foods into chronological order and grouped those foods by eating occasion. During the fourth step, the interviewer asked each participant to provide detailed information regarding each reported food item, such as the amount consumed, where it was obtained, and where it was consumed (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). Additionally, the interviewer reviewed each eating occasion and the duration of time between each eating occasion with participants to help them identify additional foods that may have been forgotten. The fifth step entailed a final probe by the interviewer to aid the participant in recalling additional foods. The final probe involved encouraging participants to recall other occasions where food may have been consumed or small amounts of foods that might have been viewed as insignificant (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). The interviewers recorded all participants' responses directly into the AMPM computer program. The interviewers provided all participants with identical measuring guides to aid them in accurately reporting the quantity of the foods and beverages they consumed. The measuring guides included three-dimensional tools, such as bowls, spoons, and cartons, and two-dimensional tools, such as pictures of chicken pieces and shapes (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). The duration of each dietary interview ranged between 15 and 30 minutes, depending on the amount and types of foods reported by the participants (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). At the end of each participant's 24-hour dietary recall interview at the MEC, the interviewer provided each participant with a set of measurement guides to take with them for use during the subsequent telephone interview. The interviewer conducted the telephone interview using the AMPM dietary interview program and by following the same procedures as the initial MEC interview (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c).

### **Demographics and Diseases**

CDC interviewers collected data regarding the demographics and diagnosis of COPD, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension from study participants during the conduct of the 2007-2010 NHANES using standard questionnaires. The demographics data were collected using the Demographics Questionnaire (DMQ). The Medical Conditions Questionnaire (MCQ) was used to collect data on self-reported diagnosis of COPD and cardiovascular disease. Data on self-reported diagnoses for diabetes and hypertension were collected using the Diabetes Questionnaire (DIQ) and Blood Pressure and Cholesterol Questionnaire (BPQ), respectively. The DMQ, MCQ, DIQ, and BPQ, were designated as in-home questionnaires. These questionnaires were administered to participants using standard modes of administration. The standard method of administration involved the use of portable CAPI systems, which contained electronic versions of the DMQ, MCQ, and BPQ. While present in participants' homes, trained interviewers asked all questions using the CAPI system. Interviewers read the questions provided by the CAPI system to each participant. All participants' responses were recorded directly into the CAPI system by the interviewers. Quality assurance and control were maintained through the CAPI system because the system is programmed to perform consistency checks, which reduces data entry errors (CDC, 2015a). Furthermore, onscreen help menus provided interviewers with assistance in providing standardized definitions of key terms to participants (CDC, 2015a).

## **Medical Examinations**

Examination data, including spirometry values, height and weight measurements, and blood samples were collected from study participants by trained health technicians in the MECs. The spirometry testing procedures used in NHANES were performed according to recommendations from the American Thoracic Society recommendations (CDC, 2015a; Miller et al., 2005). The spirometry testing procedures entailed coaching, ensuring adequate duration of expiratory maneuvers, and ensuring acceptability of testing. Prior to initiating a spirometry test, the spirometry technician coached participants on how to perform the expiratory maneuvers by describing the actions participants would need to take. These actions included taking a deep breath to fill the lungs with air, placing the mouthpiece of the spirometer in the mouth, sealing the lips around the mouthpiece, and blasting air out as hard and fast as possible until prompted by the technician to stop (CDC, 2015a). Expiratory maneuvers performed by participants during spirometry testing were considered acceptable if they were free of hesitation or false starts when blowing into the mouthpiece (CDC, 2015a). Additional acceptability criteria for expiratory maneuvers included no coughing during the first second, no mouthpiece obstruction, an extrapolated volume of < 150 ml or 5% of the FVC, a visible plateau toward the end of the volume-time spirogram, and duration of 6 seconds (CDC, 2015a). Participants were asked to repeat the expiratory maneuver if it was found to be unacceptable by the technicians, with a maximum of eight attempts allowed. To ensure the quality of spirometry administration and performance the respiratory division of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) acted as the training consultant for spirometry technicians during the NHANES. Furthermore, the quality control division at NIOSH reviewed all spirometry data, and spirometry equipment was regularly calibrated by trained technicians and confirmed by supervisors (CDC, 2015a).

Trained NHANES examiners calculated BMI using height and weight measurements obtained from participants. The examiners received their training from expert anthropometrists. All body measurements were collected in a standardized manner by an examiner who was assisted by a recorder. The standardized process for obtaining a participant's weight involved providing disrobing instructions to participant, positioning them on a digital scale, and entering their weight result directly into a computer integrated survey information system. Examiners instructed participants to disrobe, with the exception of their undergarments, and change into a standard exam gown. The standard gown consisted of a disposable shirt, pants, and slippers (CDC, 2015a). The examiner instructed the participants to step onto the center of a digital scale platform with their hands at their sides and facing the examiner (CDC, 2015a). All participants were expected to use the same digital scale type and model provided in the MEC. The digital scale could only provide accurate weight measurements up to a maximum of 440 pounds (CDC, 2015a). If a participant weighed greater than 440 pounds, then two portable digital scales were used to weigh the participant (CDC, 2015a). In this instance, the examiner provided the same instructions; however, the examiner would instruct the participant to place one foot on each scale. All weight measurements obtained by the examiner, regardless of the number of scales used, were entered into the computer-based survey information system (CDC, 2015a).

The standard process used by NHANES examiners to obtaining a height measurement for each participant included positioning the participant on a standometer, adjusting the standometer head piece, and recording the height result. The examiners instructed each participant to stand on the standometer platform with their arms at their sides and heels together with toes apart (CDC, 2015a). Additionally, the examiner ensured that each participant was positioned with his or her back and head against the backboard of the standometer (CDC, 2015a). With the participant in place, the examiners lowered the headpiece along the measurement column until it rested on the top of the participant's head. The examiners would then recorded the height value into the computer-based survey information system. As an added measure to minimize variability, all measurement examination rooms within the MECs were designed to be identical. Also, all equipment used to collect body measurements were calibrated regularly by technicians and confirmed by supervisors. Trained health technicians obtained blood sample collections from participants while they visited the MEC in order to obtain CRP data. All blood samples obtained from participants were processed, stored, and shipped to the University of Washington in Seattle, WA using quality control and assurance procedures that meet the requirements of 1988 Clinical Laboratory Improvement Act (CDC, 2015a).

## **Operationalization of Study Variables**

## **Independent Variable**

The independent variable for this study was total daily flavonoid intake, measured as the total amount of flavonoids consumed per day. I calculated the total flavonoid intake of each study participant by averaging the flavonoid content of the foods reported in two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls by participants of the 2007-2010 NHANES. For this study, the total daily flavonoid intake was measured as a continuous interval variable. Adjusting flavonoid intake by total energy intake in regression models yields more accurate results when conducting epidemiologic analysis related to disease outcomes (Willett, Howe, & Kushi. 1997). Nutrient intake among people tends to be correlated with their overall caloric intake (Willett & Stamphfer, 1986). By adjusting for total energy intake, flavonoid intake can be interpreted as a function of dietary composition and constituency rather than that of total caloric intake. Therefore, I adjusted all values for total flavonoid intake used for regression analysis in this study for total energy intake using the residual method (Willett & Stamphfer, 1986). Total energy intake was defined as the total daily caloric intake for all participants measured in kilocalories (kcal). The residual method entailed calculating the total energy-adjusted flavonoid intake values as the residual values obtained from a logistic regression model with total energy intake and total flavonoid intake as the independent and dependent variables, respectively.

I obtained the flavonoid values of foods reported by each participant in this study from the USDA Flavonoid Intake Data Files (FIDFs), which corresponds to the dietary component of the 2007-2010 NHANES (USDA, 2016). The USDA compiled the FIDFs by applying expanded analytical flavonoid values from the DFCSF, Release 3.2 and DICSF, Release 2.1 to the self-reported 24-hour dietary recall information from the 2007-2010 NHANES (Sebastian, Enns, Goldman, Steinfeldt, Martin, & Moshfegh, 2016). The DFCSF, Release 3.2 and DICSF, Release 2.1 were the most recent versions of the flavonoid databases with expanded analytical values that were the most comprehensive source of flavonoid data available at the time of the present study. The expanded USDA flavonoid databases provide the flavonoid content for 2,926 specific foods and identify those foods using a nutrient databank (NDB) number (USDA, 2016). The USDA used the Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies (FNDDS) revision 4.1 and 5.0 to link the codes from the USDA flavonoid databases and the 24-hour dietary recalls for the 2007-2008 and 2009-2010 NHANES iterations, respectively (Sebastian, Enns, Goldman, Steinfeldt, Martin, & Moshfegh, 2016). The USDA took this approach because the food codes from the NHANES 24-hour dietary recalls and NDB numbers referenced in the USDA flavonoid databases differ. The USDA FNDDS was used because it contains a translation table linking the food codes from the NHANES with the corresponding NDB numbers referenced in the USDA flavonoid databases (USDA, 2014). Each revision of the FNDDS corresponds directly to the dietary intake component of a specific iteration of the NHANES (USDA, 2014). Specifically, the FNDDS revision 4.1 corresponds to the 2007-2008 NHANES and the FNDDS revision 5.0 corresponds to the 2009-2010 NHANES. Ultimately, the FIDFs provided the total daily flavonoid intake for each 24hour dietary recall for each participant who reported dietary data in the 2007-2010 NHANES. The combination of the FIDFs and the NHANES datasets enabled the calculation of average total daily flavonoid intake for this study.

## **Dependent Variables**

The dependent variables for these analyses include COPD, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP, and Comorbidity burden. These variables represent COPD diagnosis, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and the accumulation of inflammation-related comorbid diseases. Table 1 provides a description of the measurement characteristics of these variables. Table 1

Dependent Variable Characteristics

Variable name	Level of measurement
Comorbidity burden	Ordinal
COPD	Dichotomous
FEV1% predicted	Interval
CRP	Interval

**COPD Diagnosis.** To minimize misclassification error due to potential recall bias, I decided that the diagnosis of COPD would be defined by spirometry measurements instead of participant self-reporting. Therefore, I defined the diagnosis of COPD for this study as having a post-bronchodilator FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio of < 70%, according to GOLD (2015) guidelines. Participants with a pre-bronchodilator or postbronchodilator FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio of  $\geq$ 70% were noted as not having COPD.

**COPD Severity**. I defined COPD severity as the FEV<sub>1</sub>% percentage of the predicted normal FEV<sub>1</sub> using individual post-bronchodilator spirometry results obtained in the 2007-2010 NHANES, converted from milliliters to liters. FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted values were used in this study as an indicator of COPD severity because there are gradual declines in FEV<sub>1</sub> among COPD patients prior to reaching the threshold for inclusion in each COPD severity stage, as specified by the GOLD criteria (Lange et al., 2015; Tantucci & Modina, 2012). Therefore, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted values were treated as continuous interval measurements for all relevant analyses instead of being categorized into stages of severity. As such, the statistical precision for addressing RQ2 increased by accounting for incremental changes in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted.
Systemic inflammation. I used serum CRP values as a measure of systemic inflammation among the COPD population. In this regard, CRP served as an indicator for the mechanism of action between flavonoid intake and COPD. CRP values were obtained from laboratory testing of blood samples obtained from participants in the 2007-2010 NHANES. The lower limit of detectability for serum CRP was 0.02 ng/mL. Any test results that were obtained below this detectable limit were assigned a notional value, which was reported as the detection limit divided by the square root of two (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). By dividing the limit of detection by the square root of two, laboratory technicians were able to provide an estimate of the undetectable value, which lies between zero and the detectible limit (Hornung & Reeed, 1990). Assigning a notional value for CRP results below the detectable limit avoided the need to assign a zero value or omit these data points. If undetectable data points are assigned a zero value or omitted, then the mean for CRP concentrations can be skewed too high. Therefore, to improve the accuracy of the overall results for the sample population, the NHANES technicians applied the notional value to CRP results below the detectable limit (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c; Hornung & Reeed, 1990). In general, the normal range for adult serum CRP level is < 10 mg/L, with results above this threshold indicating a serious acute infection or trauma (Pearson et al., 2003; Shivappa et al., 2014). For the purposes of the current study, CRP was analyzed as a continuous interval variable.

**Comorbidity.** I defined the comorbidity burden of participants in the 2007-2010 NHANES with COPD as the number of concurrent self-reports of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension. The determination of whether or not participants had cardiovascular disease was made based on responses to three questions found within the NHANES. The first question asked, "Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you had a stroke?" The second question asked, "Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you had a heart attack?" The third question asked, "Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you had congestive heart failure?" Participants who responded positively to at least one of these questions were noted as having cardiovascular disease. Participants who responded negatively to all three questions were noted as not having cardiovascular disease. The self-report of diabetes was based on the affirmative or negative response to the NHANES interview question that asked, "Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you had diabetes or sugar diabetes?" Likewise, the self-report of hypertension was determined based on an affirmative or negative response to the NHANES interview question that asked, "Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you had hypertension, also called high blood pressure?" I created a comorbid disease burden score specifically for this study by summing the number of systemic inflammation-related comorbid diseases for each participant in the COPD population.

## Covariates

Covariates recognized as potential confounders according to research findings included age, annual income group, BMI, dietary fiber intake, education level, gender, race/ethnicity, and smoking status (ALA, 2014; Beiko et al., 2015; Eisner et al., 2009; Fonseca Wald et al., 2014; Hooper et al., 2012; Marott & Lange, 2013; Pistelli et al. 2012; Sebastian, Enns, Goldman, Steinfeldt, & Moshfegh, 2016; Zhou et al., 2013). Table

2 provides a description of the characteristics of these variables.

Table 2

Covariate Characteristics

Level of measurement
Interval
Nominal
Interval
Interval
Nominal
Nominal, Dichotomous
Nominal
Nominal

The variable for age was defined by NHANES researchers as the age of a participant at screening during the 2007-2010 NHANES and consisted of age values ranging from 30 to 80. The age value of 80 represents participants who were  $\geq$  80 years old at the time of screening. The individual age of participants who were  $\geq$  80 years old was not reported in the 2007-2010 NHANES, as this would introduce an identification disclosure risk (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). Annual income group was defined as self-reported annual household income reported categorically because these data were collected as such in the 2007-2010 NHANES. Therefore, annual income group consisted of reported income that corresponded to one of 15 income categories that consist of \$0-\$4,999, \$5,000-\$9,999, \$10,000-\$14,999, \$15,000-\$19,999, under \$20,000, over \$20,000, \$20,000-\$24,999, \$25,000-\$34,999, \$35,000-\$44,999, \$45,000-\$54,999, \$55,000-\$64,999, \$65,000-\$74,999, \$75,000-\$99,999, and \$100,000 and over. BMI was calculated in units of kg/m<sup>2</sup> based on the height and weight measurements for all

participants. Dietary fiber intake was defined by NHANES researchers as the dietary fiber intake for all participants measured in grams per day. I adjusted all values for dietary fiber used for regression analyses in this study for total energy intake using the residual method (Willett & Stamphfer, 1986). Total energy intake was defined by NHANES researchers as the total daily caloric intake for all participants measured in kilocalories (kcal).

NHANES researchers defined education level as the highest grade or level of school a participant reported based on their response to the NHANES survey question that asked, "What is the highest grade or level of school you have completed or the highest degree you have received?" The categories for education level included "less than 9<sup>th</sup> grade," "9<sup>th</sup>-11<sup>th</sup> grades," "high school grad/GED or equivalent," "some college or AA degree," and "college graduate or above." Gender had a binary value and was defined as either "male" or "female."

NHANES researchers defined race/ethnicity as participants reporting themselves to be Mexican American, other Hispanic, non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, or other race/multiracial. Variables for race and ethnicity were not provided separately within the NHANES dataset. Instead, only one variable for combined race and ethnicity was made available within the NHANES datasets based on participants' self-reported race and ethnicity. Participants who identified themselves as "Mexican American" were categorized as such regardless of their other racial identities (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). Participants who otherwise identified themselves as "Hispanic" ethnicity were categorized as "other Hispanic" (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). All other non-Hispanic people were categorized according to their self-identified races, which included "non-Hispanic White," "Non-Hispanic Black," or "other race/multiracial" (CDC, 2015b; CDC, 2015c). For this study, the categories of "Mexican American" and "other Hispanic" were combined into a single category labeled as "Mexican or Hispanic" to align with the racial categories used to determine FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted values (Hankison et al., 1999).

I created three categories for smoking status, which include "nonsmoker," "current smoker," and "former smoker." Participants were assigned to a smoking status category based on their responses to two survey questions. The first question asked, "Have you smoked at least 100 cigarettes in your entire life?" The second question asked, "Do you now smoke cigarettes?" I defined nonsmokers as participants who smoked fewer than 100 cigarettes throughout their lifetime. Current smokers were defined as those participants who have smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and currently smoke every day or some days. Former smokers were defined as those participants who smoked at least 100 cigarettes throughout their lifetime and did not currently smoke at all.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

I performed all analyses for this study using the statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) version 21. I extracted and organized the data used in this study appropriately to create a complete dataset that included all variables required for analysis. Subsequently, I assessed the final dataset to ensure that all assumptions were met for each statistical procedure utilized to test the study hypotheses. These assumptions are discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.

#### **Dataset preparation**

The initial step in preparing the dataset required me to the download and extraction of the data files for all relevant variables from the 2007-2010 NHANES. I generated frequencies for all variables in the study to ensure the correct number of records was successfully obtained for each variable. The data for all study variables were reviewed to identify values that required recoding, such as those indicating a participant refused to answer a question, had missing data, did not know the answer. All values indicating a participant refused to answer the question or didn't know the answer were recoded as missing data. To confirm that the appropriate values were recoded, I generated frequencies again for all variables and compared them to the original NHANES data codebook to ensure the final record counts were accurate.

Data preparation for the independent variable, total daily flavonoid intake, initially entailed downloading the FIDFs from the USDA website. The FIDFs included a separate file for each 24-hour recall and I imported both files into SPSS. Next, I used SPSS to compute the mean of two total daily flavonoid intake observations from both 24hour dietary recalls. Subsequently, I adjusted the average total daily flavonoid intake values to account for total energy intake using the residual method (Willett & Stamphfer, 1986). Adjustment for total energy intake involved performing a linear regression with total energy intake as the independent variable and the average total daily flavonoid intake as the dependent variable. I saved the residual values from this linear regression in SPSS as the new energy-adjusted total daily flavonoid intake values. The residuals had a mean of zero and contain negative values. Therefore, I added a constant to the residuals to removed negative values and a natural log transformation was performed to improve normality in accordance with the residual method (Willett & Stamphfer, 1986).

Likewise, I created the dietary fiber intake variable in SPSS by averaging the dietary fiber intakes from both 24-hour dietary recalls. Subsequently, I adjusted the average dietary fiber intake values for total dietary intake using the residual method. Specifically, a linear regression was performed using total energy intake as the independent variable and dietary fiber intake as the dependent variable. I saved the residuals from this regression in SPSS as the energy-adjusted dietary fiber intake values. As with total daily flavonoid intake, I added a constant to the residuals to removed negative values. Subsequently, I performed a natural log transformation of the residual values to improve normality of the distribution.

I created the dependent study variable, COPD, in SPSS by coding the FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio values to reflect a diagnosis of COPD or not, according to the spirometric definition provided earlier. The dichotomous COPD variable was coded as "0" to indicate that a participant did not have COPD and "1" to indicate a participant had COPD. Upon creation of the new variable, I generated frequencies to ensure the correct number of records was available.

I combined three separate dichotomous variables to create the dependent variable for comorbidity burden. These three variables include cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension. Using SPSS, I summed the values for all three self-reported diseases to create a composite score for comorbidity burden for each participant. The composite score consisted of values ranging from "0" to "3." Each score corresponded to the number of comorbid diseases a participant had. A value of "0" indicate no comorbid disease was reported while a value of "1" indicates only one comorbid disease was reported. Likewise, a value of "2" indicates two comorbid diseases were reported and a value of "3" indicates all three comorbid diseases were reported. I categorized and labeled the composite scores as comorbidity burden level categories in SPSS. Scores of "0" and "1" were labeled as comorbidity burden "Level 0" and "Level 1" in SPSS, respectively. Those participants with a score of "3" were combined into the same category as those with a score of "2" because there were very few participants with scores of "3". Therefore, the final combined category was labeled as comorbidity burden "Level 2 and 3" in SPSS.

I computed the dependent variable for COPD severity, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, by exporting all relevant variables for all patients with COPD from SPSS into an Excel spreadsheet. The variables included gender, age, race, height, and post-bronchodilator FEV<sub>1</sub>. These characteristics were used to identify the FEV<sub>1</sub> for a person with comparable characteristics who does not have COPD. I calculated the FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted value by dividing the FEV<sub>1</sub> value by the predicted normal FEV<sub>1</sub> reference value for a person of similar age, gender, race, and height (Hankinson, Odencrantz, & Fedan, 1999). The normal FEV<sub>1</sub> reference values used as the denominator in COPD severity calculations were established using spirometric testing results from healthy participants in the NHANES 1988-1994 (Hankinson et al., 1999). I imported the FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted values into SPSS from Excel as the new continuous variable labeled FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted.

### **Descriptive Analysis**

I provide a summary and review of the data in Chapter 4 using descriptive statistics to characterize the sample population. I generated frequencies for all categorical variables, including annual income group, cardiovascular disease, COPD, diabetes, education, gender, hypertension, race/ethnicity, and smoking status. I also generated measures of central tendency and dispersion for all continuous variables, including age, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP, dietary fiber intake, and total daily flavonoid intake. These descriptive statistics serve to describe the basic features of the data in this study. I evaluated the symmetry of the distributions for continuous data to determine if they were normally distributed. Variables that failed to meet assumptions of normality for a given statistical procedure are discussed in further detail in Chapter 4.

#### **Bivariate Analysis**

I conducted bivariate analyses to test for associations between all individual variables. These bivariate analyses enabled the assessment of potential associations between variables that may impact statistical analyses. The outcome of these bivariate analyses determined which variables were relevant potential confounding variables to be included in multivariate analyses. Specifically, only those potential confounding variables found to have a statistically significant association with both the independent and dependent variables, defined as having a *p*-value of < .15, were included in multivariate analyses. Table 3 shows all bivariate statistical tests used to analyze possible associations between the dependent variables and potential confounding variables.

Likewise, Table 4 shows all bivariate statistical tests used to analyze possible associations between the independent variable and potential confounders.

# Table 3

Dependent variable		Comparison va		
	Level of		Level of	_
Name	measurement	Name	measurement	Statistical test
COPD	Dichotomous	Age	Interval	Independent t test
		Annual income group	Nominal	Chi-square
		BMI	Nominal	Chi-square
		Education level	Nominal	Chi-square
		Dietary fiber intake	Interval	Independent t test
		Gender	Dichotomous	Chi-square
		Race/ethnicity	Nominal	Chi-square
		Smoking status	Nominal	Chi-square
FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted	Interval	Age	Interval	Pearson correlation
1		Annual income group	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		BMI	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Dietary fiber intake	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Education level	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Gender	Dichotomous	Independent t test
		Race/ethnicity	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Smoking status	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
Comorbidity burden	Ordinal	Age	Interval	Spearman correlation
		Annual income group	Nominal	Chi-square
		BMI	Interval	Spearman correlation
		Dietary fiber intake	Interval	Spearman correlation
		Education level	Nominal	<sup>1</sup> Chi-square
		Gender	Dichotomous	Chi-square
		Race/ethnicity	Nominal	Chi-square
		Smoking status	Nominal	Chi-square
CRP	Interval	Age	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Annual income group	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		BMI	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Dietary fiber intake	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Education level	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Gender	Dichotomous	Independent t test
		Race/ethnicity	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Smoking status	Nominal	One-way ANOVA

Statistical Tests for Dependent and Potentially Confounding Variables

## Table 4

Varia	ble	Comparison variable		_
	Level of		Level of	-
Name	measurement	Name	measurement	Statistical test
Flavonoid intake	Interval	Age	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Annual income group	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		BMI	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Dietary fiber intake	Interval	Pearson correlation
		Education level	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Gender	Dichotomous	Independent t test
		Race/ethnicity	Nominal	One-way ANOVA
		Smoking status	Nominal	One-way ANOVA

Statistical Tests for Independent and Potentially Confounding Variables

# Analysis of Research Questions and Hypotheses

The statistical analyses utilized to test the hypotheses associated with the study research questions are described below. Study analyses were restricted to only those participants from whom spirometry values and two dietary recalls were obtained. Study procedures were selected according to the level of measurement for each of the variables included.

The first study research question and associated null and alternative hypotheses for this study included:

RQ1. What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD among adults?

 $H_01$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 1: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–

2010 NHANES, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

Two logistic regression models were used to test the null hypothesis for this research question. The first model consisted of a simple unadjusted logistic regression analysis between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD. The second model entailed utilizing a multiple logistic regression with total daily flavonoid intake and all relevant confounders as covariate predictors of COPD. Relevant confounding variables selected for inclusion in multivariate analysis were identified using bivariate analyses. Results from the multivariate analyses were interpreted according to *p*-values, odds ratios, and corresponding confidence intervals.

The second study research question and associated null and alternative hypotheses for this study included:

RQ2. What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD severity among adults?

 $H_02$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 2: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

Two linear regression models were used to test the null hypothesis for this research question. The first model consisted of a simple linear regression to analyze the potential association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. The second model consisted of a multivariate linear regression that included total daily flavonoid intake as the independent variable and all relevant confounders as covariate predictors of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. Relevant confounding variables selected for inclusion in multivariate analysis were identified using bivariate analyses. Results from the multivariate analyses were interpreted according to *p*-values, odds ratios, and corresponding confidence intervals.

The third study research question and test hypotheses that were explored in this study included:

RQ3. What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and Systemic inflammation among adults with COPD?

 $H_03$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 3: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

Two linear regression models were utilized to test the null hypothesis for this research question. The first model consisted of a simple linear regression with total daily flavonoid intake and CRP. The second model consisted of a multiple linear regression

that included total daily flavonoid intake and all relevant confounders as covariate predictors of CRP. Relevant confounding variables selected for inclusion in multivariate analysis were identified using bivariate analyses. Results from the multivariate analyses were interpreted according to  $\beta$ -values, *p*-values, and corresponding confidence intervals.

The fourth study research question and test hypotheses that were explored in this study included:

RQ4. What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adults with COPD?

 $H_0$ 4: There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 4: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010

NHANES with COPD, after adjusting for relevant confounders.

I planned to use two ordinal logistic regression models to test the null hypothesis for this research question. The first model entailed utilizing a simple ordinal logistic regression to test the association of the total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden. The second model consisted of utilizing a multiple ordinal logistic regression with total daily flavonoid intake as the independent variable along with all relevant confounders as covariates predictors of comorbidity burden. Relevant confounding variables selected for inclusion in multivariate analysis were identified using bivariate analyses. Results from the multivariate analyses were to be interpreted according to  $\beta$ -values, *p*-values, and

corresponding confidence intervals. However, due to sample size limitations among the subset of participants who had COPD, the use of logistic regression was not possible as compared with RQ1. The scope of RQ1 included all participants in analysis dataset. However, the scope of RQ4 was limited to testing the association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden only among the subset of participants with a COPD diagnosis. As such, there were an insufficient number of participants with COPD to achieve the desired statistical power to detect an odds ratio of 0.7-1.3, as described earlier. Therefore, I treated the variable for comorbidity burden as a nominal variable and tested the null hypothesis for this research question using a one-way ANOVA to explore the association with total daily flavonoid intake. Although a one-way ANOVA would not provide information on the predictive relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden, this statistical procedure did provide insight into the differences in total daily flavonoid intake across different comorbidity burden levels. Specifically, I performed the one-way ANOVA to determine whether any statistically significant differences were present between the total daily flavonoid intake means for each comorbidity burden group (Level 0, Level 1, and Level 2 and 3). The one-way ANOVA is an omnibus test and cannot indicate which group means are significantly different from each other. Therefore, I performed a Games-Howell post hoc analysis to identify the specific comorbidity burden level groups with significantly different means for total daily flavonoid intake.

#### **Threats to Validity**

The most significant threat to validity for this study was the limitation of the 24hour dietary recall to provide long-term dietary habits for each participant. While the 24hour dietary recall provides only short-term information, multiple administrations of 24hour dietary recalls are able to provide more accurate estimates of long-term dietary habits as compared to the FFQ (Carroll et al., 2012; Freedman, Schatzkin, Midthune, & Kipnis, 2011; Schatzkin et al., 2003; Shim, Oh, & Kim, 2014). Therefore, a key assumption for this study was that the participants' current diet was reflective of longterm dietary habits for fruit and vegetable intake spanning several decades. This assumption was supported by a study analyzing the changes in intake of fruits and vegetables and weight change among U.S. men and women participating in three prospective cohort studies who were followed for up to 24 years (Bertoia et al., 2015). Among 289,916 participants aged 25-75 the intake of fruits and vegetables from 1986 to 2010 remained relatively constant with minor changes exceeding no more than 0.1 and 0.2 servings per day of fruit and vegetables, respectively (Bertoia et al., 2015). Therefore, it was anticipated that the reported dietary intake based on the average of two 24-hour dietary recalls was sufficient to estimate long-term dietary habits with regard to fruit and vegetable intake.

Another limitation linked to the use of the 24-hour recall for this study was the limited ability to fully account for day-to-day or seasonal variation in dietary intake for each participant. In particular, data obtained from a single 24-hour recall cannot fully account for individual variations, and intake is usually shown to have a lower distribution

slope, as participants with true low intakes may report higher intake and the inverse may apply for those with true high intakes (Ramachandran, 2006). Statistical methods, such as the Iowa State University (ISU) adjustment procedure and the ISU food (ISUF) method, have been proposed to estimate the usual intake distribution from multiple 24-hour recalls (Guenther, Kott, & Carriquiry, 1997; Nusser, Carriquiry, Dodd, & Fuller, 1996; Nusser, Fuller, W. A., & Guenther, 1995). The basic aim of these methods is to estimate usual intake distribution for a group by partitioning total variation present in 24-hour recall data into within-person and between-person components and estimating usual intake distribution by accounting for within-person variation. However, estimates of usual individual intake derived from only two 24-hour recalls can be unreliable when using the ISU and ISUF statistical methods (Carriquiry, 2003; Dodd et al., 2006). For example, using aforementioned methods with only two 24-hour recalls would yield three possible consumption probabilities consisting of zero, one-half, and one, which would not provide a smooth distribution of expected intake probabilities (Dodd et al., 2006). Also, while the intermediary values calculated using these statistical procedures are derived from the means of each individual, the intermediary values are not appropriate estimates of usual individual intake (Dodd et al., 2006). Specifically, the intermediary values are solely used for describing the distribution of usual intake for the overall sample (Dodd et al., 2006). Therefore, the ISU and ISUF statistical methods were not appropriate for this study. This study required measures of food items reported by each individual in order to determine flavonoid intake for each participant. As such, using the average of the dietary information from two 24-hour recalls for each individual in this study was considered to

be the most practical approach. However, it is acknowledged that utilizing data from two 24-hour recalls from the 2007-2010 NHANES cannot fully account for the withinindividual variation for dietary intake.

Another potential threat to validity was recall bias because the data for key variables, such as total daily flavonoid intake and comorbid diseases, were reliant upon participant self-report. However, recall bias among participants was minimized for the independent variable given the short 24-hour period for recall, which is found to produce data that are far more accurate than long-term recall periods (Carroll et al., 2012; Freedman et al., 2011). Also, recall bias was further minimized through the use of two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls, which has been demonstrated to improve recall accuracy exceeding that which is achieved by the FFQ (Carroll et al., 2012; Freedman et al., 2011; Schatzkin et al., 2003). Recall bias related to participant self-reporting of comorbid diseases was expected to be minimal and with no impact to study results. Specifically, research has demonstrated that self-reporting diagnoses of COPD, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension have proven to be accurate reflections of true diagnoses as confirmed by medical records (Barr, Herbstman, Speizer, & Camargo, 2002; Okura, Urban, Mahoney, Jacobsen, & Rodeheffer, 2004; Schneider, Pankow, Heiss, & Selvin, 2012; Van der Heyden, De Bacquer, Tafforeau, & Van Herck, 2014). Therefore, recall bias was not anticipated to contribute to misclassification of comorbid diseases.

Temporal bias can also pose a threat to validity in cross-sectional studies. Temporal bias occurs when researchers incorrectly infer the sequence of occurrence for an exposure versus an outcome (Szklo & Nieto, 2014). A major limitation of crosssectional studies is the inability to establish causation, given the measurement of data at only one point in time (Szklo & Nieto, 2014). In this study, it was not be possible to determine if flavonoid intake caused COPD outcomes or if COPD outcomes caused changes in flavonoid intake. Therefore, the aim of this study was to identify any potential associations between independent and dependent variables rather than demonstrating causation through temporal inferences.

Another threat to validity was the selection of a study sample that was not representative of the population of interest. The external validity of a study is threatened if the characteristics of the subjects included in the study are not reflective of the population being investigated (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Specifically, a study lacking a representative sample will produce results that are specific only to the study sample and cannot be generalized to the broader population. As described earlier, the sample for this study was obtained using a complex, multistage, probability-sampling design to ensure it was representative of the national population of the United States (CDC, 2013b). Based on the sampling design for this study, the results were expected to be generalizable to the U.S. population. To ensure that this assumption held true, the demographics of the final study sample were compared to the broader U.S. population. The results of this assessment are provided in Chapter 4.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

There were no ethical concerns related to participant recruitment and data collection for this study. The NHANES datasets are freely available for public access, as

personal identifiers have been removed, and it is not possible to identify a participant by combining various parts of the data. Furthermore, the CDC adheres to all data privacy and confidentiality laws for the storage and protection of NHANES participant data. Such laws include the Public Health Service Act (42 USC 242k) and Section 308(d) of that law (42 USC 242m), the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 USC 552A), and the Confidential Information Protection and Statistical Efficiency Act (PL 107-347; CDC, 2015a). This study did not require the use of confidential or private participant data, and no additional sources were used in combination with NHANES data that could identify a specific participant.

To further ensure the ethical conduct of this study, this research did not proceed before review and approval by the Walden University Institutional Review Board. The data used in this study will be maintained for at least 5 years following completion of the study. To ensure the security of the study data, all data files were stored in a passwordprotected online cloud-based storage server.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

A cross-sectional study design supported the examination of associations between flavonoid intake and COPD-related outcomes. I used dietary, socioeconomic, demographic, and diagnostic data from the 2007-2010 NHANES and flavonoid data from the USDA to assess the previously mentioned associations among study participants from these iterations of the NHANES. The data collection instruments and methods of administration used in the collection of data during the 2007-2010 NHANES minimized potential threats to validity. In Chapter 4, I provide an overview of the study results. I will also characterize the study population and data using descriptive statistics. Additionally, I will describe the statistical analyses conducted to address each the hypotheses for each research question and present the relevant findings.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to explore the potential association between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden among U.S. adults aged 30 years and older. This chapter includes the results from the statistical analyses of data from the 2007–2010 NHANES and the USDA Flavonoid Databases that I used to address the study research questions. As such, the chapter includes a description of the methods I used to create the final study dataset, the rationale for the manipulations and modifications I made to the data, an overview of descriptive statistics for study cases, and a review of findings from bivariate analyses and multivariate analyses. This chapter ends with a summary of statistical results related to each research question.

The initial study design included participant self-reported diagnosis of COPD and COPD severity categorized into stages according to the GOLD criteria. However, I changed the study design to include a spirometry diagnosis of COPD to classify participants as having COPD or not, because diagnostic measures are more reliable than participant recall. Additionally, COPD severity changed from a categorical measure of the percentage of the predicted FEV<sub>1</sub> value (FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted) to a continuous measure of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. Given the modifications to the operational definition of the study variable for COPD and COPD severity, it was necessary to slightly update the research questions and associated hypotheses accordingly. The research questions and hypotheses for this study were as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD among adults?

 $H_01$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 1: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and spirometry-diagnosed COPD among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders.

RQ2: What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD severity among adults?

 $H_02$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_12$ : There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES after adjusting for relevant confounders.

RQ3: What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and systemic inflammation among adults with COPD?

 $H_03$ : There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.  $H_1$ 3: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and the CRP serum levels among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

RQ4: What is the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adults with COPD?

 $H_{\Omega}$ 4: There is no statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

 $H_1$ 4: There is a statistically significant association between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden among adult participants of the 2007–2010 NHANES with COPD after adjusting for relevant confounders.

#### **Dataset Preparation**

This study received approval from the Walden University IRB (#10-04-16-0370817) prior to the collection of any data for analysis. Following IRB approval, I he downloaded and compiled datasets from the 2007-2010 NHANES. Obtaining the flavonoid intake data involved downloading the publicly available USDA FIDFs for the dietary component of the 2007–2010 NHANES (USDA, 2016). Analysts at the USDA compiled these intake files using the methods outlined in Chapter 3, which entailed applying the flavonoid values found in the flavonoid databases to the participant selfreported 24-hour dietary recall information from the 2007–2010 NHANES. The flavonoid intake data from the USDA FIDFs and the prepared 2007–2010 NHANES dataset formed a complete dataset for the study, as described in Chapter 3. The initial combined 2007-2010 NHANES study dataset included 20,686 participants, which consisted of 10,149 from the 2007-2008 NHANES dataset and 10,537 from the 2009-2010 NHANES dataset. As shown in Figure 2, my removal of cases according to the exclusion criteria for this study reduced the study sample size to 5,172 to address RQ1. The sample was further restricted to 5.2% of participants (n = 270) who had a spirometry-confirmed diagnosis of COPD to address RQ2, RQ3, and RQ4.



Figure 2. Cases available for analysis after applying exclusion criteria.

### Adjustments to Study Data

I made several adjustments to the dataset after it was downloaded and reviewed. These changes included redefining COPD diagnosis, transforming the CRP variable, and removing annual income from study analyses. These adjustments were necessary to minimize potential misclassification, meet statistical assumptions, and address missing data.

For this study, I initially defined the diagnosis of COPD as a self-reporting of COPD by participants. However, the diagnosis of COPD based on diagnostic measures, such as spirometry, is more accurate than self-reported data because self-reported diagnoses often result in underreporting COPD (Murgia et al., 2014; Rycroft, Heyes, Lanza, & Becker, 2012). A cross-tabulation of the study dataset with participant selfreported COPD against COPD diagnoses based on spirometry showed that 169 participants incorrectly self-reported that they had COPD when they did not, and 251 participants incorrectly self-reported that they did not have COPD when they did. Therefore, I changed the definition of COPD diagnosis for this study from participant self-reporting of COPD diagnosis to spirometry-diagnosed COPD to strengthen the internal validity of the study. The diagnosis of COPD in this study was based on pre- and post-bronchodilator spirometry values obtained during the 2007–2010 NHANES. Therefore, participants must have performed spirometry in order to be included in this study. Participants were classified as having COPD based on post-bronchodilator FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio values according to the GOLD criteria, as described in Chapter 3.

The data for the CRP variable were right-skewed with steep kurtosis and did not meet the assumption of normality to address RQ3. The skewness and kurtosis values for the CRP variable were 6.25 and 46.11, respectively. Therefore, I performed a natural log transformation of the CRP variable to improve normality prior to performing linear regression analysis for RQ3. Following the natural log transformation, the normality of the data for CRP improved considerably, with the new values for skewness and kurtosis reflected as 0.536 and 0.341, respectively.

I used a missing values analysis to assess the quantity and nature of missing values among the 5,172 cases in the dataset, which led to a determination that the variable for annual income had the highest frequency of missing data, which affected 190 cases. Because it is well documented that those with high income often do not report their annual income (Hurst & Pugsley, 2014; Moore & Welniak, 2000; Turrell, 2000), this variable could have been a source of error when conducting study analyses. My final decision was to remove the annual income group variable from the study analyses. The removal of annual income group likely did not limit the ability to incorporate the measure of socioeconomic status in multivariate analyses because the variable for education level served as a surrogate measure for annual income.

#### **Descriptive Characteristics**

I conducted univariate analyses to generate descriptive statistics for all participants in the study sample. The 4-year MEC sample weight was applied to the means and percentages for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Most participants in this study were females (n = 2,646) and consisted of 50.9% of the study sample, while males accounted for 49.1% (n = 2,526). The average age of all participants was 49.9 (SD = 12.4) years old. Those identifying as non-Hispanic White were the largest racial segment of the study population and accounted for 72.2% (n = 2,494), followed by those identifying as Mexican or Hispanic at 12.9% (n = 1,551). Most participants were nonsmokers and accounted for 56.4% (n = 2,863) of this group. Former smokers

consisted of 26.2% (n = 1,228) of participants, and current smokers accounted for 17.4% (n = 973).

To assess if the study sample was representative of the general noninstitutionalized U.S. population, I compared the demographic proportions for the study sample against published data from the U.S. Census Bureau. While it was not possible to conduct statistical comparisons, the study sample appeared to reflect the general civilian non-institutionalized U.S. population. For example, among the general civilian noninstitutionalized U.S. population, 72.4%, 12.6%, 16.3%, and 9.1%, of people identify themselves as non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, and other races or multiracial, respectively (U.S. Census Bureau, 2011). These proportions aligned well with those of the participants in this study, with the exception of those who identified as Hispanic and other races or multiracial. People identified as Hispanic and other races or multiracial appeared to be slightly underrepresented by approximately 4% in this study, compared to the general U.S. population. The proportion of males and females in this study was also was similar to that of the U.S. non-institutionalized civilian population, which consisted of 49.2% males and 50.8% females (U.S. Census Bureau, 2011). Likewise, the proportion of current smokers in this study was similar to that of the general U.S. population, which is 19.3% (CDC, 2012b). Within the general U.S. noninstitutionalized population, the percentage of people who have attained the educational level of less than 9th grade, 9th-11th grade, high school grad/GED or equivalent, some college or AA degree, and college graduate or above is 5.2%, 7.6%, 31.2%, 26%, and 29.9%, respectively (U.S. Census Bureau, 2011). In this study, those achieving an

education level of 9<sup>th</sup>-11<sup>th</sup> grade were overrepresented by 3.6%, while those with an education level of high school grad/GED or equivalent were underrepresented by approximately 8%. Despite slight discrepancies in education level, the proportional distributions in this study align with that of the broader U.S. population. Likewise, as shown in Table 5, the demographic parameters for the group of participants without COPD closely resembled that of the overall sample population.

The group of participants with a spirometry-confirmed diagnosis of COPD consisted of 270 participants, which reflected a prevalence of 5.2%. The COPD prevalence among participants in this study was representative of the national COPD prevalence because 5% of U.S. adults are reported to have a diagnosis of COPD (CDC, 2016). The majority of the participants with COPD were males (70.7%, n = 200), and females accounted for 29.3% (n = 70). The average age of participants in the COPD group was 58.6 (SD = 10.7) years old. Nonsmokers made up the minority of participants in the COPD subset at 24.8% (n = 59), while former smokers and current smokers accounted for the majority at 40.2% (n = 108) and 35.1% (n = 103), respectively. Table 5 includes more detailed information on the distribution of demographic variables for the COPD group.

# Table 5

|--|

	Participant groups			
Variable	All	Non-COPD	COPD	<i>p</i> -value
	N = 5,172	<i>n</i> = 4,902	n = 270	•
Age (years)				
Mean $\pm$ SD	$49.9 \pm 12.4$	$49.4 \pm 12.3$	$58.6 \pm 10.7$	< .001
Min-max	30-79	30-79	30-79	
BMI				
Mean $\pm$ SD	29.1 ±6.4	$29.2 \pm 6.5$	27.1 ±4.8	< .001
Min-max	13.2-81.3	14.2-81.3	13.2-46.2	
Education level (frequency [%])				< .001
Less than 9 <sup>th</sup> grade	613 (5.7)	593 (5.8)	20 (3.6)	
9-11 <sup>th</sup> grade	786 (11.2)	741 (11.2)	45 (11.9)	
High school grad/GED or	1174 (23)	1094 (22.6)	80 (30.2)	
equivalent				
Some college or AA degree	1400 (28.6)	1326 (28.6)	74 (28.7)	
College graduate or above	1192 (31.4)	1141 (31.8)	51 (25.7)	
Gender (frequency [%])				< .001
Male	2526 (49.1)	2325 (47.8)	200 (70.7)	
Female	2646 (50.9)	2576 (52.2)	70 (29.3)	
Race/Ethnicity (frequency [%])				< .001
Non-Hispanic White	2494 (72.2)	2300 (71.3)	194 (87.4)	
Non-Hispanic Black	944 (10)	905 (10.2)	39 (5.9)	
Mexican or Hispanic	1551 (12.9)	1521 (13.5)	30 (2.9)	
Other race or multiracial	183 (4.9)	176 (4.9)	7 (3.8)	
Smoking status (frequency [%])				< .001
Nonsmoker	2863 (56.4)	2804 (58.2)	59 (24.8)	
Former smoker	1336 (26.2)	1228 (25.4)	108 (40.2)	
Current smoker	973 (17.4)	870 (16.4)	103 (35.1)	

Note. Totals will vary due to missing data for some variables.

To illustrate the dietary distribution for the sample, descriptive statistics for total daily flavonoid intake and dietary fiber intake are shown in Table 6 for all participants and among those with and without COPD. Table 6 includes weighted mean intake values, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values to demonstrate the full scope of dietary variance for all cases and among those with and without COPD. The mean daily flavonoid and dietary fiber intake for all participants in the study sample was 249.3 mg/day and 17.6 g/day, respectively. Among participants with COPD, the mean daily flavonoid and dietary fiber intake was 238.1 mg/day and 17.9 g/day. The data shown in Table 6 indicate that the flavonoid and dietary fiber intake among participants who did not have COPD.

Table 6

		Participant groups			
	All	Non-COPD	COPD	<i>p</i> -value	
Variable	(N = 5, 172)	( <i>n</i> =4,902)	(n = 270)		
Flavonoid intake (mg)					
Mean $\pm$ SD	$249.3 \pm 393.8$	$249.9 \pm 395.2$	$238.1 \pm 369.7$	< .001	
Min-max	.08-4938.60	.08-4938.60	1.0-4321.86		
Dietary fiber intake (g)					
Mean $\pm$ SD	$17.6 \pm 8.7$	$17.6 \pm 8.7$	$17.9 \pm 9.1$	< .001	
Min-max	.40-73.8	.40-73.8	2.3-64.2		

Total Daily Flavonoid and Dietary Fiber Intake Data

The main health outcome variables I assessed among participants with COPD included FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP, and comorbidity burden. Therefore, descriptive statistics were generated to assess the distribution of these data within the COPD group. Table 7 shows frequencies and weighted percentages for comorbidity burden and values for measures of distribution for FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and CRP. As shown in Table 7, the majority of participants (61.9%) in the COPD group had no comorbid diseases of interest in this study, while the rest of the participants (38.1%) in the COPD group had at least one comorbid disease.

Table 7

Comorbidity .	Burden,	CRP,	and FEV1% Predicted Data
2	,		

		Part	icipant groups	
	All	Non-COPD	COPD	<i>p</i> -value
Variable	(N = 5, 172)	( <i>n</i> =4,902)	(n = 270)	
Comorbidity burden (frequency [%])				< .001
Level 0	3,158 (65.5%)	3,003 (65.7%)	155 (61.9%)	
Level 1	1,437 (26.6%)	1,358 (26.4%)	79 (29.4%)	
Level 2-3	577 (7.9%)	541 (7.9%)	36 (8.6%)	
CRP (mg/dL)				
Mean $\pm$ SD	$.36 \pm .69$	$.36 \pm .69$	$.35 \pm .77$	< .001
Min-max	.01-18.01	.01-18.01	.01-6.73	
FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted				
Mean $\pm$ SD	$.90 \pm .15$	$.94 \pm .12$	$.87 \pm .16$	< .001
Min-max	.30-1.29	.5-1.29	.30-1.29	

Descriptive statistics were generated to further explore the distribution of demographic parameters across comorbidity burden levels within the COPD group. As seen in Table 8, the average age of participants within each comorbidity burden level is higher for groups with a greater number of comorbid diseases. Specifically, the mean age among participants in comorbidity burden Level 0, Level 1, and Level 2-3 was found to be 55.4, 61.5, and 71.1 years old, respectively. Additional details regarding the distribution of other demographic parameters across comorbidity burden levels are shown in Table 8. Results related to the statistical significance of associations between each outcome variable and demographic parameters are presented in a review of bivariate analyses in the following section below.

# Table 8

	Comorbidity burden levels					
	Level 0	Level 1	Level 2-3	Spearman	χ2	<i>p</i> -
Variable	( <i>n</i> = 155)	(n = 79)	(n = 36)	r	(df)	value
Age (years)						
Mean $\pm$ SD	$55.4 \pm 9.2$	$61.5 \pm 11.1$	$71.1 \pm 5.1$	.418		< .001
Min-max	30-79	33-79	59-79			
BMI						
Mean $\pm$ SD	$26.3 \pm 4.5$	$28.0 \pm 4.7$	$28.4 \pm 4.7$	.201		< .001
Min-max	13.2-40.8	18.2-45.2	20.4-42.6			
Dietary fiber intake						
(g)						
Mean $\pm$ SD	$18.22 \pm 9.6$	$17.9 \pm 8.4$	$15.9 \pm 7.7$	054		< .001
Min-max	2.3-64.2	2.6-41.1	2.4-33.1			
Education level					1647662.10	< .001
(frequency [%])					(8)	
Less than 9 <sup>th</sup>	11 (2.8)	4 (3.6)	4 (8.3)			
grade						
9-11 <sup>th</sup> grade	22 (8.3)	14 (15.0)	8 (26.5)			
High school	47 (33.7)	24 (24.5)	9 (28.3)			
grad/GED or						
equivalent						
Some college or	46 (30.7)	20 (27.1)	6 (15.1)			
AA degree						
College graduate	29 (24.6)	17 (29.8)	4 (21.8)			
or above					140660 06	0.01
Gender (frequency					140662.86	< .001
[%]) Mala	110 (72.5)	55((5,1))	24(745)		(2)	
Male	118(73.5)	55(65.1)	24 (74.5)			
Female Reco/Ethnicity	37 (20.5)	24 (34.9)	7 (25.5)		1557001 70	< 001
(frequency [%])					(6)	< .001
(frequency [76])	112 (87.6)	57 (88 8)	23 (82 8)		(0)	
White	112 (87.0)	57 (88.8)	23 (82.8)			
Non-Hispanic	18 (4 8)	14(70)	5(75)			
Black	10 (4.0)	14 (7.0)	5 (7.5)			
Mexican or	21 (3 4)	6(18)	2(2,7)			
Hispanic	-1 (0.1)	0 (1.0)	= (=)			
Other race or	4 (4.2)	2 (2.4)	1 (7.0)			
multiracial			()			
Smoking status					1415077.50	< .001
(frequency [%])					(4)	
Nonsmoker	33 (23.8)	18 (27.7)	7 (24.5)			
Former smoker	54 (37.1)	37 (43.7)	15 (49.5)			
Current smoker	68 (39.1)	24 (28.6)	9 (26.1)			

# Demographic Data Across Comorbidity Burden Levels

Note. Level 0 = no comorbid diseases, Level 1 = one comorbid disease, Level 2-3 = two or three comorbid diseases. Totals will vary due to missing data for some variables.

#### **Bivariate Analyses**

I performed bivariate analyses between all potential confounding variables and each dependent variable for the study. I also performed bivariate analyses between all potential confounding variables and the independent variable for the study. As noted in Chapter 3, these bivariate analyses helped to determine if any potential confounding variables were significantly associated with both the independent and the dependent variables. All bivariate analyses involved using the 4-year MEC exam weight variable for the 2007-2010 NHANES dataset.

Bivariate statistical procedures included chi-square tests, independent *t* tests, oneway ANOVAs, Pearson correlations, and Spearman correlations. The assumptions for bivariate statistical analysis included random sampling from the population and independence of scores on variables between cases (Green & Salkind, 2011). Additional assumptions for chi-square included no expected empty cells, and independent *t* tests and ANOVAs also require normal distribution of data and homogeneity of variance (Green & Salkind, 2011). Results indicated variances might be unequal, which violated Levene's tests for homogeneity. However, Levene's test is sensitive to large sample sizes and identifies inconsequential differences in variances, and these statistical procedures show robustness even when the assumption is violated (Field, 2013; Green & Salkind, 2011; Lumley, Diehr, Emerson, & Chen, 2002). Therefore, I determined that proceeding with bivariate statistical procedures was acceptable.

# **Assessment of Potential Confounding Variables**

I assessed all potential confounding variables to determine if they were significantly associated with the independent variable (flavonoid intake) and the dependent variables (COPD, comorbidity burden, CRP and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted). I assessed associations between the potential confounding variables and COPD first. Next, I performed chi-square tests to assess the association between potential confounding categorical variables and COPD. All potential confounding categorical variables were significantly (p < .001) associated with COPD. I performed independent samples *t*-tests to determine the association between potential confounding continuous variables and COPD. The mean differences between participants with COPD and those without COPD were statistically significant (p < .001) for all potential confounding continuous variables. The details of these findings are presented in Table 5 and Table 6.

Next, I assessed the association between FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and potential confounding variables using one-way ANOVAs and an independent samples *t*-test. Oneway ANOVAs were suitable to test the association between FEV1% predicted and potential confounding nominal variables with three or more categories. As shown in Table 9, results from the one-way ANOVAs indicated that education level, race/ethnicity, and smoking status were significantly (p < .001) associated with FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. Additionally, results of the independent samples *t*-test indicated that gender was also significantly (p < .001) associated with FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted.
## Table 9

Potential confounding variable	Pearson r	Mean (SD)	Welch's F (dfl, df2)	<i>t</i> -test value ( <i>df</i> )	<i>p</i> -value
Age	079		(19-, 19-)	(9)	<.001
BMI	043				<.001
Dietary fiber intake	.164				< .001
Education level			94450.17		< .001
			(4, 2263483)		
Less than 9th grade		.90 (.14)			
9-11th grade		.87 (.19)			
High school grad/GED or		.88 (.16)			
equivalent					
Some college or AA degree		.90 (.15)			
College graduate or above		.94 (.12)			
Gender				157.51	< .001
				(8483173)	
Male		.90 (.15)			
Female		.89 (.14)			
Race/ethnicity			69515.30		< .001
			(3, 975017)		
Non-Hispanic White		.90 (.15)			
Non-Hispanic Black		.87 (.15)			
Mexican or Hispanic		.95 (.14)			
Other race or multiracial		.98 (.15)			
Smoking status			537640.08		< .001
			(2, 6391513)		
Nonsmoker		.95 (.11)			
Former smoker		.90 (.15)			
Current smoker		.84 (.16)			

### *FEV*<sub>1</sub>% *Predicted and Potential Confounding Variables*

*Note*. N = 1572.

I assessed the association between CRP and potential confounding variables using Pearson correlation tests, one-way ANOVAs, and an independent samples *t*-test. As shown in Table 10, results of the one-way ANOVAs indicated education level, race/ethnicity, and smoking status were significantly (p < .001) associated with CRP. Pearson correlation tests served to determine the association between potential confounding continuous variables and CRP. As seen in Table 10, results from the Pearson correlations indicated that age, BMI, and dietary fiber intake were significantly (p < .001) associated with CRP. Likewise, results from the independent samples *t*-test indicated that gender was significantly (p < .001) associated with CRP as well.

## Table 10

.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)	166761.18 (4, 25922321)		< .001 < .001 < .001 < .001
.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)	166761.18 (4, 25922321)		< .001 < .001 < .001
.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)	166761.18 (4, 25922321)		< .001 < .001
.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)	166761.18 (4, 25922321)		< .001
.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)	(4, 25922321)		
.47 (.81) .45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)			
.45 (.91) .38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)			
.38 (.71) .37 (.68) .29 (.56)			
.37 (.68) .29 (.56)			
.37 (.68) .29 (.56)			
.29 (.56)			
.29 (.56)			
		816.05	< .001
		(96771400)	
.30 (.69)			
.42 (.69)			
	172719.89		< .001
	(3, 13746286)		
.33 (.63)			
.55 (.99)			
.40 (.71)			
.27 (.70)			
	88497.75		< .001
	(2, 36642223)		
.34 (.62)			
.37 (.70)			
43(87)			
	.33 (.63) .55 (.99) .40 (.71) .27 (.70) .34 (.62) .37 (.70) .43 (.87)	.35 (.03) .55 (.99) .40 (.71) .27 (.70) .88497.75 (2, 36642223) .34 (.62) .37 (.70) .43 (.87)	.35 (.03) .55 (.99) .40 (.71) .27 (.70) 88497.75 (2, 36642223) .34 (.62) .37 (.70) .43 (.87)

# CRP and Potential Confounding Variables

Spearman correlation tests served to determine the association between potential confounding continuous variables and comorbidity burden. As seen in Table 8, results from the Spearman correlation tests indicated that age, BMI, and dietary fiber intake were significantly (p < .001) associated with comorbidity burden. I used chi-square tests to determine if a significant association was present between comorbidity burden and gender, education level, race/ethnicity, and smoking status. As shown in Table 8, results indicated that these variables were also significantly associated with comorbidity burden.

I assessed the association between total daily flavonoid intake and potential confounding variables using Pearson correlation tests, one-way ANOVAs, and an independent samples *t*-test. As shown in Table 11, education level, race/ethnicity, and smoking status were significantly (p < .001) associated with total daily flavonoid intake. Pearson correlation tests served to determine the association between potential confounding continuous variables and total daily flavonoid intake. As seen in Table 11, age, BMI, and dietary fiber intake were also significantly (p < .001) associated with total daily flavonoid intake total daily flavonoid intake. Additionally, results from the independent samples *t*-test indicated that gender was significantly (p < .001) associated with total daily flavonoid intake as well.

The results from all bivariate statistical procedures related to potential confounding variables indicated that all potential confounding variables were significantly associated with the independent variable and all dependent variables. The associations were statistically significant below the threshold of p < .15 for inclusion of

the confounding variables in multivariate analyses for hypothesis testing. Therefore, the confounding variables qualified for inclusion in multivariate analyses.

## Table 11

Potential confounding variable	Pearson r	Mean (SD)	Welch's $F$ ( $dfl$ , $df2$ )	<i>t</i> -test value ( <i>df</i> )	<i>p</i> -value
Age	.027		(19-, 19-)	(19)	< .001
BMI	- 026				< 001
Dietary fiber intake	.097				< .001
Education level	,		512678 71		< 001
			(4, 30369183)		
Less than 9th grade		128.0 (234.1)	(1,2020)		
9-11th grade		224 2 (412 9)			
High school grad/GED		217.8 (362.1)			
or equivalent					
Some college or AA		256 4 (409 8)			
degree					
College graduate or		297.6 (410.2)			
above					
Gender				158.77	<.001
				(97480558)	
Male		242.9 (416.3)		· · · ·	
Female		255.4 (370.8)			
Race/ethnicity		( )	984577.40		<.001
5			(3, 16216058)		
Non-Hispanic White		268.6 (417.6)	())		
Non-Hispanic Black		187.2 (294.4)			
Mexican or Hispanic		143.5 (235.5)			
Other race or multiracial		369.1 (464.1)			
Smoking status		· · · ·	28550.53		< .001
C			(2, 39731233)		
Nonsmoker		253.8 (378.1)			
Former smoker		234.8 (341.1)			
Current smoker		256.3 (502.1)			
Note $N = 1572$		230.3 (302.1)			

# Flavonoid Intake and Potentially Confounding Variables

*Note*. N = 1572.

#### **Multivariate Analyses**

Before proceeding with multivariate testing, I assessed total daily flavonoid intake and all confounding variables for collinearity using linear regression testing. The intent of the regression was to assess the collinearity statistics for tolerance and variance inflation factors (VIFs) for each variable. The utility of tolerance and VIF can be described using  $R_i^2$ , which is used to represent the proportion of variance for the *i*th independent variable in relation to the other independent variables (Belsley, Kuh, & Welsch, 2005; O'Brien, 2007). As such, the tolerance for each independent variable is determined by subtracting one from the proportion of variance shared with the other independent variables and is represented mathematically as  $1-R_i^2$ . The resulting tolerance value is the proportion of variance for each independent variable that is unrelated to the other independent variables (Belsley et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2007). VIF is represented as  $1/(1-R_i^2)$  because it is the reciprocal of tolerance (Belsley et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2007). Therefore, VIF is an indicator of the degree to which the estimated variance would be for the *i*th regression coefficient if the proportion of variance for the *i*th independent variable associated with the other independent variables was equal to zero (Belslev et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2007). More specifically, VIF indicates the inflation in the standard error of a given beta weight for a particular predictor variable that is attributable to collinearity. Taken together, tolerance and VIF provide a reasonable indication of collinearity among independent variables, with values greater than 10 for VIF or lower than .01 for tolerance indicating unacceptable degrees of collinearity (Belsley, 1991; Belsley et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2007; Hair, Anderson, Tatham, & Black, 1995; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001). As shown in Table

12, all variables were below the threshold of concern for collinearity, with values greater than .01 for tolerance and less than 10 for VIF. Therefore, I included all predictor variables in the planned multivariate analyses, which included linear regression and logistic regression. All multivariate analyses included the 4-year MEC exam weight variable for the 2007-2010 NHANES dataset.

Table 12

Collinearity Statistics

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
BMI	.938	1.066
Dietary fiber intake	.859	1.165
Education level		
9-11th grade	.335	2.981
High school grad/GED or equivalent	.214	4.677
Some college or AA degree	.186	5.372
College graduate or above	.166	6.039
Total daily flavonoid intake	.946	1.057
Gender	.952	1.051
Race/ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic Black	.920	1.087
Mexican or Hispanic	.787	1.270
Other race or multiracial	.961	1.041
Smoking status		
Former smoker	.899	1.112
Current smoker	.799	1.252

*Note*. VIF = variance inflation factor.

### **RQ1** Results

Testing the null hypothesis for RQ1 involved running two logistic regression models to assess the potential relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and an outcome of COPD. Model 1 consisted of conducting a simple logistic regression to investigate if total daily flavonoid intake was a significant predictor of COPD. This model explained little of the variance in COPD (Nagelkerke  $R^2$  = .0003), but correctly classified 94.5% of cases. Total daily flavonoid intake was a statistically significant (p < .001) predictor of COPD in the logistic regression analysis. Results presented in Table 13 indicate that for every 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake, there was a 7.1% decrease (Exp [ $\beta$ ] = 0.929, 95% CI [0.928, 0.930]) in the odds of having COPD.

Table 13

Model and predictors	$\chi^2(df)$	$R^2$	β (SE)	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Model 1	107320.35 (8)	.0003			< .001
Total flavonoid intake			074 (.001)	.929 (.928, .93)	<.001
Model 2	342302.12 (8)	.2276			
Total flavonoid intake			061 (.001)	.941 (.940, .943)	<.001
Age			.072 (< .001)	1.075 (1.075, 1.075)	<.001
BMI			071 (< .001)	.931 (.930, .931)	<.001
Dietary fiber intake			.188 (.002)	1.207 (1.202, 1.211)	<.001
Education level					
Less than 9th grade			Ref.		
9-11th grade			.441 (.003)	1.554 (1.545, 1.562)	<.001
High school grad/GED or			.749 (.003)	2.116 (2.105, 2.127)	<.001
equivalent					
Some college or AA degree			536 (.003).	1.710 (1.701, .719)	<.001
College graduate or above			.335 (.003)	1.398 (1.390, 1.405)	<.001
Gender					
Female			Ref.		
Male			1.027 (.001)	2.794 (2.788, 2.80)	<.001
Race/ethnicity					
Non-Hispanic White			Ref.		
Non-Hispanic Black			712 (.002)	.491 (.489, .493)	<.001
Mexican or Hispanic			-1.287 (.003)	.276 (.275, .278)	<.001
Other Race or multiracial			248 (.002)	.781 (.777, .784)	<.001
Smoking status					
Nonsmoker			Ref.		
Former smoker			.949 (.001)	2.584 (2.578, 2.590)	<.001
Current smoker			1.925(.001)	6.855 (6.837, 6.873)	<.001
Note $N = 270$					

Logistic Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and COPD

*Note.* N = 270.

Model 2 consisted of conducting a multiple logistic regression to control for confounding variables. Therefore, Model 2 was adjusted for potential confounding variables as previously described. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit was significant (p < .05), which indicated that the model fit may not be ideal and the

interpretation should include some degree of caution. Results presented in Table 13 show that total daily flavonoid intake and all confounding predictor variables were statistically significant (p < .001) predictors of COPD. While controlling for all confounding variables in the logistic regression model, a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake resulted in a 5.9% decrease (Exp [ $\beta$ ] = 0.941, 95% CI [0.940, 0.943]) in the odds of having COPD. Based on the results of both logistic regression models, the null hypothesis for RQ1 was rejected.

## **RQ2** Results

Analysis involved generating two linear regression models to investigate RQ2. Model 1 consisted of conducting a simple linear regression to investigate the potential relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. As shown in Table 14, total daily flavonoid intake was significantly associated with COPD severity ( $\beta$  = .013, 95% CI [.013, .013], *p* < .001), such that for every 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake, the FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted increased by .00013. However, the model explained little of the variability ( $R^2$  = .002).

Model 2 involved conducting a multiple linear regression to control for confounding variables. Therefore, Model 2 was adjusted for potential confounding variables as previously described. Results presented in Table 14 show that total daily flavonoid intake and all confounding predictor variables were statistically significant (p <.001) predictors of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. The regression coefficient ( $\beta = .001$ , 95% CI [.001, .002], p < .001) associated with total daily flavonoid intake suggests that FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted increases by .00001 for every 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake. While statistically significant, this regression coefficient was lower than that found in Model 1, which indicates a reduction in the utility of total daily flavonoid intake as a predictor of FEV1% predicted. Based on the results of both linear regression models, the null hypothesis for RQ2 was rejected.

Table 14

Model and predictors	$R^2$	B (SE)	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Model 1	.002			
Total flavonoid intake		.013 (< .001)	.013, .013	< .001
Model 2	.214			
Total flavonoid intake		.001 (< .001)	.001, .002	< .001
Age		.0003 (< .001)	.0003, .0003	< .001
BMI		002 (< .001)	002,002	< .001
Dietary fiber intake		.087 (< .001)	.086, .087	< .001
Education level				
Less than 9 <sup>th</sup> Grade		Ref.		
9-11 <sup>th</sup> Grade		011 (< .001)	012,010	< .001
High school grad/GED or equivalent		.007 (< .001)	.006, .007	< .001
Some college or AA degree		.044 (< .001)	.043, .044	< .001
College graduate or above		.064 (< .001)	.043, .044	< .001
Gender				
Female		Ref.		
Male		.047 (< .001)	.047, .047	< .001
Race/ethnicity				
Non-Hispanic White		Ref.		
Non-Hispanic Black		003 (< .001)	004,003	< .001
Mexican or Hispanic		.024 (< .001)	.024, .025	< .001
Other race or multiracial		.024 (< .001)	.023, .025	< .001
Smoking status				
Nonsmoker		Ref.		
Former smoker		068 (< .001)	068,068	<.001
Current smoker		125 (< .001)	126,125	< .001

Linear Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and FEV1% Predicted

*Note*. N = 270.

## **RQ3 Results**

Analysis also involved generating two linear regression models to investigate RQ3. Model 1 consisted of conducting a simple linear regression to investigate the

potential relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP. Results presented in Table 15 show that total daily flavonoid intake was statistically significant ( $\beta$  = .036, 95% CI [.034, .038], *p* < .001) and indicated that a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake results in a 0.036% increase in CRP. However, the model explained little of the variability ( $R^2$  = .0003).

Table 15

Model and predictors	$R^2$	B (SE)	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Model 1	.0003			
Total flavonoid intake		.036 (.001)	.034, .038	< .001
Model 2	.186			
Total flavonoid intake		076 (.001)	078,074	< .001
Age		.012 (< .001)	.012, .012	< .001
BMI		.085 (< .001	.085, .085	< .001
Dietary fiber intake		042 (.002)	046,039	< .001
Education level				
Less than 9th grade		Ref.		
9-11th grade		178 (.003)	183,172	< .001
High school grad/GED or equivalent		626 (.003)	631,621	< .001
Some college or AA degree		600 (.003)	605,594	< .001
College graduate or above		568 (.003)	574,563	< .001
Gender				
Female		Ref.		
Male		256 (.001)	258,254	< .001
Race/ethnicity				
Non-Hispanic White		Ref.		
Non-Hispanic Black		.225 (.002)	.221, .229	< .001
Mexican or Hispanic		.106 (.003)	.101, .111	< .001
Other race or multiracial		299 (.002)	304,294	< .001
Smoking status				
Nonsmoker		Ref.		
Former smoker		.147 (.001)	.144, .149	< .001
Current smoker		.526 (.001)	.523, .529	< .001

Linear Regressions for Total Flavonoid Intake and CRP

Note. N = 270.

Model 2 consisted of conducting a multiple linear regression to control for confounding variables. Therefore, Model 2 was adjusted for potential confounding

variables as previously described. Results presented in Table 15 show that total daily flavonoid intake and all confounding predictor variables were statistically significant (p < .001) predictors of CRP. The regression coefficient ( $\beta = -.076$ , 95% CI [-.078, -.074], p < .001) associated with total daily flavonoid intake suggests a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake results in a 0.076% decrease in CRP. Also, by adjusting for the confounding variables, the direction of the association between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP changed from positive to negative. Based on the results of both linear regression models, the null hypothesis for RQ2 was rejected.

## **RQ4** Results

Investigating RQ4 involved performing a one-way ANOVA to determine if differences in total daily flavonoid intake were significant among participants in the COPD subset with different levels of comorbidity burden. Levene's test for equality of variances indicated a violation of the assumption of homogeneity of variances (p < .05). Results from the one-way ANOVA indicated that total daily flavonoid intake was statistically significantly different for different levels of comorbidity burden, Welch's F(2, 1348601.11) = 55509.04, p < .001. Figure 3 shows the differences in mean flavonoid intake for the comorbidity burden Level 0 group (M = 201.7, SD = 308.5), Level 1 group (M = 332.1, SD = 483.9), and Level 2 and 3 group (M = 179.3, SD = 243).



Figure 3. Flavonoid intake across comorbidity burden levels.

A Games-Howell post hoc analysis was suitable to explore the nature of the differences in total daily flavonoid intake between comorbidity burden levels. As seen in Table 16, results from the Games-Howell post hoc analysis revealed that the mean differences between each of the comorbidity burden levels were statistically significant (p < .001). Specifically, there was an increase in total daily flavonoid intake from the comorbidity burden Level 0 group to the Level 1 group. Additionally, a decrease in total daily flavonoid intake occurred from the comorbidity burden Level 0 group to the Level 2 and 3 group. A decrease in total daily flavonoid intake also occurred from the comorbidity burden Level 1 group to the Level 2 and 3 group. Taken together, the results of the one-way ANOVA and associated post hoc analysis indicated that the group means were significantly (p < .001) different and, therefore, the null hypothesis for RQ4 was rejected.

#### Table 16

Total Flavonoid Intake Between Comorbidity Burden Levels

Comorbidity burden levels	Mean difference	SE	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Level 0 and Level 1	130.31	.42	129.35, 131.30	< .001
Level 0 and Level 2-3	-22.43	.39	-23.34, -21.52	< .001
Level 1 and Level 2-3	-152.76	.52	-153.97, -151.54	< .001

*Note*. N = 270.

#### Summary

This chapter included the results from the secondary analysis of data from the 2007–2010 NHANES and USDA flavonoid databases. Preparation of the data for analysis resulted in several modifications and adjustments, which included revisions to the study inclusion criteria, key study variables, and planned statistical procedures used to test RQ4. Bivariate analyses indicated that all potentially confounding variables were true confounders, as they were each statistically significantly (p < .001) associated with total flavonoid intake and each dependent variable. Subsequently, I evaluated all confounding variables for collinearity. Results of collinearity testing revealed that all confounding variables were suitable for inclusion in multivariate analysis as covariates.

The results from the multivariate analyses addressed RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3, and the result from a one-way ANOVA addressed RQ4. Results from the logistic regressions addressing RQ1 indicated that total flavonoid intake was a statistically significant predictor of COPD. Results from the linear regressions used to address RQ2 and RQ3 indicated that total flavonoid intake was a significant (p < .001) predictor of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and CRP, respectively. Results from the one-way ANOVA used to address RQ4 showed a significant (p < .001) difference in total daily flavonoid intake for different levels of comorbidity burden among participants with COPD. Based on these results, I rejected the null hypothesis for all research questions.

In Chapter 5, I provide an interpretation and comparison of the results from this study with those of other studies. I also include a review of the strengths and limitations of the current study, as well as recommendations for future research. Furthermore, the next chapter contains a discussion of the results of the study as they relate to influencing positive social change. Finally, I conclude Chapter 5 with a brief overview of the study findings.

Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this cross-sectional secondary analysis of the 2007-2010 NHANES dataset was to explore the potential association between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity, CRP, and comorbidity among U.S adults aged 30 years and older. These analyses indicated that total daily flavonoid intake was a significant predictor of COPD. Also, I determined that total daily flavonoid intake was a significant predictor of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and CRP. The inclusion of confounding variables in multiple regression models was critical in identifying the true effect of total daily flavonoid intake on the dependent variables. In fact, results varied substantially between simple and multiple regression models. Also, total daily flavonoid intake was significantly associated with comorbidity burden level among participants in this study. This chapter includes an interpretation of these findings to further address each research question. Additionally, I review study limitations, offer recommendations for future research, discuss implications for social change, and provide conclusions.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

## **Flavonoid Intake and COPD**

My exploration of the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD in this study expanded upon the findings of other researchers. In this study, I examined total flavonoid intake, which was measured as the sum of six flavonoid subclasses, and spirometry-confirmed COPD diagnosis. Researchers who previously studied the association between flavonoid intake and COPD were restricted in the ability to use direct measures for flavonoids and COPD in a single study. Some researchers who measured flavonoid content directly were limited to assessments of lung function and symptoms of COPD, while other researchers who directly measured COPD diagnosis were restricted to indirect surrogate assessments of flavonoid content (Butland et al., 2000; Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001). Despite these limitations, the authors of previous studies consistently demonstrated that higher intake of flavonoids or foods high in flavonoid content was associated with not having COPD or with having favorable measures of lung function and decreased COPD symptoms (Butland et al., 2000; Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001). The results from my study support these findings by demonstrating that a statistically significant relationship is present between flavonoid intake and COPD. Specifically, results from the bivariate analysis in the present study indicated that those without COPD had a significantly higher average total daily flavonoid intake of 11.80 mg/day (p < .001) than those who had COPD.

When examining the unadjusted simple logistic regression analysis of total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, I found that total daily flavonoid intake was a statistically significant (p < .001) predictor of COPD. When the regression model was adjusted to control for confounding variables, I found that total daily flavonoid intake remained a statistically significant (p < .001) predictor of COPD despite a slight reduction in the odds ratio from 7.1% to 5.9%. As such, I found that higher total daily flavonoid intake was significantly associated with lower odds of having COPD. Other researchers have also reported inverse associations between flavonoids or foods high in flavonoid content and COPD or COPD symptoms (Celik & Topcu, 2006; Tabak et al., 2001). For example, catechin, flavonol, and flavone intake is inversely associated with the odds of developing

chronic cough ( $OR_{Q5-Q1} = 0.80$ ) and dyspnea ( $OR_{Q5-Q1} = 0.74$ ), which are common symptoms of COPD (Tabak et al., 2001). Also, the intake of flavonoid-rich beverages and foods, such as black tea, fruits, and vegetables is significantly lower among male smokers with COPD compared to healthy male smokers without COPD (Celik & Topcu, 2006). As previously mentioned, this is the first study to directly explore the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, as diagnosed by spirometry, in a large sample of adult males and females within the United States. Therefore, results from the RQ1 analyses have served to further the understanding of this association.

### **Flavonoid Intake and COPD Severity**

My examination of the association between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD severity, as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, showed a weak but significant positive correlation between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. This result aligns with findings from other researchers who reported positive associations between flavonoids or foods with high flavonoid content and measures of lung function (Butland et al., 2000; Tabak et al., 2001). For example, higher intake of catechins, flavonols, flavones, and apples, which are known to have high levels of the flavonoid quercetin, are associated with higher FEV<sub>1</sub> (Butland et al., 2000; Tabak et al., 2001). However, these observations are derived from examining only a few flavonoid subclasses or surrogate measures of flavonoid intake and no direct assessment of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. This is the first study to directly explore the correlation between total daily flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted in a COPD population and serves to address this gap in the literature.

I also found total daily flavonoid intake to be a significant (p < .001) predictor of  $FEV_1$ % predicted in both simple and adjusted regression models. However, the regression coefficient ( $\beta = .001$ ) from the multivariate model reflected a nearly zero effect. Specifically, a 1% increase in total daily flavonoid intake resulted in only a 0.00001 increase in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. Other antioxidant vitamins have also been found to be significant predictors of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, with effect sizes larger than that found in this study (Ochs-Balcom et al., 2006; Schünemann et al., 2001; Schünemann et al., 2002). For example, lutein/zeaxanthin, vitamin C, and vitamin E are all significant predictors of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, with linear regression coefficients of approximately 1.00 or greater (Ochs-Balcom et al., 2006; Schünemann et al., 2001; Schünemann et al., 2002). Additionally, beta-cryptoxanthin, beta-carotene, and lycopene are also significant predictors of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, with linear regression coefficients of 5.16, 5.10, 6.33, and 4.28, respectively (Ochs-Balcom et al., 2006). As such, total daily flavonoid intake may not be a meaningful predictor of  $FEV_1$ % predicted. Nevertheless, despite the minimal effect size observed in this study for total flavonoid intake as a predictor of FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, this result still serves to address the gap in the literature regarding this topic.

## Flavonoid Intake and Systemic Inflammation

Results from this study showed a significant negative correlation between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP. Furthermore, I found total daily flavonoid intake to be a significant (p < .001) predictor of CRP. The absolute magnitude of the effect size for total daily flavonoid intake increased considerably in the adjusted regression model ( $\beta = -$  0.076) compared to the unadjusted model ( $\beta = 0.036$ ). The association between total daily

flavonoid intake and systemic inflammation, as measured by CRP, within a COPD population is understudied. However, this finding from my study aligns well with observations reported by other researchers (Chun, Chung, Claycombe, & Song, 2008; Corely et al., 2015; Landberg et al. 2011). For instance, a negative linear trend in serum CRP concentrations has been identified between tertiles of flavonoid intake (Chun et al., 2008). Likewise, higher intake of flavonoid rich-foods like grapefruit, total fruit, and apples is significantly associated with lower levels of serum CRP (Corely et al, 2015; Landberg et al., 2011). Furthermore, relatively large effect sizes have been reported for apples ( $\beta = -0.456$ ) and total fruit ( $\beta = -0.100$ ) as significant predictors of CRP (Corely et al., 2015). However, the magnitude of this effect may reflect the combined effect of other favorable compounds found in fruits, such as vitamin A, vitamin C, and fiber, but further studies are needed to confirm this assertion (Corely et al., 2015). Given these nuances, the effect size for the association between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP in the present study appears to be a more accurate measure of this relationship compared to surrogate measures using apples and total fruit.

In contrast with previous findings, individual flavonoid sub-classes (Catechins, Flavanones, Flavones, Flavonols, and, Proanthocyanidins) have also been reported as non-significant predictors of CRP, but within a non-COPD population (Corley et al., 2015). This conflicting finding is attributed to variations in estimates of flavonoid intake derived from the use of a UK flavonoid database (Kyle & Duthrie, 2006) having flavonoid values for only 386 food items (Corely et al., 2015). Therefore, it is possible that intake of these five flavonoid subclasses may have been underestimated. In contrast, I used the USDA flavonoid database, which is the most comprehensive source of flavonoid values for over 2,900 food items (USDA, 2016). Therefore, this study may offer a more precise estimate of the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP, particularly among those with COPD.

Other significant predictors of CRP include total fiber, insoluble fiber, total polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and omega-6 PUFAs (Muka et al., 2015; Villaseñor et al., 2011). The effect sizes reported by researchers (Muka et al., 2015; Villaseñor et al., 2011) for total fiber ( $\beta = -0.029$ ), insoluble fiber ( $\beta = -0.039$ ), PUFAs ( $\beta = -0.03$ ), and omega-6 PUFAs ( $\beta = -0.03$ ) were relatively small compared to the effect size I found in my study for total daily flavonoid intake ( $\beta = -0.076$ ). As such, total daily flavonoid intake may be a stronger predictor of COPD than fiber or PUFAs. However, the reported effects of fiber and PUFAs on CRP were observed within a non-COPD population that included either female cancer patients (Villaseñor et al., 2011) or Dutch nationals aged 55 years or older (Muka et al., 2015). Nevertheless, these findings in the literature (Muka et al., 2015; Villaseñor et al., 2011) align with the results of my study in supporting the premise that diet is associated with CRP. Ultimately, my study serves to clarify the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and CRP among Americans with COPD. Given the limited research on this topic, further studies are needed to replicate and confirm these findings from my study.

## Flavonoid Intake and Comorbidity Burden

Comorbidity among those with COPD is a common occurrence, with most COPD patients having at least one comorbid disease (Dal Negro, Bonadiman, & Turco, 2015;

Divo et al., 2012; Putcha et al., 2013). However, comorbid diseases occurring in those with COPD are posited to be an extension of the systemic inflammatory nature of COPD (Agusti & Faner, 2012; Divo et al., 2012; Smith & Wrobel, 2014). Therefore, I performed analyses for RQ4 to explore the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden consisting of an accumulation of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension. Through these analyses, I found that the total daily flavonoid intake was significantly  $(p \le .001)$  different for each comorbidity burden group. Furthermore, I found the mean flavonoid intake for the comorbidity burden Level 0 group to be significantly (p < .001) lower than that of the comorbidity burden Level 1 group. While this finding was unexpected, it may be reflective of dietary changes made after receiving counseling for self-care following diagnosis of any one of the comorbid diseases included in the current study. Current counseling recommendations for managing cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension call for increased dietary intake of fruits and vegetables as a core self-care component (American Association of Diabetes Educators, 2009; Eckel et al., 2014; Evert et al., 2013; Weber et al., 2014). However, given the cross-sectional study design used in these analyses, identifying the direction of association between total daily flavonoid intake and the accumulation of comorbid diseases is not within the scope of this study. Longitudinal studies are recommended to further elucidate the nature of the association identified in this study.

I also found that the mean flavonoid intake for those with two or three comorbid diseases was significantly (p < .001) lower than those with one or no comorbid disease. This particular discovery is consistent with previous findings by other researchers who show higher fruit and vegetable intake is significantly associated with a lower risk of multimorbidity (Ruel et al., 2014; Wikström, Lindström, Harald, Peltonen, & Laatikainen, 2015). In fact, those having less than three to five servings of fruit and vegetables each week are more likely (HR = 1.75, 95% CI [1.16 - 2.66]) to develop two or more comorbid diseases within a 10-year period compared to those with higher fruit and vegetable intake (Wikström et al., 2015). As previously mentioned, this study is the first to examine the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and the comorbidity burden of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension among Americans with COPD. Therefore, the results from this study support previous work and broaden the literature with respect to populations with COPD. However, additional studies with larger samples of COPD participants are needed to further explore the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden using multivariate analysis.

## **Theoretical Framework**

I used the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle as a guide to explore the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden. The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle places emphasis on the interaction between multiple causative factors, the group or population and their characteristics, and the environment over time to bring about the onset of chronic diseases (Merrill, 2009). Using this theoretical framework as a guide, I carefully selected all study variables based on their relevance to the components of the model. Specifically, the variable for smoking status represented a causative factor, and the population's characteristics were represented by socioeconomic and demographic

variables. Additionally, the environmental component of the model was represented indirectly by dietary fiber intake and total daily flavonoid intake. The advanced model of the epidemiology triangle was proven effective in my study because I found all covariates, which represented key components of the theoretical framework, to be statistically significant predictors during multivariate analyses. Furthermore, the inclusion of these variables increased the predictive utility of each multiple regression model considerably from nearly zero percent to 23%, 21.4%, and 18.6% for RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3, respectively. Ultimately, the advanced model of the epidemiology triangle proved effective in guiding my design and execution of this study and served to elucidate the relationships between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP, and comorbidity burden.

#### Limitations of the Study

This research was subject to several limitations that have some bearing on the interpretation of study results. The primary limitation of this study was the lack of long-term dietary information due to limitations of the 24-hour dietary recall instrument and the cross-sectional nature of the study design. Specifically, it is uncertain if dietary intake reported in the 24-hour dietary recall is reflective of dietary habits prior to the onset of COPD or if dietary changes were initiated after diagnosis. Therefore, I could not identify temporal relationships or make causal inferences because the study design was limited to observational identification of associations between variables of interest at a cross-section in time. However, it is plausible that flavonoid intake could be responsible for the variability in the dependent variables of the study because long-term dietary habits have

been found to be consistent with findings from the 24-hour dietary recalls (Bertoia et al., 2015). Ultimately, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution, given the aforementioned limitation.

Another limitation of this study was the lack of data for other measures of systemic inflammation, such as interleukins 6 (IL-6) and 8 (IL-8), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) to more fully address RQ3. However, CRP has been well established as an acceptable measure of systemic inflammation among those with COPD (Baldrick et al., 2012). Furthermore, CRP can be used as a surrogate measure for IL-6 because CRP is induced in the body by IL-6 through the involvement of mechanisms related to NF- $\kappa$ B (Agrawal, Samols, & Kushner, 2003; Maehira, Miyagi, & Eguchi, 2003). However, regardless of this relationship, additional measures of systemic inflammation could not be directly assessed due to limitations of the available data within the 2007-2010 NHANES dataset. Therefore, the results of this study only serve to elucidate the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and one measure of systemic inflammation. Furthermore, given this limitation, it was not possible to conclusively assert that there is a relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and systemic inflammation.

Sample size in the COPD subgroup was also a limitation of the study with regard to fully addressing RQ4. As mentioned, it was not possible to perform logistic regression to explore the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden due to the small sample size of the COPD subgroup. Therefore, my investigation of the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden was limited to bivariate analysis. The small sample size resulted in an insufficient number of participants who had three comorbid diseases. Therefore, I combined participants with three comorbid diseases into the same group as those who had two comorbid diseases. By combining these participants into the same group, it was not possible to assess associations with flavonoid intake among those with three comorbid diseases in relation to participants with other comorbidity burden levels. Although I found statistically significant differences in mean total daily flavonoid intake between the comorbidity burden level groups, it is unclear if a predictive relationship exists between these two variables. The inability to perform multivariate analyses restricted my further examination of the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and comorbidity burden.

While the USDA flavonoid databases are a robust source of flavonoid content, several limitations related to the composition of the flavonoid data within the database should be acknowledged. For instance, analytical values were not determined for all foods in the database. Instead, researchers at the USDA imputed flavonoid values for approximately 24% of the values in the database using flavonoid data from foods that were similar in botanical origin (USDA, 2016). Therefore, the volume of analytical values within the USDA flavonoid database was limited, and may affect the precision of the flavonoid content of some foods within the database. Also, USDA researchers assigned a zero value for isoflavone content in some foods for which a non-zero isoflavone value was available. Zero values were assigned only when the isoflavones in a food item was attributable to an ingredient that may or may not be present in a food type.

For example, USDA researchers noted that two different brands of hot dogs have the same FNDDS code, but one brand may include isoflavone ingredients, like soy, and the other brand does not (USDA, 2016). Therefore, all food items within a given food type, such as hot dogs, that met this criterion were assigned a zero isoflavone value. Taken together, the limitations attributed to the compilation of the USDA flavonoid database may have resulted in an underestimation of total daily flavonoid intake in the present study.

Another limitation of this study was that I did not account for variations in the bioavailability of flavonoid intake attributable to interactions with other food components. The absorption of flavonoids can be affected by food matrix components, such as dietary fat, fiber, and protein (Lesser, Cermak, & Wolffram, 2014; Mullen et al., 2009; Ortega, Reguant, Romero, Macià, & Motilva, 2009; Probert, Emmett, & Heaton, 1995). Dietary fat may enhance the digestibility and absorption of flavonoids within the small intestine (Lesser et al., 2014; Ortega et al., 2009). This effect is attributed to physiological interactions between dietary fat and flavonoids that result in prolonged transit time within digestive tract (Rao, Lu, & Schulze-Delrieu, 1996). Dietary fiber also impacts the duration of transit time for flavonoids in the gut, with insoluble fiber decreasing transit time and soluble fiber increasing transit time (Probert et al., 1995). As such, a reduction in transit time within the digestive tract is thought to be associated with a lower bioavailability of flavonoids, as observed with various pharmaceuticals (Kimura & Higaki, 2002). Furthermore, fermentable fibers, such as inulin and fructooligosaccharides, act as prebiotics in animals and humans by increasing the microbiota

fermentation of flavonoids, which enhances the bioavailability of flavonoid aglycones and metabolites (Larkin, Price, & Astheimer, 2007; Piazza et al., 2007; Tamura, Nakagawa, Tsushida, Hirayama, & Itoth, 2007; Uehara et al., 2001). Proteins, on the other hand, such as those found in milk, appear to reduce the bioavailability of flavonoids (Mullen et al., 2009; Roowi, Mullen, Edwards, & Crozier, 2009; Serafini et al., 2009). For instance, consuming cocoa with milk results in reduced plasma concentrations of the flavan-3-ols by 25% and increased urine concentration of the same by 50% compared with consuming cocoa with water (Mullen et al., 2009). Similar findings were observed for blueberries consumed with and without milk and when orange juice was consumed with and without yogurt (Roowi et al., 2009; Serafini et al., 2009). These effects are suggested to reflect flavonoid-protein interactions that form bonds and complexes, which inhibit the uptake of flavonoids in the digestive tract and reduce bioavailability (Upri-Sarda et al., 2010). Despite these food matrix effects on flavonoid bioavailability, the assessment of individual flavonoid sub-classes and food matrix composition in relation to COPD outcomes were beyond the scope of this study. As such, it may be of interest to explore the impact of individual flavonoid subclasses on COPD outcomes in future studies, as some flavonoid sub-classes offer more bioavailability than others.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

Results obtained from this study support assertions found in the literature that diet is associated with COPD outcomes. This study adds to the body of knowledge about the relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD, COPD severity as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, systemic inflammation as measured by CRP, and comorbidity burden consisting of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension. However, due to the limitations noted above, further research in this area is warranted.

Given the significant associations between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes of interest in this study, I recommend the use of prospective longitudinal study designs for future research to determine temporal relationships between variables. Ideally, dietary intake should be monitored and recorded multiple times each year over approximately 20 years or longer before diagnosis of COPD. Such a study would increase the likelihood of potentially identifying a temporal relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and odds of having COPD. In parallel, a similar design should be utilized with an observational period beginning at the time of COPD diagnosis and lasting for 10 to 20 years or longer. This additional recommendation targets identification of a potentially temporal relationship between flavonoid intake and COPD severity, systemic inflammation, or comorbidity burden among those with COPD. In addition to multiple collections of dietary data each year, measurements for spirometry and serum biomarkers for systemic inflammation should also be collected at similar time points along with medical records to identify the onset of comorbid diseases. Ample participants with COPD must be enrolled in future studies to overcome the sample size limitations noted in this study. For instance, if this study is replicated, I recommended that three or more NHANES datasets be combined to create a larger sample size with an increased number of participants with COPD. As previously mentioned, the associations between total daily flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes are understudied, and further research involving those with COPD is warranted.

Alternative study design recommendations for future research would entail utilization of a case-control or retrospective cohort research methodology. Use of these research design methods would improve the ability to make temporal assessments regarding total daily flavonoid intake and COPD outcomes. Furthermore, utilization of these alternative study design methodologies for future research may be more costeffective and less time consuming compared to the longitudinal study design proposed earlier.

Future research should also incorporate more extensive flavonoid content data for an even greater number of foods. Such an approach would serve to increase the precision of flavonoid estimates for the study population. While the USDA flavonoid databases are the most comprehensive source of flavonoid content data, they are not exhaustive. Therefore, future research should entail combining the USDA flavonoid databases with other flavonoid data sources to expand flavonoid content information beyond what was available in the present study. The European BioActive Substances in Food Information System (eBASIS) database may serve as a viable adjunct to the USDA flavonoid databases because it has been successfully utilized to provide flavonoid content for other research studies (Euorpean Food Information Resource, 2015; Pounis et al., 2015; Samieri et al., 2014). Future versions of the USDA flavonoid databases and the eBASIS database may provide increased flavonoid content to provide more accurate estimates of flavonoid intake for an even greater number of foods. Therefore, future research should include the use of the most current version of these or other available databases and to combine them when possible.

A final recommendation for future research is to further examine the effect of individual flavonoid subclasses on COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity. Individual flavonoid subclasses offer greater bioavailability than others, which reflect variations in the ability of each subclass to enact antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties throughout the body. Isoflavones seem to have the most bioavailability after being consumed, while flavan-3-ols and anthocyanidins are the most poorly absorbed (Barnes et al., 2011; Kumar & Pandey, 2013a; Manach, Williamson, Morand, Scalbert, & Remesy, 2005). As such, I recommended that considerations for the effects of dietary composition on the bioavailability of flavonoids are incorporated in future research. As described above, some dietary constituents increase the bioavailability of flavonoids while others reduce bioavailability. Therefore, it would be of interest to examine the potential relationship between each flavonoid subclass and COPD, COPD severity, systemic inflammation, and comorbidity burden to accounting for variations in bioavailability of each flavonoid subclass. Furthermore, it is recommended to stratify the study population by high and low intake of dietary fat, soluble and insoluble fiber, and proteins to account for potential effects on flavonoid bioavailability. Taken together, these recommendations are provided to further expand the understanding of the relationship between flavonoid intake and COPD, which can serve to inform public health policy and effect positive social change.

### **Implications for Social Change**

The results obtained from this study offer some implications for social change by potentially improving population-based health outcomes. The literature indicates that a

healthy diet high in fruits and vegetables plays a substantial role in the development of a wide range of chronic diseases, including COPD (Boeing et al., 2012; Chiuve et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014; Mekary, 2015). However, most Americans consume insufficient servings of fruits and vegetables to meet recommendations for maintaining a healthy diet (Slavin & Lloyd, 2012). Findings from this study show that higher intake of dietary flavonoids may have a substantial effect on COPD, systemic inflammation, and the accumulation of multiple comorbid diseases. These results can be used by public health advocates to inform public health policy and support recommendations and national goals for nutrition, such as the Healthy People 2020 objectives that call for greater fruit and vegetable intake (Healthy People, 2017). Also, it is likely that maintaining a healthy diet is also indicative of other positive lifestyle behaviors that improve overall health, such as abstaining from smoking or smoking cessation. Smoking is associated with several poor health outcomes in addition to COPD, such as lung cancer, heart disease, and stroke (Thun et al., 2013). In this study, I found that smoking status was the strongest predictor of COPD, COPD severity, and systemic inflammation, with non-smokers having more favorable outcomes than current and former smokers. Therefore, another implication for social change derived from the results of this study is the added scientific support for current initiatives that target smoking cessation and reductions in second-hand smoke exposure.

COPD is the third leading cause of death within the United States and is responsible for millions of hospitalizations annually (ALA, 2014; CDC, 2012a). Therefore, COPD is a major public health concern within the United States that requires evidence-based interventions informed by scientific research to reduce the mortality and morbidity associated with this disease. Ultimately, the results from this study have implications for effecting social change in this regard. Findings from this study can serve to inform public health policies that may help to reduce the morbidity and mortality of COPD and other comorbid diseases within the United States.

### Conclusions

The results of this study further elucidated the relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and COPD among a broad sample of the US population. Results from multivariate regression analyses indicated that greater total daily flavonoid intake was associated with a reduced likelihood of COPD, a slight increase in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, and decreased serum CRP concentrations. The relationship between total daily flavonoid intake and  $FEV_1$ % predicted was very small, and not practically significant, given the small magnitude of change in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted that was observed in this study. Results from a one-way ANOVA indicated that statistically significant differences in mean total daily flavonoid intake were present between all comorbidity burden level groups. These results showed that the mean total daily flavonoid intake among those with two or three comorbid diseases was lower than among those with one comorbid disease or none. The findings from the present study have implications for promoting healthy dietary behavior and an overall healthy lifestyle among people in the United States. Subsequently, changes in dietary behavior and lifestyle choices can ultimately help to reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with COPD and other chronic diseases.

While this study has further elucidated the relationship between dietary flavonoid intake and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, CRP, and comorbidity burden outcomes, identifying temporal relationships or causation outside the scope of this study because I used a crosssectional study design. Therefore, further research is recommended using prospective longitudinal study designs to fully explore the associations identified in this study and potentially identify temporal relationships and establish causation. Taken together, the results from this study, along with those of prior and future studies, can serve to inform public health policy and effect positive social change with regard to reducing the morbidity and mortality of COPD and potentially other chronic diseases.

#### References

- Agler, A. H., Kurth, T., Gaziano, J. M., Buring, J. E., & Cassano, P. A. (2011).
  Randomised Vitamin E supplementation and risk of chronic lung disease in the
  Women's Health Study. *Thorax*, *66*, 320-325. doi:10.1136/thx.2010.155028
- Agrawal, A., Samols, D., & Kushner, I. (2003). Transcription factor c-Rel enhances C-reactive protein expression by facilitating the binding of C/EBPβ to the promoter.
   *Molecular Immunology*, 40(6), 373-380. doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(03)00148-2
- Agustí, A., Edwards, L. D., Rennard, S. I., MacNee, W., Tal-Singer, R., Miller, B. E., . . . Celli, B. (2012). Persistent systemic inflammation is associated with poor clinical outcomes in COPD: A novel phenotype. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e37483. doi:10.1371 /journal.pone.0037483
- Agustí, A., & Faner, R. (2012). Systemic inflammation and comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 9(2), 43-46. doi:10.1513/pats.201108-050MS
- American Association of Diabetes Educators. (2009). AADE guidelines for the practice of diabetes self-management education and training (DSME/T). *The Diabetes Educator*, 35(3 suppl), 85S-107S. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub .com/home/tde
- American Heart Association. (2014). What is cardiovascular disease? Retrieved from http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Caregiver/Resources/WhatisCardiovascularDi sease/What-is-Cardiovascular-Disease\_UCM\_301852\_Article.jsp#.Vvav4ilcOC4
- American Heart Association. (2015). About high blood pressure. Retrieved from https://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/HighBloodPressure/AboutHighBl oodPressure/About-High-Blood-Pressure\_UCM\_002050\_Article.jsp
- American Lung Association. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease fact sheet. Retrieved from http://www.lung.org/lung-disease/copd/resources/factsfigures/COPD-Fact-Sheet.html
- Andriantsitohaina, R., Auger, C., Chataigneau, T., Étienne-Selloum, N., Li, H., Martínez, M. C., . . . Laher, I. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of the cardiovascular protective effects of polyphenols. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *108*, 1532-1549. doi:10.1017/S0007114512003406
- Annesi-Maesano, I., & Roche, N. (2014). Healthy behaviours and COPD. *European Respiratory Review*, 23(134), 410-415. doi:10.1183/09059180.00005414
- Archer, E., Hand, G. A., & Blair, S. N. (2013). Validity of US nutritional surveillance: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey caloric energy intake data, 1971–2010. *PLoS ONE*, 8(10), e76632. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076632
- Baarends, E. M., Schols, A. M., Mostert, R., & Wouters, E. F. (1997). Peak exercise response in relation to tissue depletion in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *European Respiratory Journal*, *10*, 2807-2813. doi:10.1183/09031936.97.10122807
- Bai, W., Wang, C., & Ren, C. (2014). Intakes of total and individual flavonoids by US adults. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 65, 9-20. doi:10.3109/09637486.2013.832170

- Baldrick, F. R., Elborn, J. S., Woodside, J. V., Treacy, K., Bradley, J. M., Patterson, C.
  C., . . . McKinley, M. C. (2012). Effect of fruit and vegetable intake on oxidative stress and inflammation in COPD: A randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal*, *39*, 1377-1384. doi:10.1183/09031936.00086011
- Banerjee, A., Mondal, N. K., Das, D., & Ray, M. R. (2012). Neutrophilic inflammatory response and oxidative stress in premenopausal women chronically exposed to indoor air pollution from biomass burning. *Inflammation*, 35, 671-683. doi:10.1183/09031936.00086011
- Bao, M. J., Shen, J., Jia, Y. L., Li, F. F., Ma, W. J., Shen, H. J., . . . Xie, Q. M. (2013).
   Apple polyphenol protects against cigarette smoke-induced acute lung injury.
   *Nutrition*, 29, 235-243. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2012.04.008
- Barnes, P. J. (2013). Anti-inflammatory therapeutics in COPD: Past, present, and future. In T. J. Rogers, G. J. Criner, & W. D. Cornwell (Eds.), *Smoking and lung inflammation* (pp. 191-213). doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-7351-0\_10
- Barnes, S., Prasain, J., D'Alessandro, T., Arabshahi, A., Botting, N., Lila, M. A., . . .
  Weaver, C. M. (2011). The metabolism and analysis of isoflavones and other dietary polyphenols in foods and biological systems. *Food & Function*, 2(5), 235-244. doi:10.1039/c1fo10025d
- Barr, R. G., Herbstman, J., Speizer, F. E., & Camargo, C. A. (2002). Validation of selfreported chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a cohort study of nurses. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 155, 965-971. doi:10.1093/aje/155.10.965

- Beiko, T. Y., Paoletti, L., Strange, C. B., & Kumbhare, S. D. (2015). COPD associated common comorbidity risks vary with body mass index in United States BRFSS survey but are not different from individuals without COPD. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 191, A5704. Retrieved from http://www.atsjournals.org/journal/ajrccm
- Beking, K., & Vieira, A. (2011). An assessment of dietary flavonoid intake in the UK and Ireland. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 62, 17-19. doi:10.3109/09637486.2010.511165
- Belsley, D. A. (1991). *Conditioning diagnostics*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Belsley, D. A., Kuh, E., & Welsch, R. E. (2005). Regression diagnostics: Identifying influential data and sources of collinearity. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bentley, A. R., Kritchevsky, S. B., Harris, T. B., Holvoet, P., Jensen, R. L., Newman, A.
  B., . . . Cassano, P. A. (2012). Dietary antioxidants and forced expiratory volume in 1 s decline: The Health, Aging and Body Composition study. *European Respiratory Journal*, *39*, 979-984. doi:10.1183/09031936.00190010
- Benzie, I. F. F., Szeto, Y. T., Strain, J. J., & Tomlinson, B. (1999). Consumption of green tea causes rapid increase in plasma antioxidant power in humans. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 34, 83-87. doi:10.1207/S15327914NC340112
- Bertoia, M. L., Mukamal, K. J., Cahill, L. E., Hou, T., Ludwig, D. S., Mozaffarian, D.,
  ... Rimm, E. B. (2015). Changes in intake of fruits and vegetables and weight change in United States men and women followed for up to 24 years: Analysis

from three prospective cohort studies. *PLoS Med*, 12(9), e1001878.

doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001878

- Beydoun, M. A., Kuczmarski, M. F., Kitner-Triolo, M. H., Beydoun, H. A., Kaufman, J. S., Mason, M. A., . . . Zonderman, A. B. (2015). Dietary antioxidant intake and its association with cognitive function in an ethnically diverse sample of US adults. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 77, 68. doi:10.1097/PSY.00000000000129
- Bhattacharjee, M., Unni, B. G., Das, S., Baruah, P. K., Sharma, P., Gogoi, D., . . . Rao, P. G. (2013). Alpha 1 antitrypsin gene: A case-control study in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *11*, 207-215. doi:10.5897/AJB11.2807
- Birt, D. F., & Jeffery, E. (2013). Flavonoids. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal*, *4*, 576-577. doi:10.3945/an.113.004465
- Biswas, S., Hwang, J. W., Kirkham, P. A., & Rahman, I. (2013). Pharmacological and dietary antioxidant therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 20, 1496-1530. doi:10.2174/0929867311320120004
- Blanton, C. A., Moshfegh, A. J., Baer, D. J., & Kretsch, M. J. (2006). The USDA Automated Multiple-Pass Method accurately estimates group total energy and nutrient intake. *Journal of Nutrition*, *136*, 2594-2599. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Blitstein, J. L., Snider, J., & Evans, W. D. (2012). Perceptions of the food shopping environment are associated with greater consumption of fruits and vegetables. *Public Health Nutrition*, *15*, 1124-1129. doi:10.1017/S1368980012000523

- Boccia, S., Villari, P., & Ricciardi, W. (2015). *A systematic review of key issues in public health*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International.
- Boeing, H., Bechthold, A., Bub, A., Ellinger, S., Haller, D., Kroke, A., . . . Watzl, B.
  (2012). Critical review: vegetables and fruit in the prevention of chronic diseases. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *51*, 637-663. doi:10.1007/s00394-012-0380-y
- Blanchette, C. M., Dalal, A. A., & Mapel, D. (2012). Changes in COPD demographics and costs over 20 years. *Journal of Medical Economics*, 15, 1176-1182. doi:10.3111/13696998.2012.713880
- Buer, C. S., Imin, N., & Djordjevic, M. A. (2010). Flavonoids: new roles for old molecules. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 52, 98-111. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.00905.x
- Bulgari, M., Sangiovanni, E., Colombo, E., Maschi, O., Caruso, D., Bosisio, E., &
  Dell'Agli, M. (2012). Inhibition of neutrophil elastase and metalloprotease-9 of
  human adenocarcinoma gastric cells by chamomile (Matricaria recutita L.)
  infusion. *Phytotherapy Research*, *26*, 1817-1822. doi:10.1002/ptr.4657
- Butland, B. K., Fehily, A. M., & Elwood, P. C. (2000). Diet, lung function, and lung function decline in a cohort of 2512 middle aged men. *Thorax*, 55(2), 102-108. doi:10.1136/thorax.55.2.102
- Butler, L. M., Koh, W. P., Lee, H. P., Yu, M. C., & London, S. J. (2004). Dietary fiber and reduced cough with phlegm: A cohort study in Singapore. *American Journal* of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 170, 279-287. doi:10.1164/rccm.200306-789OC

- Can, O. D., & Ozkay, U. D. (2012). Effects of Hypericum montbretti extract on the central nervous system and involvement of GABA (A)/benzodiazepine receptors in its pharmacological activity. *Phytotherapy Research*, 26, 1695-1700.
- Carriquiry, A. L. (2003). Estimation of usual intake distributions of nutrients and foods. *Journal of Nutrition*, *133*, 601S-608S. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Carroll, R. J., Midthune, D., Subar, A. F., Shumakovich, M., Freedman, L. S., Thompson, F. E., & Kipnis, V. (2012). Taking advantage of the strengths of 2 different dietary assessment instruments to improve intake estimates for nutritional epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *175*, 340-347. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr317
- Carroll, T. P., O'Brien, M. E., Fee, L. T., Molloy, K., Murray, B., Ramsawak, S., . . .
  McElvaney, N. G. (2014). Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency—A missed opportunity in COPD? In R. Panos (Ed.), In *COPD clinical perspectives*. doi:10.5772/58602
- Castell, G. S., Serra-Majem, L., & Ribas-Barba, L. (2015). What and how much do we eat? 24-hour dietary recall method. *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, *31*(Suppl. 3), 46-48. doi:10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8750
- Celik, F., & Topcu, F. (2006). Nutritional risk factors for the development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in male smokers. *Clinical Nutrition*, 25, 955-961. doi:10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8750
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012a). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among adults—United States, 2011. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *61*(46), 938. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/index.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC. (2012b). Current cigarette smoking among adults—United States, 2011. *MMWR*. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly report*, 61(44), 889. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/index.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013a). *National health and nutrition examination survey: Analytical guidelines 1999-2010*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_02/sr02\_161.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013b). *Sample design*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/tutorials/nhanes/SurveyDesign/SampleDesign/intro.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015a). *National health and nutrition examination survey*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015b). *NHANES 2007-2008*. Retrieved from http://wwwn.cdc.gov/Nchs/Nhanes/Search/nhanes07\_08.aspx
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015c). *NHANES 2009-2010*. Retrieved from http://wwwn.cdc.gov/Nchs/Nhanes/Search/nhanes09\_10.aspx
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) includes: Chronic bronchitis and emphysema*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/copd.htm
- Chen, J., Wang, J. B., Yu, C. H., Chen, L. Q., Xu, P., & Yu, W. Y. (2013). Total flavonoids of Mosla scabra leaves attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury via down-regulation of inflammatory signaling in mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 148, 835-841. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2013.05.020

- Cheng, L. L., Liu, Y. Y., Su, Z. Q., Liu, J., Chen, R. C., & Ran, P. X. (2015). Clinical characteristics of tobacco smoke-induced versus biomass fuel-induced chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal of Translational Internal Medicine*, 3(3), 126-129. doi:10.1515/jtim-2015-0012
- Chiuve, S. E., Fung, T. T., Rimm, E. B., Hu, F. B., McCullough, M. L., Wang, M., . . .
  Willett, W. C. (2012). Alternative dietary indices both strongly predict risk of chronic disease. *Journal of Nutrition*, *142*, 1009-1018. doi:10.3945/jn.111.157222
- Chun, O. K., Chung, S. J., Claycombe, K. J., & Song, W. O. (2008). Serum C-reactive protein concentrations are inversely associated with dietary flavonoid intake in US adults. *Journal of Nutrition*, 138, 753-760. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Chun, O. K., Chung, S. J., & Song, W. O. (2007). Estimated dietary flavonoid intake and major food sources of US adults. *Journal of Nutrition*, *137*, 1244-1252. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Chun, O. K., & Davis, C. G. (2012). Variation in nutrient intakes and required number of days for assessing usual nutrient intake among different populations. *Journal of Nutritional Disorders & Therapy*, 2, 2161-0509. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2004.03.039
- Chun, O. K., Lee, S. G., Wang, Y., Vance, T., & Song, W. O. (2012). Estimated flavonoid intake of the elderly in the United States and around the world. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *31*(3), 190-205. doi:10.1080/21551197.2012.702530

- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *11*, 155. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Corcoran, M. P., McKay, D. L., & Blumberg, J. B. (2012). Flavonoid basics: Chemistry, sources, mechanisms of action, and safety. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology* and Geriatrics, 31(3), 176-189. doi:10.1080/21551197.2012.698219
- Corley, J., Kyle, J. A., Starr, J. M., McNeill, G., & Deary, I. J. (2015). Dietary factors and biomarkers of systemic inflammation in older people: the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *114*(07), 1088-1098. doi:10.1017/S000711451500210X
- Correa, V. G., Tureck, C., Locateli, G., Peralta, R. M., & Koehnlein, E. A. (2015).
   Estimate of consumption of phenolic compounds by Brazilian population. *Revista de Nutrição*, 28, 185-196. doi:10.1590/1415-52732015000200007
- Cote, J., Caillet, S., Doyon, G., Sylvain, J. F., & Lacroix, M. (2010). Bioactive compounds in cranberries and their biological properties. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 50, 666-679. doi:10.1080/10408390903044107
- Cruz, A. A. (2007). Global surveillance, prevention and control of chronic respiratory diseases: A comprehensive approach. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Dal Negro, R. W., Bonadiman, L., & Turco, P. (2015). Prevalence of different comorbidities in COPD patients by gender and GOLD stage. *Multidisciplinary respiratory medicine*, 10, 24. doi:10.1186/s40248-015-0023-2

Da Silva, L. F. F., Saldiva, S. R. D. M., Saldiva, P. H. N., Dolhnikoff, M., & Project, B.
C. (2012). Impaired lung function in individuals chronically exposed to biomass combustion. *Environmental Research*, *112*, 111-117.
doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.10.012

De Batlle, J., Mendez, M., Romieu, I., Balcells, E., Benet, M., Donaire-Gonzalez, D., . . . Belda, J. (2012). Cured meat consumption increases risk of readmission in COPD patients. *European Respiratory Journal*, 40, 555-560. doi:10.1183/09031936.00116911

- De Batlle, J., Sauleda, J., Balcells, E., Gómez, F. P., Méndez, M., Rodriguez, E., ... PAC-COPD Study Group. (2012). Association between Ω3 and Ω6 fatty acid intakes and serum inflammatory markers in COPD. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 23, 817-821. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.04.005
- Diette, G. B., Accinelli, R. A., Balmes, J. R., Buist, A. S., Checkley, W., Garbe, P., ...
  Kiley, J. P. (2012). Obstructive lung disease and exposure to burning biomass fuel in the indoor environment. *Global Heart*, *7*, 265-270.
  doi:10.1016/j.gheart.2012.06.016
- Divo, M., Cote, C., de Torres, J. P., Casanova, C., Marin, J. M., Pinto-Plata, V., . . . Celli,
  B. (2012). Comorbidities and risk of mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *186*, 155-161. doi:10.1164/rccm.201201-0034OC
- Dodd, K. W., Guenther, P. M., Freedman, L. S., Subar, A. F., Kipnis, V., Midthune, D., . . . Krebs-Smith, S. M. (2006). Statistical methods for estimating usual intake of

nutrients and foods: A review of the theory. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, *106*, 1640-1650. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2006.07.011

- Domej, W., Oettl, K., & Renner, W. (2014). Oxidative stress and free radicals in COPDimplications and relevance for treatment. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *9*, 1207. doi:10.2147/COPD.S51226
- Doney, B., Hnizdo, E., & Halldin, C. N. (2014). Changes in Prevalence of COPD and Asthma in the US population: NHANES 1988-94 and NHANES. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 189, A6705. Retrieved from http://www.atsjournals.org/journal/ajrccm
- Drummond, M. B., Buist, A. S., Crapo, J. D., Wise, R. A., & Rennard, S. I. (2014).
  Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: NHLBI workshop on the primary prevention of chronic lung diseases. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, *11*(Suppl. 3), S154-S160. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201312-432LD
- Eckel, R. H., Jakicic, J. M., Ard, J. D., De Jesus, J. M., Miller, N. H., Hubbard, V. S., . . . Nonas, C. A. (2014). 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 63, 2960-2984. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.003
- Eisner, M. D., Blanc, P. D., Omachi, T. A., Yelin, E. H., Sidney, S., Katz, P. P., ...
  Iribarren, C. (2009). Socioeconomic status, race and COPD health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 65, 26-34.
  doi:10.1136/jech.2009.089722

Emre, J. Ç., Özdemir, Ö., Baysak, A., Aksoy, Ü., Özdemir, P., Öz, A. T., & Deniz, S.
(2014). Clinical factors affecting the costs of hospitalized chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations. *Eurasian Journal of Pulmonology*, *16*, 180-183. doi:10.5152/ejp.2014.46855

Emtner, M., Hallin, R., Arnardottir, R. H., & Janson, C. (2015). Effect of physical training on fat-free mass in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences, 120, 52-58. doi:10.3109/03009734.2014.990124

- Engelen, M. P., Schols, A. M., Does, J. D., & Wouters, E. F. (2000). Skeletal muscle weakness is associated with wasting of extremity fat-free mass but not with airflow obstruction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71, 733-738. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/
- Esmaillzadeh, A., & Azadbakht, L. (2012). Legume consumption is inversely associated with serum concentrations of adhesion molecules and inflammatory biomarkers among Iranian women. *Journal of Nutrition*, *142*, 334-339. doi:10.3945/ jn.111.146167
- Esposito, D., Chen, A., Grace, M. H., Komarnytsky, S., & Lila, M. A. (2014). Inhibitory effects of wild blueberry anthocyanins and other flavonoids on biomarkers of acute and chronic inflammation in vitro. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *62*, 7022-7028. doi:10.1021/jf4051599

- European Food Information Resource. (2015). *EuroFIR BASIS technical home page*. Retrieved from http://ebasis.eurofir.org/Default.asp
- Evans, E. W., Jacques, P. F., Dallal, G. E., Sacheck, J., & Must, A. (2015). The role of eating frequency on total energy intake and diet quality in a low-income, racially diverse sample of schoolchildren. *Public Health Nutrition*, *18*, 474-481. doi:10.1017/S1368980014000470
- Evert, A. B., Boucher, J. L., Cypress, M., Dunbar, S. A., Franz, M. J., Mayer-Davis, E. J.,
  ... Yancy, W. S. (2013). Nutrition therapy recommendations for the management of adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *36*, 3821-3842. doi:10.2337/dc13-2042
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191. doi:10.3758/BF03193146
- Ferlazzo, N., Visalli, G., Smeriglio, A., Cirmi, S., & Enrico, G. (2015). Flavonoid fraction of orange and bergamot juices protect human lung epithelial cells from hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress. *Evidence-based Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 2015, 1-14. doi:10.1155/2015/957031
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (4th ed.). London, England: Sage.
- Filiberto, A. C., Mumford, S. L., Pollack, A. Z., Zhang, C., Yeung, E. H., Perkins, N. J., ... Schisterman, E. F. (2013). Habitual dietary isoflavone intake is associated with decreased C-reactive protein concentrations among healthy premenopausal women. *Journal of Nutrition*, *143*, 900-906. doi:10.3945/jn.112.173187

- Fink, B. N., Steck, S. E., Wolff, M. S., Britton, J. A., Kabat, G. C., Schroeder, J. C., ... Gammon, M. D. (2007). Dietary flavonoid intake and breast cancer risk among women on Long Island. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 165, 514-523. doi:10.1093/aje/kwk033
- Fischer, B. M., Voynow, J. A., & Ghio, A. J. (2015). COPD: Balancing oxidants and antioxidants. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 261. doi:10.2147/COPD.S42414
- Flores, G., Dastmalchi, K., Dabo, A. J., Whalen, K., Pedraza-Peñalosa, P., Foronjy, R. F.,
  ... Kennelly, E. J. (2012). Antioxidants of therapeutic relevance in COPD from
  the neotropical blueberry Anthopterus wardii. *Food Chemistry*, *131*, 119-125.
  doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.08.044
- Fonseca Wald, E. L., Borst, B., Gosker, H. R., & Schols, A. M. (2014). Dietary fibre and fatty acids in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease risk and progression: A systematic review. *Respirology*, 19, 176-184. doi:10.1111/resp.12229
- Ford, E. S., Murphy, L. B., Khavjou, O., Giles, W. H., Holt, J. B., & Croft, J. B. (2015). Total and state-specific medical and absenteeism costs of COPD among adults aged ≥ 18 years in the United States for 2010 and projections through 2020. CHEST Journal, 147, 31-45. doi:10.1378/chest.14-0972
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Elements of research: In research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.

- Freedman, L. S., Schatzkin, A., Midthune, D., & Kipnis, V. (2011). Dealing with dietary measurement error in nutritional cohort studies. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 103(14), 1086-1092. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr189
- Fulton, A. S., Hill, A. M., Williams, M. T., Howe, P. R., & Coates, A. M. (2015). Paucity of evidence for a relationship between long-chain omega-3 fatty acid intake and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(9), 612-623. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuv017
- Ganesan, S., Faris, A. N., Comstock, A. T., Chattoraj, S. S., Chattoraj, A., Burgess, J. R.,
  ... Sajjan, U. S. (2010). Quercetin prevents progression of disease in
  elastase/LPS-exposed mice by negatively regulating MMP expression. *Respiratory Research*, 11, 131. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-11-131
- García-Lafuente, A., Guillamón, E., Villares, A., Rostagno, M. A., & Martínez, J. A. (2009). Flavonoids as anti-inflammatory agents: implications in cancer and cardiovascular disease. *Inflammation Research*, *58*(9), 537-552. doi:10.1007/s00011-009-0037-3
- Garcia-Larsen, V., Amigo, H., Bustos, P., Bakolis, I., & Rona, R. J. (2015). Ventilatory function in young adults and dietary antioxidant intake. *Nutrients*, 7, 2879-2896. doi:10.3390/nu7042879
- Gasparotto, J., Somensi, N., Caregnato, F. F., Rabelo, T. K., DaBoit, K., Oliveira, M. L.,... Gelain, D. P. (2013). Coal and tire burning mixtures containing ultrafine andnanoparticulate materials induce oxidative stress and inflammatory activation in

macrophages. Science of the Total Environment, 463, 743-753.

doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.06.086

- Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. (2015). *Global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease—Updated 2015*. Retrieved from http://www.goldcopd.org/guidelines-global-strategy-for-diagnosis-management.html
- Gonzalez Mosquera, D. M., Hernandez Ortega, Y., Vicet Muro, L., Saucedo Hernandez,
  Y., Grau Ábalos, R., Dehaen, W., . . . Apers, S. (2013). Antihyperglycemic
  activity of extracts from boldoa purpurascens leaves in alloxan induced diabetic
  rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 27, 721-724. doi:10.1002/ptr.4769
- Green, S., & Salkind, N. (2014). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Grooms, K. N., Ommerborn, M. J., Pham, D. Q., Djoussé, L., & Clark, C. R. (2013).
  Dietary fiber intake and cardiometabolic risks among US Adults, NHANES 1999-2010. *American Journal of Medicine*, *126*, 1059-1067.
  doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.07.023
- Guan, Y., Li, F. F., Hong, L., Yan, X. F., Tan, G. L., He, J. S., . . . Xie, Q. M. (2012).
  Protective effects of liquiritin apioside on cigarette smoke induced lung epithelial cell injury. *Fundamental & Clinical Pharmacology*, *26*, 473-483. doi:10.1111/j.1472-8206.2011.00956.x
- Guarascio, A. J., Ray, S. M., Finch, C. K., & Self, T. H. (2013). The clinical and economic burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the USA.

ClinicoEconomics and Outcomes Research: CEOR, 5, 235-245.

doi:10.2147/CEOR.S34321

Guenther, P. M., Casavale, K. O., Reedy, J., Kirkpatrick, S. I., Hiza, H. A., Kuczynski, K. J., . . . Krebs-Smith, S. M. (2013). Update of the healthy eating index: HEI-2010. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *113*, 569-580.
doi:0.1016/j.jand.2012.12.016

- Guenther, P. M., Kott, P. S., & Carriquiry, A. L. (1997). Development of an approach for estimating usual nutrient intake distributions at the population level. *Journal of Nutrition*, 127, 1106-1112. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Guenther, P. M., Krebs-Smith, S. M., Reedy, J., Britten, P., Juan, W., Lino, M., . . . Basiotis, P. P. (2006). Healthy eating index-2005. Retrieved from http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/sites/default/files/healthy\_eating\_index/healthyeatingi ndex2005factsheet.pdf
- Gustafson, A., Christian, J. W., Lewis, S., Moore, K., & Jilcott, S. (2013). Food venue choice, consumer food environment, but not food venue availability within daily travel patterns are associated with dietary intake among adults, Lexington Kentucky 2011. *Nutrition Journal*, *12*, 1. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-12-17
- Hagstad, S., Backman, H., Bjerg, A., Ekerljung, L., Ye, X., Hedman, L., . . . Lundbäck,
  B. (2015). Prevalence and risk factors of COPD among never-smokers in two areas of Sweden–Occupational exposure to gas, dust or fumes is an important risk factor. *Respiratory Medicine*, *109*, 1439-1445. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2015.09.012

- Hair, J. F. Jr., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L. & Black, W. C. (1995). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (3rd ed). New York: Macmillan.
- Hankinson, J. L., Odencrantz, J. R., & Fedan, K. B. (1999). Spirometric reference values from a sample of the general US population. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *159*, 179-187. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.159.1.9712108
- Hanson, C., Lyden, E., Hopkins, R. J., Rennard, S. I., Mannino, D. M., Rutten, E., & Young, R. P. (2015). The relationship between dietary fiber intake and lung function in NHANES. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 191, A5405. Retrieved from http://www.atsjournals.org/journal/ajrccm
- Hanson, C., Rutten, E. P., Wouters, E. F., & Rennard, S. (2013). Diet and Vitamin D as risk factors for lung impairment and COPD. *Translational Research*, 162(4), 219-236. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2013.04.004
- Hariprasath, L., Raman, J., & Nanjian, R. (2012). Gastroprotective effect of Senecio candicans DC on experimental ulcer models. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 140, 145-150. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2012.01.002
- Healthy People. (2017). Healthy People 2020. Retrieved from https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/nutrition-andweight-status/objectives
- Hirayama, F., Lee, A. H., Binns, C. W., Zhao, Y., Hiramatsu, T., Tanikawa, Y., . . .
  Taniguchi, H. (2009). Do vegetables and fruits reduce the risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? A case–control study in Japan. *Preventive Medicine*, 49, 184-189. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.06.010

- Hoenderdos, K., & Condliffe, A. (2013). The neutrophil in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Too little, too late or too much, too soon? *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 48, 531-539. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2012-0492TR
- Hoensch, H. P., & Oertel, R. (2015). The value of flavonoids for the human nutrition: Short review and perspectives. *Clinical Nutrition Experimental*, *3*, 8-14. doi:10.1016/j.yclnex.2015.09.001
- Hooper, R., Burney, P., Vollmer, W. M., McBurnie, M. A., Gislason, T., Tan, W. C., ...
  Buist, A. S. (2012). Risk factors for COPD spirometrically defined from the lower limit of normal in the BOLD project. *European Respiratory Journal*, *39*, 1343-1353. doi:10.1183/09031936.00002711
- Hornung, R. W., & Reed, L. D. (1990). Estimation of average concentration in the presence of nondetectable values. *Applied Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, 5(1), 46-51. doi:10.1080/1047322X.1990.10389587
- Hoy, M. K., & Goldman, J. (2014). Dietary fiber intake of the US population, what we eat in America, NHANES 2009-2010. Retrieved from https://www.ars.usda.gov /SP2UserFiles/Place/80400530/pdf/DBrief/12\_fiber\_intake\_0910.pdf
- Hoyert, D. L., & Xu, J. (2012). Deaths: preliminary data for 2011. National Vital Statistic Reports, 61(6), 1-52. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/nvsr.htm
- Huang, R., Zhong, T., & Wu, H. (2015). Quercetin protects against lipopolysaccharideinduced acute lung injury in rats through suppression of inflammation and

oxidative stress. Archives of Medical Science: AMS, 11, 427.

doi:10.5114/aoms.2015.50975

- Hurst, E., Li, G., & Pugsley, B. (2014). Are household surveys like tax forms? Evidence from income underreporting of the self-employed. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 96, 19-33. doi:10.1162/REST\_a\_00363
- Ikemura, M., Sasaki, Y., Giddings, J. C., & Yamamoto, J. (2012). Preventive effects of hesperidin, glucosyl hesperidin and naringin on hypertension and cerebral thrombosis in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, *26*, 1272-1277. doi:10.1002/ptr.3724
- Illner, A. K., Freisling, H., Boeing, H., Huybrechts, I., Crispim, S. P., & Slimani, N.
  (2012). Review and evaluation of innovative technologies for measuring diet in nutritional epidemiology. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *41*, 1187-1203. doi:10.1093/ije/dys105
- Jamal, A., Agaku, I. T., O'Connor, E., King, B. A., Kenemer, J. B., & Neff, L. (2014). Current cigarette smoking among adults—United States, 2005–2013. *Morbidity* and Mortality Weekly Report, 63(47), 1108-1112. Retrieve from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/index.html
- Joshi, P., Kim, W. J., & Lee, S. A. (2015). The effect of dietary antioxidant on the COPD risk: The community-based KoGES (Ansan–Anseong) cohort. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 2159. doi:10.2147/COPD.S91877

Kan, H., Stevens, J., Heiss, G., Rose, K. M., & London, S. J. (2008). Dietary fiber, lung function, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *167*, 570-578. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm343

Katz, A. E. (2002). Flavonoid and botanical approaches to prostate health. *Journal of Alternative & Complementary Medicine*, *8*, 813-821. doi:10.1089/10755530260511829

- Kent, K., Charlton, K. E., Russell, J., Mitchell, P., & Flood, V. M. (2015). Estimation of flavonoid intake in older Australians: Secondary data analysis of the Blue Mountains Eye Study. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *34*, 388-398. doi:10.1080/21551197.2015.1088917
- Keranis, E., Makris, D., Rodopoulou, P., Martinou, H., Papamakarios, G., Daniil, Z., . . .
  Gourgoulianis, K. I. (2010). Impact of dietary shift to higher-antioxidant foods in
  COPD: A randomised trial. *European Respiratory Journal*, *36*, 774-780.
  doi:10.1183/09031936.00113809
- Kim, J. A., Jung, Y. S., Kim, M. Y., Yang, S. Y., Lee, S., & Kim, Y. H. (2011).
   Protective effect of components isolated from Lindera erythrocarpa against oxidative stress-induced Apoptosis of H9c2 Cardiomyocytes. *Phytotherapy Research*, 25, 1612-1617. doi:10.1002/ptr.3465
- Kim, K., Vance, T. M., & Chun, O. K. (2015). Estimated intake and major food sources of flavonoids among US adults: Changes between 1999–2002 and 2007–2010 in NHANES. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 1-11. doi:10.1007/s00394-015-0942-x

- Kim, Y. J., Park, M. Y., Chang, N., & Kwon, O. (2015). Intake and major sources of dietary flavonoid in Korean adults: Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2010-2012. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 24, 456. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2015.24.3.04
- Kimura, T., & Higaki, K. (2002). Gastrointestinal transit and drug absorption. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, *25*(2), 149-164. doi:10.1248/bpb.25.149
- Kirkham, P. A., & Barnes, P. J. (2013). Oxidative stress in COPD. *CHEST Journal*, *144*, 266-273. doi:10.1378/chest.12-2664
- Kirkpatrick, S. I., Reedy, J., Butler, E. N., Dodd, K. W., Subar, A. F., Thompson, F. E., & McKinnon, R. A. (2014). Dietary assessment in food environment research: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *46*, 94-102. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.08.015
- Ko, H. J., Oh, S. K., Jin, J. H., Son, K. H., & Kim, H. P. (2013). Inhibition of experimental systemic inflammation (septic inflammation) and chronic bronchitis by new phytoformula BL containing broussonetia papyrifera and lonicera japonica. *Biomolecules & Therapeutics*, *21*, 66. doi:10.4062/biomolther.2012.081
- Kozlowska, A., & Szostak-Wegierek, D. (2014). Flavonoids-food sources and health benefits. *Roczniki Państwowego Zakładu Higieny*, 65(2). Retrieved from http://wydawnictwa.pzh.gov.pl/roczniki\_pzh/en
- Kumar, N., Kant, R., Maurya, P. K., & Rizvi, S. I. (2012). Concentration dependent effect of (–)-epicatechin on Na+/K+-ATPase and Ca2+-ATPase inhibition

induced by free radicals in hypertensive patients: Comparison with L-ascorbic acid. *Phytotherapy Research*, *26*, 1644-1647. doi:10.1002/ptr.4624

- Kumar, S., Mishra, A., & Pandey, A. K. (2013). Antioxidant mediated protective effect of Parthenium hysterophorus against oxidative damage using in vitro models. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *13*, 120. doi:10.1186/1472-6882-13-120
- Kumar, S., & Pandey, A. K. (2013a). Chemistry and biological activities of flavonoids:An overview. *Scientific World Journal, 2013*, 1-16. doi:10.1155/2013/162750
- Kumar, S., & Pandey, A. K. (2013b). Phenolic content, reducing power and membrane protective activities of Solanum xanthocarpum root extracts. *Vegetos—An International Journal of Plant Research*, *26*, 301-307. doi:10.5958/j.2229-4473.26.1.043
- Kyle, J. A. M., & Duthrie, G. G. (2006). Flavonoids in foods. In O. M. Andersen & K. R.
  Markham (Eds), *Flavonoids: Chemistry, Biology and Applications* (pp. 219- 220).
  Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Lago, J. H. G., Toledo-Arruda, A. C., Mernak, M., Barrosa, K. H., Martins, M. A., Tibério, I. F., & Prado, C. M. (2014). Structure-activity association of flavonoids in lung diseases. *Molecules*, 19, 3570-3595. doi:10.3390/molecules19033570
- Landberg, R., Sun, Q., Rimm, E. B., Cassidy, A., Scalbert, A., Mantzoros, C. S., . . . van Dam, R. M. (2011). Selected dietary flavonoids are associated with markers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in US women. *Journal of Nutrition*, *141*, 618-625. doi:10.3945/jn.110.133843

Lange, N. E., Sparrow, D., Vokonas, P., & Litonjua, A. A. (2012). Vitamin D deficiency, smoking, and lung function in the Normative Aging Study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *186*, 616-621. doi:10.1164/rccm.201110-1868OC

Lange, P., Celli, B., Agustí, A., Boje Jensen, G., Divo, M., Faner, R., . . . Meek, P. (2015). Lung-function trajectories leading to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *373*, 111-122. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411532

- Larkin, T. A., Price, W. E., & Astheimer, L. B. (2007). Increased probiotic yogurt or resistant starch intake does not affect isoflavone bioavailability in subjects consuming a high soy diet. *Nutrition*, 23(10), 709-718. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2007.06.010
- Lazic, Z., Gajovic, O., Tanaskovic, I., Milovanovic, D., Atanasijevic, D., & Jakovljevic, M. B. (2012). GOLD stage impact on COPD direct medical costs in elderly. *Journal of Health Behavior and Public Health*, 2(3), 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.academyjournal.net/asj/index.php/HBPH/index
- Lee, H., Jung, K. H., Lee, H., Park, S., Choi, W., & Bae, H. (2015). Casticin, an active compound isolated from Vitex Fructus, ameliorates the cigarette smoke-induced acute lung inflammatory response in a murine model. *International Immunopharmacology*, 28, 1097-1101. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2015.07.041

- Lesser, S., Cermak, R., & Wolffram, S. (2004). Bioavailability of quercetin in pigs is influenced by the dietary fat content. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134(6), 1508-1511. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/
- Li, L., Bao, H., Wu, J., Duan, X., Liu, B., Sun, J., . . . Dong, J. (2012). Baicalin is antiinflammatory in cigarette smoke-induced inflammatory models in vivo and in vitro: A possible role for HDAC2 activity. *International Immunopharmacology*, *13*, 15-22. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.03.001
- Li, L., Peng, L., Miao, J., Qiu, Y., Zhou, Y., Gao, X., . . . Ma, Z. (2011). Icariin induces the expression of toll-like Receptor 9 in Ana-1 murine macrophages. *Phytotherapy Research*, 25, 1732-1735. doi:10.1002/ptr.3514
- Li, W. Q., Park, Y., Wu, J. W., Goldstein, A. M., Taylor, P. R., Hollenbeck, A. R., ... Abnet, C. C. (2014). Index-based dietary patterns and risk of head and neck cancer in a large prospective study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99, 559-566. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.073163
- Lim, J. Y., Hwang, B. Y., Hwang, K. W., & Park, S. Y. (2012). Methylalpinumisoflavone inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in microglial cells by the NFkappaB and MAPK signaling pathway. *Phytotherapy Research*, *26*, 1948-1956. doi:10.1002/ptr.4810
- Lin, J., Rexrode, K. M., Hu, F., Albert, C. M., Chae, C. U., Rimm, E. B., . . . Manson, J.
  E. (2007). Dietary intakes of flavonols and flavones and coronary heart disease in US women. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *165*, 1305-1313.
  doi:10.1093/aje/kwm016

- Lin, Y. C., Wu, T. C., Chen, P. Y., Hsieh, L. Y., & Yeh, S. L. (2010). Comparison of plasma and intake levels of antioxidant nutrients in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and healthy people in Taiwan: A case-control study. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *19*, 393. doi:10.6133/apjcn.2010.19.3.14
- Lixuan, Z., Jingcheng, D., Wenqin, Y., Jianhua, H., Baojun, L., & Xiaotao, F. (2010).
  Baicalin attenuates inflammation by inhibiting NF-κB activation in cigarette smoke induced inflammatory models. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 23, 411-419. doi:10.1016/j.pupt.2010.05.004
- Lopez, A. D., Shibuya, K., Rao, C., Mathers, C. D., Hansell, A. L., Held, L. S., . . . Buist, S. (2006). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Current burden and future projections. *European Respiratory Journal*, *27*, 397-412. doi:10.1016/j.pupt.2010.05.004
- Lumley, T., Diehr, P., Emerson, S., & Chen, L. (2002). The importance of the normality assumption in large public health data sets. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 23, 151. doi:10.1146/annurev.publheath.23.100901.140546
- Lyden, E., Hopkins, R. J., Rennard, S. I., Mannino, D. M., Rutten, E., Young, R. P., & Hanson, C. (2015). The relationship between dietary fiber intake and lung function in NHANES. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 191, A5405. Retrieved from http://www.atsjournals.org/journal/ajrccm
- Ma, Y., Olendzki, B. C., Pagoto, S. L., Hurley, T. G., Magner, R. P., Ockene, I. S., ... Hébert, J. R. (2009). Number of 24-hour diet recalls needed to estimate energy

intake. Annals of Epidemiology, 19(8), 553-559.

doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2009.04.010

- Maehira, F., Miyagi, I., & Eguchi, Y. (2003). Selenium regulates transcription factor NFκB activation during the acute phase reaction. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, *334*, 163-171. doi:10.1016/S0009-8981(03)00223-7
- Manach, C., Williamson, G., Morand, C., Scalbert, A., & Rémésy, C. (2005).
  Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97
  bioavailability studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 230S-242S.
  Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/
- Marott, J. L., & Lange, P. (2013). Socioeconomic status and prognosis of COPD in a high income country. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 187, A3161. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/
- McCullough, M. L., Peterson, J. J., Patel, R., Jacques, P. F., Shah, R., & Dwyer, J. T. (2012). Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 95, 454-464. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.016634
- McDowell, M., Briefel, R. R., Buzzard, I. M., Gardner, S. N., & Warren, R. A. (1989). The dietary collection system–An automated interview and coding system for NHANES III. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/tutorials/dietary/AdditionalResources/NNDB94.pdf

MedlinePlus. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Retrieved from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/000091.htm MedlinePlus. (2015). C-reactive protein. Retrieved from

https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003356.htm

- Mehta, A. J., Cassidy, A., Litonjua, A. A., Sparrow, D., Vokonas, P., & Schwartz, J. (2016). Dietary anthocyanin intake and age-related decline in lung function: Longitudinal findings from the VA normative aging study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *103*(2), 542-550. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.121467
- Mekary, R. A. (2015). A higher overall diet quality is inversely associated with the risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in men and women. *Evidence Based Medicine*, *21*(1), 36. doi:10.1136/ebmed-2015-110193

Merrill, R. M. (2009). Introduction to epidemiology. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.

- Michael, H. N., Salib, J. Y., & Eskander, E. F. (2013). Bioactivity of diosmetin glycosides isolated from the epicarp of date fruits, Phoenix dactylifera, on the biochemical profile of alloxan diabetic male rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 27, 699-704. doi:10.1002/ptr.4777
- Middleton, E., Jr. (1998). Effect of plant flavonoids on immune and inflammatory cell function. In J. A. Manthey (Eds.), *Flavonoids in the living system* (pp. 175-182). doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-5335-9\_13
- Miller, M. R., Crapo, R., Hankinson, J., Brusasco, V., Burgos, F., Casaburi, R., . . . Jensen, R. (2005). General considerations for lung function testing. *European Respiratory Journal*, 26(1), 153-161. doi:10.1183/09031936.05.00034505

- Miller, J., Edwards, L. D., Agustí, A., Bakke, P., Calverley, P. M., Celli, B., . . . Rennard, S. (2013). Comorbidity, systemic inflammation and outcomes in the ECLIPSE cohort. *Respiratory Medicine*, *107*, 1376-1384. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2013.05.001
- Minino, A. M., Xu, J., & Kochanek, K. D. (2010). Deaths: Preliminary data for 2008. National Vital Statistics Reports, 59(2), 1-52. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/nvsr.htm
- Minov, J., Karadzinska-Bislimovska, J., Tutkun, E., Vasilevska, K., Risteska-Kuc, S., Stoleski, S., & Mijakoski, D. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in never-smoking female workers exposed to cotton dust. *Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 7, 322-328. doi:10.3889/mjms.1857-5773.2014.0386
- Mitra, M., Ghosh, S., Saha, K., Saha, A., Panchadhyayee, P., Biswas, A., . . . Barma, P. (2013). A study of correlation between body mass index and GOLD staging of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Journal of Association of Chest Physicians*, 1(2), 58. doi:10.4103/2320-8775.123217
- Mondal, N. K., Bhattacharya, P., & Ray, M. R. (2011). Assessment of DNA damage by comet assay and fast halo assay in buccal epithelial cells of Indian women chronically exposed to biomass smoke. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 214, 311-318. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.04.003
- Moore, J. C., & Welniak, E. J. (2000). Income measurement error in surveys: A review. *Journal of Official Statistics*, 16, 331. Retrieved from https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/jos

Morrow, J. D., Qiu, W., Chhabra, D., Rennard, S. I., Belloni, P., Belousov, A., . . . Hersh,
C. P. (2015). Identifying a gene expression signature of frequent COPD
exacerbations in peripheral blood using network methods. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 8, 1. doi:10.1186/s12920-014-0072-y

Moshfegh, A. J., Rhodes, D. G., Baer, D. J., Murayi, T., Clemens, J. C., Rumpler, W. V.,
... Staples, R. C. (2008). The US Department of Agriculture Automated
Multiple-Pass Method reduces bias in the collection of energy intakes. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 88(2), 324-332. Retrieved from
http://ajcn.nutrition.org/

- Muka, T., Kiefte-de Jong, J. C., Hofman, A., Dehghan, A., Rivadeneira, F., & Franco, O. H. (2015). Polyunsaturated fatty acids and serum C-reactive protein—The Rotterdam study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *181*(11), 846-856. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv021
- Mullen, W., Borges, G., Donovan, J. L., Edwards, C. A., Serafini, M., Lean, M. E., & Crozier, A. (2009). Milk decreases urinary excretion but not plasma pharmacokinetics of cocoa flavan-3-ol metabolites in humans. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 89(6), 1784-1791. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2008.27339
- Murgia, N., Brisman, J., Claesson, A., Muzi, G., Olin, A. C., & Torén, K. (2014).
  Validity of a questionnaire-based diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a general population-based study. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, *14*, 1. doi:10.1186/1471-2466-14-49

- Murray, C. J., Abraham, J., Ali, M. K., Alvarado, M., Atkinson, C., Baddour, L. M., . . .
  Gutierrez, H. R. (2013). The state of US health, 1990-2010: Burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. *JAMA*, *310*, 591-606. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.13805
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). *Dietary assessment instrument profiles*. Retrieved from http://dietassessmentprimer.cancer.gov/profiles/
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. (2012). *How are overweight and obesity diagnosed?* Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/healthtopics/topics/obe/diagnosis
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. (2013). *What causes COPD?* Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-topics/topics/copd/causes
- National Institutes of Health. (2014). *Diabetes: What is diabetes?* Retrieved from http://nihseniorhealth.gov/diabetes/diabetesdefined/01.html
- National Institutes of Health. (2015). *Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency*. Retrieved from http://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/alpha-1-antitrypsin-deficiency
- Németh, K., Plumb, G. W., Berrin, J. G., Juge, N., Jacob, R., Naim, H. Y., . . . Kroon, P. A. (2003). Deglycosylation by small intestinal epithelial cell β-glucosidases is a critical step in the absorption and metabolism of dietary flavonoid glycosides in humans. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *42*, 29-42. doi:10.1007/s00394-003-0397-3
- Ng, T. P., Niti, M., Yap, K. B., & Tan, W. C. (2012). Curcumins-rich curry diet and pulmonary function in Asian older adults. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12), e51753. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051753

Nicolle, E., Souard, F., Faure, P., & Boumendjel, A. (2011). Flavonoids as promising lead compounds in type 2 diabetes mellitus: molecules of interest and structure-activity relationship. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, *18*, 2661-2672. doi:10.2174/092986711795933777

Nishizawa, M., Hara, T., Miura, T., Fujita, S., Yoshigai, E., Ue, H., . . . Isaka, T. (2011).
Supplementation with a flavanol-rich lychee fruit extract influences the inflammatory status of young athletes. *Phytotherapy Research*, *25*, 1486-1493. doi:10.1002/ptr.3430

Nordén, J., Grönberg, A. M., Bosaeus, I., Forslund, H. B., Hulthen, L., Rothenberg, E.,
... Slinde, F. (2015). Nutrition impact symptoms and body composition in patients with COPD. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 69, 256-261. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2014.76

Nusser, S. M., Carriquiry, A. L., Dodd, K. W., & Fuller, W. A. (1996). A semiparametric transformation approach to estimating usual daily intake distributions. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 91(436), 1440-1449. doi:10.1080/01621459.1996.10476712

- Nusser, S. M., Fuller, W. A., & Guenther, P. M. (1995). Estimating usual dietary intake distributions: Adjusting for measurement error and nonnormality in 24-hour food intake data (No. 95-sr80). Ames: Center for Agricultural and Rural Development (CARD) at Iowa State University.
- O'Brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality & Quantity*, *41*(5), 673-690. doi:10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6

- Ochs-Balcom, H. M., Grant, B. J. B., Muti, P., Sempos, C. T., Freudenheim, J. L.,
  Browne, R. W., . . . & Schünemann, H. J. (2006). Antioxidants, oxidative stress,
  and pulmonary function in individuals diagnosed with asthma or COPD. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 60(8), 991-999.
  doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602410
- Okubo, H., Shaheen, S. O., Ntani, G., Jameson, K. A., Syddall, H. E., Sayer, A. A., . . .
  Hertfordshire Cohort Study Group. (2014). Processed meat consumption and lung function: Modification by antioxidants and smoking. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43, 972-982. doi:10.1183/09031936.00109513
- Okura, Y., Urban, L. H., Mahoney, D. W., Jacobsen, S. J., & Rodeheffer, R. J. (2004).
  Agreement between self-report questionnaires and medical record data was substantial for diabetes, hypertension, myocardial infarction and stroke but not for heart failure. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *57*, 1096-1103.
  doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.04.005
- Olfert, I. M., Malek, M. H., Eagan, T. M., Wagner, H., & Wagner, P. D. (2014).
  Inflammatory cytokine response to exercise in alpha-1-antitrypsin deficient
  COPD patients 'on'or 'off'augmentation therapy. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, *14*, 1. doi:10.1186/1471-2466-14-106
- Ortega, N., Reguant, J., Romero, M. P., Macià, A., & Motilva, M. J. (2009). Effect of fat content on the digestibility and bioaccessibility of cocoa polyphenol by an in vitro digestion model. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *57*(13), 5743-5749. doi:10.1021/jf900591q

- Park, M. Y., Ji, G. E., & Sung, M. K. (2012). Dietary kaempferol suppresses inflammation of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 57, 355-363. doi:10.1007/s10620-011-1883-8
- Patel, J. G., Nagar, S. P., & Dalal, A. A. (2014). Indirect costs in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A review of the economic burden on employers and individuals in the United States. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 9, 289-300. doi:10.2147/COPD.S57157
- Pearson, T. A., Mensah, G. A., Alexander, R. W., Anderson, J. L., Cannon, R. O., Criqui, M., . . . Rifai, N. (2003). Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the centers for disease control and prevention and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 107, 499-511. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000052939.59093.45
- Peluso, I., Miglio, C., Morabito, G., Ioannone, F., & Serafini, M. (2015). Flavonoids and immune function in human: a systematic review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 55, 383-395. doi:10.1080/10408398.2012.656770
- Perez-Jimenez, J., Fezeu, L., Touvier, M., Arnault, N., Manach, C., Hercberg, S., . . . Scalbert, A. (2011). Dietary intake of 337 polyphenols in French adults. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 93, 1220-1228. doi:10.3945/ajcn.110.007096
- Perez-Jimenez, J., Serrano, J., Tabernero, M., Arranz, S., Díaz-Rubio, M. E., García-Diz, L., . . . Saura-Calixto, F. (2009). Bioavailability of phenolic antioxidants associated with dietary fiber: plasma antioxidant capacity after acute and long-

term intake in humans. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 64, 102-107. doi:10.1007/s11130-009-0110-7

- Piazza, C., Privitera, M. G., Melilli, B., Incognito, T., Marano, M. R., Leggio, G. M., ...
  & Drago, F. (2007). Influence of inulin on plasma isoflavone concentrations in healthy postmenopausal women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 86(3), 775-780.
- Pinheiro, N. M., Olivo, C. R., Grecco, S. S., Choqueta-Toledo, A., Lopes, F. D. Q. T. S., Martins, M. A., . . . Prado, C. M. (2012). 5, 6, 7-trihydroxy-4-methoxy-flavanone from Baccharis retusa (Asteraceae) attenuates elastase-induced emphysema in mice. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 185, A6551. doi:10.1164/ajrccmconference.2012.185.1 MeetingAbstracts.A6551
- Pirabbasi, E., Najafiyan, M., Cheraghi, M., Shahar, S., Manaf, Z. A., Rajab, N., & Manap, R. A. (2012). What are the antioxidant status predictors' factors among male chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients? *Global Journal of Health Science*, 5, 70. doi:10.5539/gjhs.v5n1p70
- Pistelli, F., Carrozzi, L., Di Pede, F., Angino, A., Simoni, M., Maio, S., . . . Baldacci, S. (2012). Effects of BMI changes on lung function in COPD subjects from two longitudinal general population studies. *European Respiratory Journal*, 40(Suppl. 56), 459. Retrieved from http://erj.ersjournals.com/
- Porrini, M., & Riso, P. (2008). Factors influencing the bioavailability of antioxidants in foods: A critical appraisal. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 18*(10), 647-650. Retrieved from http://www.nmcd-journal.com/

- Pounis, G., Di Castelnuovo, A., Bonaccio, M., Costanzo, S., Persichillo, M., Krogh, V., ... Iacoviello, L. (2015). Flavonoid and lignan intake in a Mediterranean population: Proposal for a holistic approach in polyphenol dietary analysis, the Moli-sani Study. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 70, 338-345. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.178
- Probert, C. S. J., Emmett, P. M., & Heaton, K. W. (1995). Some determinants of wholegut transit time: A population-based study. *Quarterly Journal of Medicine*, 88(5), 311-315. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.gjmed.a069070
- Putcha, N., Puhan, M. A., Hansel, N. N., Drummond, M. B., & Boyd, C. M. (2013). Impact of co-morbidities on self-rated health in self-reported COPD: An analysis of NHANES 2001–2008. COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 10, 324-332. doi:10.3109/15412555.2012.744963
- Qi, M. Y., Liu, H. R., Su, Y. H., & Yu, S. Q. (2011). Protective effect of Icariin on the early stage of experimental diabetic nephropathy induced by streptozotocin via modulating transforming growth factor  $\beta$  1 and type IV collagen expression in rats. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 138, 731-736. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2011.10.015
- Ramachandran, K. (2006). Nutrition monitoring and surveillance. NFI Bulletin, 27, 5. Retrieved from http://nutritionfoundationofindia.res.in/pdfs/BulletinArticle/Pages%20from%20N

FI%20bulletin%20January%202006-2.2.pdf

204
- Rao, S., Lu, C., & Schulze-Delrieu, K. (1996). Duodenum as an immediate brake to gastric outflow: A videofluoroscopic and manometric assessment.
   *Gastroenterology*, *110*(3), 740-747. doi:10.1053/gast.1996.v110.pm8608883
- Raper, N., Perloff, B., Ingwersen, L., Steinfeldt, L., & Anand, J. (2004). An overview of USDA's dietary intake data system. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 17, 545-555. doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2004.02.013
- Remels, A. H. V., Gosker, H. R., Langen, R. C., & Schols, A. M. (2013). The mechanisms of cachexia underlying muscle dysfunction in COPD. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *114*, 1253-1262. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00790.2012
- Rezaeetalab, F., & Dalili, A. (2014). Oxidative stress in COPD, pathogenesis and therapeutic views. *Reviews in Clinical Medicine*, 1(3), 115-124.
  doi:10.17463/RCM.2014.03.005
- Rhodes, D. G., Murayi, T., Clemens, J. C., Baer, D. J., Sebastian, R. S., & Moshfegh, A.
  J. (2013). The USDA Automated Multiple-Pass Method accurately assesses
  population sodium intakes. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 97, 958-964. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.044982
- Rodriguez-Mateos, A., Vauzour, D., Krueger, C. G., Shanmuganayagam, D., Reed, J.,
  Calani, L., . . . Crozier, A. (2014). Bioavailability, bioactivity and impact on
  health of dietary flavonoids and related compounds: An update. *Archives of Toxicology*, 88, 1803-1853. doi:10.1007/s00204-014-1330-7
- Root, M. M., Houser, S. M., Anderson, J. J., & Dawson, H. R. (2014). Healthy Eating Index 2005 and selected macronutrients are correlated with improved lung

function in humans. Nutrition Research, 34(4), 277-284.

doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2014.02.008

- Roowi, S., Mullen, W., Edwards, C. A., & Crozier, A. (2009). Yoghurt impacts on the excretion of phenolic acids derived from colonic breakdown of orange juice flavanones in humans. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *53*(S1), S68-S75. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200800287
- Rose, C. (2013). Commentary on "COPD causation and workplace exposures: An assessment of agreement among expert clinical raters." *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 123-124.
  doi:10.3109/15412555.2012.737072
- Rovina, N., Koutsoukou, A., & Koulouris, N. G. (2013). Inflammation and immune response in COPD: Where do we stand? *Mediators of Inflammation, 2013*, 413735-413735. doi:10.1155/2013/413735
- Ruel, G., Shi, Z., Zhen, S., Zuo, H., Kröger, E., Sirois, C., . . . Taylor, A. W. (2014).
  Association between nutrition and the evolution of multimorbidity: The importance of fruits and vegetables and whole grain products. *Clinical Nutrition*, *33*, 513-520. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2013.07.009
- Ruidavets, J. B., Teissedre, P. L., Ferrières, J., Carando, S., Bougard, G., & Cabanis, J. C.
  (2000). Catechin in the Mediterranean diet: Vegetable, fruit or wine? *Atherosclerosis*, 153, 107-117.

- Rycroft, C. E., Heyes, A., Lanza, L., & Becker, K. (2012). Epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A literature review. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 7, 457-494. doi:10.2147/COPD.S32330
- Samieri, C., Sun, Q., Townsend, M. K., Rimm, E. B., & Grodstein, F. (2014). Dietary flavonoid intake at midlife and healthy aging in women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100, 1489-1497. doi:10.3945/ajcn.114.085605
- Schatzkin, A., Kipnis, V., Carroll, R. J., Midthune, D., Subar, A. F., Bingham, S., . . .
  Freedman, L. S. (2003). A comparison of a food frequency questionnaire with a 24-hour recall for use in an epidemiological cohort study: Results from the biomarker-based Observing Protein and Energy Nutrition (OPEN) study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *32*, 1054-1062. doi:10.1093/ije/dyg264
- Schneider, A. L., Pankow, J. S., Heiss, G., & Selvin, E. (2012). Validity and reliability of self-reported diabetes in the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 176, 738-743. doi:10.1093/aje/kws156
- Schnell, K., Weiss, C. O., Lee, T., Krishnan, J. A., Leff, B., Wolff, J. L., & Boyd, C.
  (2012). The prevalence of clinically-relevant comorbid conditions in patients with physician-diagnosed COPD: A cross-sectional study using data from NHANES
  1999–2008. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, *12*, 26. doi:10.1186/1471-2466-12-26
- Sebastian, R. S., Enns, C. W., Goldman, J. D., Steinfeldt, L. C., Martin, C. L., & Moshfegh, A. J. (2016). Flavonoid values for USDA survey foods and beverages 2007-2010. Retrieved from

https://www.ars.usda.gov/ARSUserFiles/80400530/pdf/fndds/FlavonoidDB\_docu mentation\_0710.pdf

- Sebastian, R. S., Enns, C. W., Goldman, J. D., Steinfeldt, L. C., & Moshfegh, A. J. (2016). Dietary flavonoid intake is negatively associated with anthropometric risk factors for chronic disease in some population subgroups but not others: Results from What We Eat in America, NHANES 2007–2010. *The FASEB Journal*, 30(1 Suppl.), 429-435. doi:10.1096/fj.1530-6860
- Semba, R. D., Chang, S. S., Sun, K., Talegawkar, S., Ferrucci, L., & Fried, L. P. (2012). Serum carotenoids and pulmonary function in older community-dwelling women. *Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 16, 291-296. doi:10.1007/s12603-012-0034-z
- Serafini, M., Testa, M. F., Villaño, D., Pecorari, M., van Wieren, K., Azzini, E., . . . & Maiani, G. (2009). Antioxidant activity of blueberry fruit is impaired by association with milk. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *46*(6), 769-774. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.11.023
- Sesso, H. D., Gaziano, J. M., Liu, S., & Buring, J. E. (2003). Flavonoid intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease in women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 1400-1408. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/

Shaheen, S. O., Jameson, K. A., Syddall, H. E., Sayer, A. A., Dennison, E. M., Cooper,
C., & Robinson, S. M. (2010). The relationship of dietary patterns with adult lung
function and COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, *36*, 277-284.
doi:10.1183/09031936.00114709

- Shim, J. S., Oh, K., & Kim, H. C. (2014). Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology and Health*, 36, e2014009. doi:10.4178/epih/e2014009
- Shivappa, N., Steck, S. E., Hurley, T. G., Hussey, J. R., Ma, Y., Ockene, I. S., . . . Hébert, J. R. (2014). A population-based dietary inflammatory index predicts levels of C-reactive protein in the Seasonal Variation of Blood Cholesterol Study (SEASONS). *Public Health Nutrition*, *17*, 1825-1833. doi:10.1017/S1368980013002565
- Schünemann, H. J., Grant, B. J., Freudenheim, J. L., Muti, P., Browne, R. W., Drake, J. A., & Trevisan, M. (2001). The relation of serum levels of antioxidant vitamins C and E, retinol and carotenoids with pulmonary function in the general population. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *163*(5), 1246-1255. Retrieved from http://www.atsjournals.org/journal/ajrccm
- Schünemann, H. J., McCann, S., Grant, B. J., Trevisan, M., Muti, P., & Freudenheim, J.
  L. (2002). Lung function in relation to intake of carotenoids and other antioxidant vitamins in a population-based study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 155(5), 463-471. doi:10.1093/aje/155.5.463
- Siedlinski, M., Boer, J. M. A., Smit, H. A., Postma, D. S., & Boezen, H. M. (2012).
  Dietary factors and lung function in the general population: wine and resveratrol intake. *European Respiratory Journal*, *39*, 385-391.
  doi:10.1183/09031936.00184110

- Silva, R., Oyarzún, M., & Olloquequi, J. (2015). Pathogenic mechanisms in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease due to biomass smoke exposure. *Archivos de Bronconeumología 51*(6), 285-292. doi:10.1016/j.arbr.2015.04.013
- Simpson, J. L., McDonald, V. M., Baines, K. J., Oreo, K. M., Wang, F., Hansbro, P. M., & Gibson, P. G. (2013). Influence of age, past smoking, and disease severity on TLR2, neutrophilic inflammation, and MMP-9 levels in COPD. *Mediators of inflammation*, 2013, 462934-462934. doi:10.1155/2013/462934
- Singanayagam, A., Chalmers, J. D., Akram, A. R., & Hill, A. T. (2011). Impact of inhaled corticosteroid use on outcome in COPD patients admitted with pneumonia. *European Respiratory Journal*, 38, 36-41. doi:10.1183/09031936.00077010
- Slavin, J. L., & Lloyd, B. (2012). Health benefits of fruits and vegetables. Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal, 3, 506-516. doi:10.3945/ an.112.002154
- Smith, M. C., & Wrobel, J. P. (2014). Epidemiology and clinical impact of major comorbidities in patients with COPD. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 9, 871-888. Retrieved from https://www.dovepress.com/international-journal-of-chronic-obstructivepulmonary-disease-journal
- Spencer, J. P., Vafeiadou, K., Williams, R. J., & Vauzour, D. (2012).
   Neuroinflammation: modulation by flavonoids and mechanisms of action.
   *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 33, 83-97. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2011.10.016

Steinfeldt, L., Anand, J., & Murayi, T. (2013). Food reporting patterns in the USDA Automated Multiple-Pass Method. *Procedia Food Science*, 2, 145-156. doi:10.1016/j.profoo.2013.04.022

Swinburn, B. A., Sacks, G., Hall, K. D., McPherson, K., Finegood, D. T., Moodie, M. L., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2011). The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. *The Lancet*, *378*(9793), 804-814. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1

- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2001). Using Multivariate Statistics (4th ed.). Boston,MA: Allyn and Bacon
- Tabak, C., ARTS, I. C., Smit, H. A., Heederik, D., & Kromhout, D. (2001). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and intake of catechins, flavonols, and flavones: the MORGEN Study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *164*, 61-64. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.164.1.2010025
- Taguchi, L., Pinheiro, N. M., Olivo, C. R., Choqueta-Toledo, A., Grecco, S. S., Lopes, F. D., . . . Lago, J. H. (2015). A flavanone from Baccharis retusa (Asteraceae) prevents elastase-induced emphysema in mice by regulating NF-κB, oxidative stress and metalloproteinases. *Respiratory Research*, *16*, 79. doi:10.1186/s12931-015-0233-3
- Tamura, M., Nakagawa, H., Tsushida, T., Hirayama, K., & Itoh, K. (2007). Effect of pectin enhancement on plasma quercetin and fecal flora in rutin supplemented mice. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(9). doi:10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00557.x

Tang, D. Q., Wei, Y. Q., Yin, X. X., Lu, Q., Hao, H. H., Zhai, Y. P., ... Ren, J. (2011).
In vitro suppression of quercetin on hypertrophy and extracellular matrix accumulation in rat glomerular mesangial cells cultured by high glucose. *Fitoterapia*, 82, 920-926. doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2011.05.001

Tantucci, C., & Modina, D. (2012). Lung function decline in COPD. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 7, 95-99. doi:10.2147/COPD.S27480

- Thomsen, M., Dahl, M., Lange, P., Vestbo, J., & Nordestgaard, B. G. (2012).
  Inflammatory biomarkers and comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *186*, 982-988. doi:10.1164/rccm.201206-1113OC
- Thun, M. J., Carter, B. D., Feskanich, D., Freedman, N. D., Prentice, R., Lopez, A. D.,
  ... Gapstur, S. M. (2013). 50-year trends in smoking-related mortality in the
  United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*, 351-364.
  doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1211127
- Tilert, T., Dillon, C., Paulose-Ram, R., Hnizdo, E., & Doney, B. (2013). Estimating the US prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease using pre-and post-bronchodilator spirometry: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2007–2010. *Respiratory Research*, *14*, 103. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-14-103
- Torén, K., & Järvholm, B. (2014). Effect of occupational exposure to vapors, gases, dusts, and fumes on COPD mortality risk among Swedish construction workers:

A longitudinal cohort study. *CHEST Journal*, *145*, 992-997. doi:10.1378/chest.13-1429

Tuder, R. M., & Petrache, I. (2012). Pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 122, 2749-2755. doi:10.1172/JCI60324

Turrell, G. (2000). Income non-reporting: Implications for health inequalities research.
 *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 54, 207-214.
 doi:10.1136/jech.54.3.207

Uehara, M., Ohta, A., Sakai, K., Suzuki, K., Watanabe, S., & Adlercreutz, H. (2001).
Dietary fructooligosaccharides modify intestinal bioavailability of a single dose of genistein and daidzein and affect their urinary excretion and kinetics in blood of rats. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *131*(3), 787-795. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/

Urpi-Sarda, M., Llorach, R., Khan, N., Monagas, M., Rotches-Ribalta, M., Lamuela-Raventos, R., . . . & Andres-Lacueva, C. (2010). Effect of milk on the urinary excretion of microbial phenolic acids after cocoa powder consumption in humans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(8), 4706-4711.

doi:10.1021/jf904440h

- U.S. Census Bureau (2011). 2010 Census data. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/2010census/data/
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2014). USDA food and nutrient database for dietary studies. Retrieved from http://www.ars.usda.gov/Services/docs.htm?docid=12089

- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2015). USDA special interest databases on flavonoids. Retrieved from http://www.ars.usda.gov/Services/docs.htm?docid=24953
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2016). *Flavonoid values for USDA Survey Foods and Beverages 2007-2010*. Retrieved from https://www.ars.usda.gov/northeastarea/beltsville-md/beltsville-human-nutrition-research-center/food-surveysresearch-group/docs/fndds-flavonoid-database/
- Valderas, J. M., Starfield, B., Sibbald, B., Salisbury, C., & Roland, M. (2009). Defining comorbidity: Implications for understanding health and health services. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 7, 357-363. doi:10.1370/afm.983
- Van den Borst, B., Gosker, H. R., Koster, A., Yu, B., Kritchevsky, S. B., Liu, Y., ... Harris, T. B. (2012). The influence of abdominal visceral fat on inflammatory pathways and mortality risk in obstructive lung disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 96, 516-526. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.040774
- Van der Heyden, J., De Bacquer, D., Tafforeau, J., & Van Herck, K. (2014). Reliability and validity of a global question on self-reported chronic morbidity. *Journal of Public Health*, 22, 371-380. doi:10.1007/s10389-014-0624-9
- Vanfleteren, L., Lamprecht, B., Wouters, E., Gnatiuc, L., Burney, P., Studnicka, M., & Franssen, F. (2013). The body mass index and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the BOLD study. *European Respiratory Journal*, 42(Suppl 57), 4652. Retrieved from http://erj.ersjournals.com/

- Varraso, R., & Camargo, C. A. (2014). Processed meat consumption and lung health: More evidence for harm. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43, 943-946. doi:10.1183/09031936.00228213
- Varraso, R., Fung, T. T., Hu, F. B., Willett, W., & Camargo, C. A. (2007). Prospective study of dietary patterns and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among US men. *Thorax*, 62, 786-791. doi:10.1136/thx.2006.074534
- Varraso, R., Willett, W. C., & Camargo, C. A. (2010). Prospective study of dietary fiber and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among US women and men. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 171, 776-784. doi:10.1093/aje/kwp455
- Vestbo, J., Hurd, S. S., Agusti, A. G., Jones, P. W., Vogelmeier, C., Anzueto, A., . . .
  Rodriguez-Roisin, R. (2013). Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 187, 347-365.
  doi:10.1164/rccm.201204-0596PP
- Villaseñor, A., Ambs, A., Ballard-Barbash, R., Baumgartner, K. B., McTiernan, A., Ulrich, C. M., & Neuhouser, M. L. (2011). Dietary fiber is associated with circulating concentrations of C-reactive protein in breast cancer survivors: the HEAL study. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 129(2), 485-494. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1474-6
- Vogiatzoglou, A., Heuer, T., Mulligan, A. A., Lentjes, M. A., Luben, R. N., & Kuhnle, G. G. (2014). Estimated dietary intakes and sources of flavanols in the German

population (German National Nutrition Survey II). *European Journal of Nutrition*, *53*, 635-643. doi:10.1007/s00394-013-0572-0

- Vogiatzoglou, A., Mulligan, A. A., Lentjes, M. A. H., Luben, R. N., Spencer, J. P. E.,
  Schroeter, H., . . . Kuhnle, G. G. C. (2015). Flavonoid intake in European adults
  (18 to 64 years). *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), e0128132. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0128132
- Warren, G. W., Alberg, A. J., Kraft, A. S., & Cummings, K. M. (2014). The 2014 surgeon general's report: "The Health Consequences of Smoking–50 Years of Progress": A paradigm shift in cancer care. *Cancer*, *120*, 1914-1916. doi:10.1002/cncr.28695
- Weber, M. A., Schiffrin, E. L., White, W. B., Mann, S., Lindholm, L. H., Kenerson, J. G.,
  ... Cohen, D. L. (2014). Clinical practice guidelines for the management of
  hypertension in the community. *Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, *16*, 14-26.
  doi:10.1111/jch.12237
- Weseler, A. R., Geraets, L., Moonen, H. J., Manders, R. J., van Loon, L. J., Pennings, H. J., . . . Hageman, G. J. (2009). Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1–inhibiting flavonoids attenuate cytokine release in blood from male patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Nutrition*, *139*, 952-957. doi:10.3945/jn.108.102756
- Wheaton, A. G., Cunningham, T. J., Ford, E. S., & Croft, J. B. (2015). Employment and activity limitations among adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease--United States, 2013. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(11), 289-295.
  Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/index.html

- Wikström, K., Lindström, J., Harald, K., Peltonen, M., & Laatikainen, T. (2015). Clinical and lifestyle-related risk factors for incident multimorbidity: 10-year follow-up of Finnish population-based cohorts 1982–2012. *European journal of internal medicine*, 26(3), 211-216. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2015.02.012
- Willett, W. C., Howe, G. R., & Kushi, L. H. (1997). Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 65, 1220S-1228S. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/
- Willett, W., & Stampfer, M. J. (1986). Total energy intake: Implications for epidemiologic analyses. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *124*, 17-27. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114366
- Woo, H. D., & Kim, J. (2013). Dietary flavonoid intake and risk of stomach and colorectal cancer. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *19*, 1011-1019. doi:10.3748/wjg.v19.i7.1011
- World Health Organization. (2015). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs315/en/
- Xie, Y. C., Dong, X. W., Wu, X. M., Yan, X. F., & Xie, Q. M. (2009). Inhibitory effects of flavonoids extracted from licorice on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute pulmonary inflammation in mice. *International Immunopharmacology*, *9*, 194-200. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2008.11.004
- Yang, I. A., Clarke, M. S., Sim, E. H., & Fong, K. M. (2012). Inhaled corticosteroids for stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 7, CD002991. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD002991.pub3

- Yang, T., Luo, F., Shen, Y., An, J., Li, X., Liu, X., . . . Wang, T. (2012). Quercetin attenuates airway inflammation and mucus production induced by cigarette smoke in rats. *International Immunopharmacology*, *13*, 73-81. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.03.006
- Young, R. P., & Hopkins, R. J. (2013a). The Hispanic paradox further unraveled? *Thorax*, *69*(2), 184-185. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204152
- Young, R. P., & Hopkins, R. J. (2013b). Update on the potential role of statins in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its co-morbidities. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine*, 7(5), 533-544.
- Young, R. P., & Hopkins, R. J. (2014). A review of the Hispanic paradox: time to spill the beans? *European Respiratory Review*, 23(134), 439-449. doi:10.1183/09059180.00000814
- Zamora-Ros, R., Andres-Lacueva, C., Lamuela-Raventós, R. M., Berenguer, T., Jakszyn,
  P., Barricarte, A., . . . Martínez, C. (2010). Estimation of dietary sources and
  flavonoid intake in a Spanish adult population (EPIC-Spain). *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, *110*, 390-398. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2009.11.024
- Zeng, G., Sun, B., & Zhong, N. (2012). Non-smoking-related chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A neglected entity? *Respirology*, *17*, 908-912. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1843.2012.02152.x
- Zheng, X. K., Zhang, L., Wang, W. W., Wu, Y. Y., Zhang, Q. B., & Feng, W. S. (2011). Anti-diabetic activity and potential mechanism of total flavonoids of Selaginella

tamariscina (Beauv.) Spring in rats induced by high fat diet and low dose STZ. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *137*, 662-668. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2011.06.018

- Zhong, K., Li, X. J., Gou, A. N., Huang, Y. N., Bu, Q., & Gao, H. (2014). Antioxidant and cytoprotective activities of flavonoid glycosides-rich extract from the leaves of Zanthoxylum bungeanum. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 2(7), 349-356. doi:10.12691/jfnr-2-7-4
- Zhou, Y., Wang, D., Liu, S., Lu, J., Zheng, J., Zhong, N., & Ran, P. (2013). The association between BMI and COPD: The results of two population-based studies in Guangzhou, China. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 10, 567-572. doi:10.3109/15412555.2013.781579
- Zujko, M. E., Witkowska, A. M., Waśkiewicz, A., & Mirończuk-Chodakowska, I.
  (2015). Dietary antioxidant and flavonoid intakes are reduced in the elderly. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2015, 843173-843173.
  doi:10.1155/2015/843173
- Zuo, L., He, F., Sergakis, G. G., Koozehchian, M. S., Stimpfl, J. N., Rong, Y., . . . Best, T. M. (2014). Interrelated role of cigarette smoking, oxidative stress, and immune response in COPD and corresponding treatments. *American Journal of Physiology—Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 307(3), L205-L218. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00330.2013